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(Copy) 

.office of 

CIRCUIT CLERK MOSHOLATUBBEE DISTRICT, OHOCTAW KATI . 

roueRu, inn. Ter. May 14th 1903. 

Mansfield, McMurry & Cornish, 

South McAlestor, I.T. 

Dear Sir:- Tours of the 2nd to hand, in reply have to • 

that since I talKed to your Hr. Rose: el on the train at 

Atolca I came home the next day 1 mt bo Red OaK, I.T. to 

Circuit Cpurt and have been there eve: . ;.il this 

morning. I will be up to sou you in a fen uays I thinK I 

can he of some benefit to you in t .ddie, Bagwell and Lewis 

cases and perhaps some other eases in this country that I 

do not call to mind just now. Just as soon as I can leave 

home you may look for me, 

Y o ur s v ory r 11 s pec t fu 1 ly, 

(Signed) T«J, Sexton, 

Circuit ClerK, 



Bauth ""cAlester, Indian Territory, Septer-iber 33, 1903, 

TJiaifir- -• " 

Oakl odg e > Ind i an. Tor r i t e r; . 

Dear Mr, BftWSrS! 

Th« purpose of t h i s l e t t e r Is to inqui re i f you know 

or have ever known a of Marcus Levis and Sarah 

Lewis, h i s w i f e . These peoples made SOFK? a f f i d a v i t s in some c i t i -

s snsh ip cases b s f o r s Stephen ^ h e e l e r , United S t a t e s Comal s a ion nr 

a t 3?ort , BO i« years ag0« 

ffft n r e e x t r e m e l y a n x i o u s t o l o e a t e the---- arid w i l l thank 

you to w r i t e us a t Onos If you know them and i f they a re l i v i n g 

and i f BO, St 

Your f r iends | 



. 

.. — — 

Bov' M a s t e r , Ind ian T e r r i t o r y , September 23 , 1903, 

Honorable Qrwn MeCurtattii 

P r i n c i p a l Ghlftf, Choctaw Nat ion , 

K'inta, Ind ian T e r r i t o r y , 

Bear Governor: 

The purpose of fchia l e t t e r In to i nqu i r e i f you know 

or have ever known a nan of the nane of Marcus Lewis and Sarah 

Lewis, hiB w i f e . These people made some a f f i & a v i i i in Beat ci t i« 

zo:iBhip oases before Stephen Wheeler, United S t a t e s Ceranisii Ion er 

a t For t Smi th | sorae years ago« 

I are wttremely anxious to l o c a t e there and w i l l thank 

you to w r i t e UB a t once i f y©u }-cnow thew and i f they are l i v i n g 

and if so , where. 

Your f r i e n d s , 



. 

Oak Lodge, I. T.,_ -ft/. 3 1903. 

0-*^. c*-

-/^^ ^tiyL iL^ 

V 



rjzfoi ln^ ' ~ ^ 
Kinta , I . T . , September 28,1903 

Messrs r jansf ie ld ,McMurray & Cornish , 

S JitAl© s t e r , Ind ian Te r r i t o r y . 

Gentlemen: 

Replying to your l e t t e r of the 23rd i n s t , w h e r e i n you i n -

qu i re whether or not I know tSae whereabouts of Marcus and Sarah 

Lewis , I beg to adv i se t h a t I am unable to ^e t any informat ion wi th 

re fe rence to t h e s e people ,and I do not remember anyth ing of such 

people having ever l ived in t h i s s e c t i o n . 

Yours t r u l y , 

( 7 X * * 

p r i n Chief n.JT. 



. 

South McAlester, I n d i a n T e r r i t o r y , 

Zora P . Lev/is, e t a l , 

v s . 

Choctaw n a t i o n . 

tfHHMMHMMM* 

| :; | • | q g | 

June 3 , 1905. 

USHER OF IjHSTHtJCTIOJIS. 

TO . 

The papers and f i l e s in the above case are 

herewith delivered to you and you are directed to 

invest igate the same conforming in the main to the 

ins t ruc t ions contained in this l e t 1B r . 

The p r inc ipa l applicant* in t h i s case, are 

the Lewis 's , the E a r l y ' s , the Edwards's,, the 

P ryor ' s and others . Some claim i*.y uiooa and some 

by in termarr iage. Tney abate that James M. Lewie 

was a Choctaw Indian and duly recognized as such 

in the state of Miss iss ippi , and that Zora P. Lewis 

i s the widow of said James M. Lewis, she having mar­

r ied him in the State of Mississ ippi in 1858; that 

the other applicants are the l ega l descendants of the 

said james M. Lewis and Zora P . Lev/is. 

Thomas Hi& f̂$ of Checotah, Indian Terr i tory 

in an aff idavi t made>^®/4 J . B. Marrs, Jotary Pub­

l i c of Checotah says tha t he YB s personally well ac-



"**»*» 

qua in ted wi th James M. Lewis and Zora P . Lev/is, and 

t h a t he kne v.- them to "be man- and wife , end tha t he 

mew James Madison Lewis was the son of Susanna King, 

a f u l l "blood Choctaw woman; t h a t he knew them i n 

Sebas t a in County, Arkansas; ' h a t James M. Lewis 

died i n the C h b € x^ Nation i n 1875; he knew the c h i l d ­

ren of James MALCW'W, a^ i g ives t h e i r naiies. We th ink 

i t l i k e l y t h a t Thobea Sy Hicks knows nothing whatever 

of t h e appl icants , o\A th 'e ir I nd i an blood; t h a t he 

never knew such a person as Susanna King, and t ha t 

he never perhaps saw James M. Lewis. You ere 

d i r e c t e d to see t he wi tness and q u e s t i o n him c l o s e l y 

and c a r e f u l l y , and take from him an aff idavi t , embody­

ing a l l the f a c t s you can ge t of advantage to the 

Na t ions . 

H e t t i e Hicks, of Checotah, who perhaps i s 

t h e wife of Thomas R. Hicks a lso made an affidar i t 

M i i i n t h i s c a s e , the same "being an exact d u p l i c a t e of the 

^ a f f i d a v i t made "by Thomas R. H icks . You a re d i r ec t ed 

a l s o to see H e t t i e Hicks and deal wi th her as d i r c t -

ed above. 

J e s s i e B. Ma t h i s , whose post o f f i c e i s 1 J 

Ecoriruchka, I nd i an T e r r i t o r y a lso made an a f f i d a v i t 

i n t h i s c a s e , before W. ¥ . I v e s , i n which he s t a t e d 



that he was acquainted with the applicants herein; 

that they..were the sons and daughter of James M. 

Lev/is and the grand children of Smsanna King, which 

l a s t was a Choctaw Indian 'by b}.oh& male these s t a t e ­

ments from h is own personaly knowledge. We are sure 

t h i s ie stimony i s not from the witnesses own per­

sonal knowledge, and that i t was furnished him. 

You are directed to see Jesse B. Mathis and procure 

from him an aff idavi t se t t ing forth what facts you can 

get from him or advantage to the Hatiors . 

Jacola S# Bender, whose post office i s not i ' 

r.iven made an affidavit "before W. W. Ives in the 

very words of Uie aff idavit of Jesse B. Ma t h i s . 

You are directed to see John S. Bender and deal with H,; s/ 

him as ahove directed. >• 

Yours very t r u l y , 

Dictated 



In t h e case of Zora P. Lewin^ e t a l , 

I was d i r e c t e d to secThomas Hicks and H e t t i e Kicks , 

both of Checotah, Ind ian T e r r i t o r y . I went to Checo-

t ah and learned t h a t Thomas Kicks i s dead. I s aw 

H e t t i e Hicks , h i s widow however, and took from her 

t h e a f f i d a v i t appended h e r e t o , showing t h a t she 

knows nothing in the world ah out bhe app l i can t s , 

and t h a t her test imony was procured through an impo­

s i t i o n . 

I was f u r t h e r d i r e c t e d to see J e s se B« 

Mathis and Jacob S. Bender. I l ea rned from Mrs. 

Kicks t h a t J e s se B. Mat! i s and Jacob S. Bender 

bo th l i v e a t Econtucka, about ten miles Nor th -eas t 

of Shawnee, Oklahoma T e r r i t o r y . 

Yours very t r u l y , 
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SUM MON S 
I N K Q U I T Y . 

Summons issued the —/—-7^- _ day 

of J 2 ^ . ^ C - * ^ C - , 190. 3 

Returned and tiled , 190.. 

Clerk. 

By , Deputy. 

MARSHAL'S FEES. 

Services, 

Miles, 

Expense, 

TOTAL, 

Attorney for Plaintiff. 
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SUMMONS. 

United States of America, 
INDIAN TERRITORY, 

Choctaw and Chickasaw Citizenship Court. 

ZM fmlimt otr ie MM Stats tf l i m a 
to the United States Marshal for the Indian territory, ^^^w^pistrict, 

G R E E T I N G : 

YOU ARE COMiMANDED TO SUMMONS .... ~ i ~ #-atil-«y-i--^i>ireiiHNf"-

"6T""tlu»"iCh"l^iBiftW""*Hfctronv 

™t0*OTlfirar*ra t^flrr^^fe^^^Tler the service of this summons upon H!&r--44H-
I 

Oovernar of ®&i& HutIont 
a complaint in Equity filed against ll!*-<&o«tw»--*titf--e*r*ekw^ 

in the Choctaw and Chickasaw Citizenship Court, in the Indian Territory, 4&,2&.£-._w^*i#?f+*»*•» 

:{/—-/. and warn —-jjj^ that upon . ^ ^ failure to answer, ^ ^ 

Ieaf*a!m you wril rnftfe return of the summons on j 

Te 

"MHfciBP^fl^ttaS&i 

wfî U-yau -*r*--£urtfear-- «am£iftgftti6&- to not l& - amid. F^£*ieoi*X©y -̂0c^©rii©r 
r«a*Ut&f that iho p*^jm t f i l e a ami proceedings In the eatiO of 

- (? ̂ t^c^L* "film I©* Jz%L "'in"u*"i>i«;trict" 
urn mfcwn •Ĥ IIUHMT T î îiff̂ ir»fc«iiiiiriiWTi Wniii iii|«liMiiminii««.ii—iiiiwi I«IMM».. ^w»«.»—.•»> w « l ' • tBiiU'nilKn 

"fep^%g^^"^"1 
have bsoa tranalBFrS and chick &»«iw Cltisen$hip Courtf 

Dl»tri«ft, Inaion ^ f c f t a ^ « ! » f K^'Chief Judge, WALTEU I, 

WEAVER and HENRY S. FOOTE, Associate Judges, and the Seal 

thereof, at Bo^ith-lle-AXa*»-t«.rt-X*!iV , aforesaid, 

this-.JL^?-- ..day of- MM*A .„, A. D. 190-$ 

*2. 
Clerh. 

By _K_. , Deputy. 



James D. Lewis, Antha L. Lev/is, Oscsv Lewis, Joseph Roper, Joseph 

II. Lerad are Coctaw Indians by blood, nd that Srah B« Le i s , Augusta 

11. Lewis a: A-na Cov/art Belle Leard have been duly and e al ly married 

to Choctaw Indians according to Choctaw laws. I t i s therefore by the 

court considered, ordered and adjudged tha t th i said appplicants above 

na ed are hereby admitted bo ci t izenship in the Choctaw -nation, With 

a l l t h e r i g h t s pr iv i leges a& benefi ts of sch c i t i zensh ip a foresaid 

in ad !o the Choc'aw ^a t ion . 
other 

The Court further f inds that the xpcpckJoSaocfcx appl icants , 

to-wit : Preston Early, Joseph II. Edwards, Samuel Pryor, II. C. Hoper, 

George \7# McKibben, 23SBDOC Sherman Tabor, George Cark, and Gusx Adams, 

are not married according -::o the laws of the Choctaw Nation; and i t 

i s by the Court considered, adjudged and decreed that said Preston 

Ear ly , Joseph K« dwards, Samutl Pryor, H. C. Roper, George W« McKibben, 

Sherman Tabor, George Clark, and Gus Adams, be den ed a l l r igh ts of 

c i t i zensh ip , tha t t h e i r names be excluded for the r o l l s of Choctaw 

c i t i zens of the Choctaw nation, prepared or to be prepared by the 

Commission to the Pive Civilized Tribes and that as to said pa r t i e s 

the Cho taw ^ation have and recover of them i t s cos t s . 

I t i s further ordered and adjudged by the Court that the 

clerk of t h i s court sha l l transmit to the Commission to the Five 

Civi l ized Tribes a ce r t i f i ed copy of t h i s judgment and decree, and 

that said KXX Com iss ion shal l place the names as aforesaid of said 

p l a i n t i f f s upon the r o l l s prepared or to be prepared by them of the 

c i t i zens and members respect ively of the Choctaw TTat io , and that such 

persons so admitted, as c i t i z e n s and members of the Choctaw Nation as 

aforesaid, hal l be e n t i t l e d to a l l the r i g h t s , p r iv i l eges , immunities 

and benef i t s of -.citizens of said Choctaw SatiOn in a l l r r e s p e c t s . 

I t i s further ordered that the p l a i n t i f f s have and recover of 

and from the Choctaw ITation a l l t he i r c s t s in t h i s feehalf l a i d out and. 

expended, for which l e t execution i s sue . 



RFPORT OH THF PRESENT STATUS OP THE ZORA P.LEWIS CASK. 

The applicants herein claim that Susans* King was a full blood 

Choctaw Indian woman; that r>he had a son named James ^adison Lewis, 

a half blood Choctaw,now deceased,who was the husband of Zora P. 

Lewis and the father of the principal applicants herein. 

W.K.Jones,who lived near Garvin,Indian Territory,swore in 1896 

that he was 68 ywars of age,and was well and personally acquanited 

with jaries Madison Lewis in the old Choctaw Ration in the State of 

Mississippi,and knew him to be a Choctaw Indian by blood. 

This witness is now dead. Simon Taylor,of Garvin, I. T. ,prosecutiig 

attorney of Red River County,in a statement made to L.A.Richardson, 

said that ha knew W.M.Jones;that he was mentally unbalanced and at 

times wholly insane. We think the facts are that W.M.Jones was never 

in Mississippi,and that he knew nothing of these people at all. 

Simon Taylor and others near Marvin should be summoned to show 

Taylor's mental condition,and if possible to impeach him. 

Marcus Lewis and his wife,Sa--ah Lewis, in an affidavit made befo» 

Stephen Wheeler,swore that they (affiants) are citix^ns by blood of 

the Choctaw Nation and came here from the state of Mississippi. That 

"my father,David Lewis,was a Choctaw Indian. My mother,Sarah Anne Lew 

is,nee Hardesty,was a daughter of tfane .King,who was a full blood 

Indian. My grandfather on :nir father's side was also named David,was 

a full blood Choctaw,and had an uncle named David who was a full 

blood Choctaw .My grandfather ' s uncle David was also the 

uncle of James Madison Lewis;his mother was also a King of the same 

family of Kings as the said Jane King." 

In connection with, this testimony,Hiram F.Early,in a statement 

made to D.A.Richardson,says: *fh«y (the applicants herein) hired a 

man namtd Lewis,who lived in the Choctaw Nation and claimed to be a 

Choctaw,to testify in their behalf. Lewis was part negro. He swere 

that the applicants were blood kin to him. They did not nav bin 



what they agreed to. I have forgotten Lewis's given name He 

tolp me that they had not paid M m what they agreed to pay,and that 

he was going to tell the truth on them." 

Hiram H.Early is the most valuable witness the Rations have in 

this case. His testimony should be taken in contradiction of Marcus 

Lewis's affidavit. He will also testify to other material facts which 

we shall have occasion to notice further on. Marcus Lewis,perhaps c 

can he impeached in Hiram H.Karly's neighborhood. 

Thomas R.Hicks and Hettie hicks,his wife,of Checotah,I.T.,swor« 

in 1896 to quite a long affidavit, in which t'> ey are made to say; that 

they "are personally acquainted with James Madison Lewis,and know 

him to he a son of Susanna King,a full hlood Choctaw woman". 

Thomas R.Hicks is now dead. His widow,Hettie Hicks,in June,1803, 

liver? 12 miles northwest of Checotah, I.T. ; and on that date she made a 

signed statement to D.A.Richardson,in which she said that she "never 

knew Susanna King and does not remeraher ever to have heard of her". 

I know nothing ahout their (the Lewises) Indian hlood. I have never 

heard anything ahout their Indian hlood except what they have told 

me. Mjr hushand,Thomas R.Hicks,knew nothing mope ahout the Lewises 

than I do". She denies making the statemnts contained in her affidavit 

Her testimony should he taken "before the Court. 

Jesse B.Mathis and Jacob Bender,both of whom now live at Econ-

tuchka ahout 9 miles northeast of Shawnee,0.T.,made affidavits in 

1896 in behalf of Edward M.Lewis, in which they state t/iat they 

know the applicant to be a son of james M.Lewis and a grandson of 

Susanna King,who was a Choctaw woman bjr blood;and know this fmara 

thier own personal knowledge. 

Both of these parties have subsequently given written statements 

to I). A.Richardson, denying that they ever made such an affidavit, and 

stating that they know nothing about the rights of these applicants 

except what the applicants themselves have told them. 

Jesse B.Mathis was very indignant on seeing what his purported 



affidavit contained;and he will mkke a willing witness for the 

Nations. 

The evidence of both of those witnesses should hp taken before 

the court. 

Mrs. Jane F.Page,of Pocola,I.T.,has made an affidavit before 

W.H.Moore,in which she says that she knows nothing about the race or 

blood of the Lewis applicants. That she never knew anything about 

them except what they told her,and that she has forgotten that. 

Her testimony should be taken before the Court in contradiction 

otf her affidavit in the record. (A ropy of Irmr original affidavit 

is iot among our papers;but the Citizenship Court record shows that 

her affidavit was off-red in evidence by Harley.) 

Hiram H«Early,of Texmnna,I.T.,gnve a written statement to D.A. 

Richardson in this case,which see. He is by far the most important 

witness in this case we have been able to :̂ ind. His first wife was a 

daughter of James M.Lewis. He knew them for years before t3ey ever 

claimed Indian blood. He knows of their hiring witnesses,and raisings 

a slush fund among themselves for the corruption of witnesses. He say 

that these people never claimed Indian blood until after the death of 

James "Tadison Lewis; and that he has heard James Madison Lewis say 

TIME ABB AGAII that he,Lewis,did not have any Indian blood,and that 

he wished he did have. Says that james Madison Lewis nearer did live 

in the r̂ation. Tells of the Lewises leasing land from Sarah McKin-

ney for four years after they came into the Ration. He never heard of 

Susanna King. The Lewis b03rs have often told him that they had no 

right here,but that they were going to prove one just the same. 

He says that the Lewises were to give ^arcus Lewis some ponies, 

three bales of cotton,and some roods amounting in all to $300,to get 

him to swear for them.,and they wanted Early to go in with them. 

His testimony should be taken in court by all m^ans. 

Hiram H.Early further says: "The Lewises came from near Brook* 



haven,Mississippi. They were related to som- Kings there who still 

live near "Brookhaven. They have a great many kin in Brookhaven. KlishiL 

Lewis who is still living in Brookhaven is a half brother of jaraes 

M.Lewis. Their whole family history can be learned in Brookhaven." 

This case should be invewtigated along those lines in and around 

Brookhaven,Miss iss ippi. 

Mrs« Hiram K.Early should also be had before the court as a 

witness. See her stateme nt/ 

v« 

9 
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W. M. | i t c h e y of Garvin, Indian Terr i tory 

testimony in tne erase of Zora P. Lewis, oJ; a l , 

v s . Choctaw Hation in which he s ta ted that he was 85 

years old; that he was well and personally acquaint­

ed with James M. Lewis in the Choctaw Nation in \̂  

• , , . , _ i ^ r - i r ^ i £yitt tft&'E "sa^cL J * m * s M. T . ov r i c w a r a 

Choctaw "by blood. applicants in t h i s case 

claim from James if, Lewis, Zora P. Lewis claiming to 

be h i s widow, and she says tha t she was married to 

him in the State of Mississ ippi in the year 1838. 

The other appl icants in the case are the chi ldren and 

rand chi ldren of the same James Ma Lewis. You are 

\ / 

directed to see w. ?!. Hitchey at Garvin, and take 

his affidavit in the case. We think you can de­

velop the fact that he nerer knew such a man as 

James M. Lewis in Mississippi, or that if he did 

know such a man, he was not a Choctaw Indian. We are 

of the opinion that this testimony was furnished 

witness already written out. 

William Jones of Garvin, Indian Territory 

gave testimony in the Zora P. Lev/is case, in which 

he stated that he was 68 3'ears of age; that he was 

well acquainted with James M. Lewis in the old 

Choctaw Nation in Mississippi, and that said James M. 

Lewis was a Choctaw Indian by blood. You are 

directed to deal with William Jones in the same man­

ner as that prescribed for ¥. If. Hitchey. 



J --W V, 
. 

I 

. . . 

w oTg; 

South McAlester, Indian Territory, 
June 1, 1003. 

Zora P. Lewis, et al., 

vs 

The Choctaw Nation. 

R S P 0 R T 

To Mansfield, McLturray & Cornish. 

I was instructed to see W.M. Richey of C-arvin, 

and William Jones of the same town. I went to Garvin 

and found that hoth W.M. Richey and Hm. M. Jones are dead. 

Respectfully submitted. 

[V^ Jvl iX^KvkU^K. 

- > 



^ r o T i 

o 

>J(ugo, /JnrL <7e/> . /QQ 

* ^ - ^ ( ^ O M M ^ O U , J^JL.^ *JUfc!i- ^ ^ u l 

V^rvvs***^ l&MJUtr*s 



H ^ ^ N J u w O l ^ ys. tL^ ,̂ 

• ' U 

•'Vw-fc. 



•ecXT " W . V i U ^ a ^ SKJL^P ^V WA^WV «K/UL_ Wo~o 

tu^SLSL 

28 

29 

30 

31 

32 

X>v-»^*-^0-^ *\A-4»»*_A\^wx^^ vx/s^^^v"*— U-Aa.*L..c*A* \ N t w w ^HlvJk̂ w-ŝ  ^ d L ^ O " 
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SUBPCENA, 

Choctaw ana Chickasaw Citizenship Court, 

^ 
INDIAN TERRITORY, 

Cbe President oy>e United States tf America, 

L_^^!^fe»4fefe^ter„„.J , Greeting: 
U)C COttlttldnd tyOU, that all and singular business and excuses being laid aside, you, and each of you, 

appear and attend before the Judges of the Choctaw and Chickasaw Citizenship Cour^ifi^Jie^ndi*^ Territory, 

, at a Court to be held at its Court Room, 

., in the Indian Territory, on the <<^*T day of . - .LA^r^^rrT^^fr^l^^^.^19&t? 

a t . _ / 0 o'clock-i^-jjii., to testify and give evidence in a certain cause pending in $&$43ourtJbhpvJ and ther* 

to4)e^?ied, J$tween.--^_<^2^__iJ£ 

^Defendant, on the part of— 

And this you,~or any of you, are not to omit, upon the penalty/upon you, and every one of you, of two 

hundred and fifty dollars. 

md therB^. 

• 

> irrtf 

Witness, the, Honorable SPENCER B. ADAMS, Chief Judge, WALTER L. WEAVER 

and H^NRYS/S^^E^A^s^cia^Judges of said Court, and the Seal thereof, 

day o f ^ L ^ ^ X ^ L ^ S ^ / t ^ \ . . ^ A. D. 190.-

Clerk. 

By "., , Deputy. 

ndian Territory, this 
• 7 



IBDIAH TERRITORY, 
CENTRAL DISTRICT. 

I ! ! I T ! . ^ . Pi.o.h arr i finn_j3ri__Qat.'h s a f f 
it0; t&e \within^ e n t a t i e d s u i t , and t ha t he i s more than 21 
jofj afte;|that ŜSfe du|Ly served the w i t h i n subpoena 
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SUBPOENA. 

Choctaw and gbickasaw Citizenship Court, 
INDIAN TERRITORY, 

^Q^^^^. 
p e President of tbe United States of America, 

2 b . . _ _ _ _ „ ^ ^ 

l y ^ „ _ i < g » t ^ ^ 

--S-~ K. , Greeting : 

U)c COW til dtld yOUf that all and singular business and excuses being laid aside, you, and each of you, 

appear and attend before the Judges of the Choctaw and Chickasaw Citizenship Courific the Indian, Territory, 

, at a Court to be held at its Court ^oova>}^^A^V/\_^/jf_^._ 

,., in the Indian Territory, on the f^l day of ...TS^^dGbSfefe^A*^ , ]90.r^rp 

/
.£)- o'clock—kt-.m., to testify ap,d give evidence in a certain cause pending in said/Oourt, tMen and there,-* 

berried,between^^^..(^i.<QL^^^...s£^..J^L.. , Plaintiff, and ^ 4 ^ ? i t ^ ^ ^ . - . . . < ^ ^ \ 
., Defendant, on the part of 

And this you, or any of you, are not to omit, upon the penalty^upon you, and every one of you, of two 

hundred and fifty dollars. 

..\V' Witness, the Honorable SPENCER B. ADAMS, Chief Judge, WALTER L. WEAVER 

and MENKY S/^OOTE, Associate Judges of said Court, and the Seal thereof, 

at ^ Z ^ t / ^ S C y ^ Z - T Z c ^ ^ ^ j ^ Indian Territory, this ^LmjL 

day of y / f j ^ ^ f a ^ f I { A-' D-' 19°v^ 

N 

ML 
Cleric. 



MARSHAL'S RETURN. 

I received this Subpama at o'clock 

- , 190 , and served the 

..<^ at o'clock M. on the 

at o'clock M. on the 
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SUBPCBNA. 

Choctaw? ana Chickasaw Citizenship Court, 
INDIAN TERRITORY, 

•Ua2fe^.j&Li&£Za>£.. 

Che President of the United States of America, 
^ * s _ 

d&L44<*rzs4&..j2-..£S. 
At J\ 

., Greeting 

tD? COfflffland yOUf that all and singular business and excuses being laid aside, you, and each of you, 

appear and attend before the Judges of the Choctaw and Chickasaw Citizenskip Courfcjffi/the Indian Territory, 

, at a Court to be held at its Court Eoom, iS (Jo 

4r.. , in the Indian Territory, on the *rtL- day of—u^ffrffrgCA^Klfe^--^ 390. 

id C0urt, then and then at-X—£- o'clock.^A^_m., to testify and^give evidence in a certain cause pending in sai 

tobetfiea, totween---^2to^\J^ - £ f e Plaintiff, a n d ~ Z ^ 

&4l4&<jC£&-J&£&k£&a, Defendant, on the part of .... 

And this you, or any of you, are not to omit, upon the penalty/upon you, and every one of you, of two 

hundred and fifty dollars. 

Witness, the Honorable SPENCER B. ADAMS, Chief Judge, WALTER L. WEAVER 

soc^ate Judges of said Court, and the Seal thereof, 

f, Indian Territory, this **-~ 

, A. D. 1 9 0 - - ^ 

Clerk. w 

By , Deputy. 

\ 

V 
<hv 



MARSHAL'S RETURN. 

I received this Subpcena at o'clock M, on the.... day of 

, 190-—, and served the same by reading it in the presence and hearing of 

at o'clock M. on the -.-day of , 190--, at 

at o'clock M. on the day of , 190 , at 

at o'clock M. on the day of , 190—., at 

at o'clock M. on the day of , 190—., at 

FEES. 

Services, $ 

miles, at 6 cents per mile, $ 

Total, - - $ 

U. S. Marshal. 

By 1 Deputy. 

V? 
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SUBPCENA. 

Cboctaw and CbieRa$au> Citizenship Court, 
INDIA^J-TERRITORY, 

Cbe President of the United States of America, 

£ 
., Greeting: 

U)t COfflffldttd ^OUf that all and singular business and excuses being laid aside, you, and each of you, 

appear and attend before the Judges of the Choctaw and Chickasaw Citizenship Court in-the Indian Territory, 

., at a Court to be held at its Court Room, 
^ ..., in the Indian Territory, on the JeC~— daj^ of.^^j^^^r^^^j^k^^L...., 1 9 0 - ^ 

2&J-J--Q. o'clock—^-m., to testify and give evidence in a certain cause pending in j^aid^ourt,J:Keh and titers 

b r i ed , Jbe tween . !§*^2^ f Plaintiff, and. 

., Defendant, on the part of.. 

And this you, or any of you, are not to omit, upon the penalty upon you, and every one of you, of two 

hundred and fifty dollars. 

Witness, the Honorable SPENCER B. ADAMS, Chief Judge, WALTER L. WEAVER 

, . oojate Judges of said Court, and the Seal thereof, 

at .^U^£i^^Jt/.i^^<i^AX<dAd^^ Indian Territory, this, 

—.., A. D. 1 9 0 . ^ 

Clerk. 

By , Deputy. 
, ^ 
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J V MARSHAL'S RETURN. 

I received this Swbpcena at o'clock M. on the day of 

- , 190—-, and served the same by reading it in the -presence and hearing of 

...at ^..o'clock M. on the day of , 190... 

...at o'clock M. on the day of , 190.. 

...at o'clock M. on the day of I , 190... 

...at o'clock M. onthe day of , 190... 

FEES. 

Services, .* *>--$• 

miles, at 6 cents per mile, 

Total, 

at. 

at. 

at.. 

at. 

. ' U. S. Marshal. 

By __,f Deputy. 
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m../£$~:/tti. 

SUMMONS 
I N K Q U I T Y . 

v s . 

Summons issued the J— Y— day 

Returnable A^^_JuXyyd^iAy_ Term, fr90_— 

Returned and iiled , 190—. 

Clerk. 

By , Deputy. 

MARSHAL'S FEES. 

Services, - $ 

Miles, . . . - § 

Expense, - S 

TOTAL, - - $ 

^&&AJLU^„£_J3^ 
£jM*aVuJbUuM AU°™ey for Plaintiff.^ 
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SUMMONS. 

United States of America, 

INDIAN TERRITORY, 

Choctaw and Chickasaw Citizenship Court. 

KJU^alAJL^ 

IU fmiimt of ie Mni $un$ of l i m a , 
to the United States marshal for the Indian territory, ^ort^rrt)istrict, 

G R E E T I N G : 

YOU ARE COMMANDED TO SUMMONS r _ _ J & « ^ 

Chief xxf -the ChoctawNat ion^ -

on "behalf of s a id Na t ion , 
to answer, in twenty days after the service of this summons upon liim, as 

P r i n c i p a l Chief of s a id Na t ion^ 

a complaint in Equity filed against - T h e Choctaw aTld Chickasaw; N a t i o n s , 

in the Choctaw and Chickasaw Citizenship Court, in the Indian Territory, ^Q^-JjM^_LMJjCiti^ 

bv^4 ^ and warn s a i l . — that upon £ * ? failure to answ'er,35^?^ 
as P r i n c i p a l ^h i e f o f s a i d ^ t i o n , on "behalf of s a i d Na t ion , the 
^ complaint will be taken for confessed, and you will make return of the summons OTP^VP^ 

and you a re f u r t h e r commanded to n o t i f y s a i d Green Mc C u r t a i n , P r i n c i p a l 
Chief a f o r e s a i d , t h a t the f i l e s , paper s and proceed ings i n the case of 

)/€LAJK/ (}> -j^jLuAJ^ X*^*X F i l e No. / o i i n the D i s t r i c t 

Court , fo r the &>J^V\±AJKL D i s t r i c t , of the Ind ian T e r r i t o r y , 
have "been t r a n s f e r r e d to the Choctaw and Chickasaw C i t i z e n s h i p c o u r t , and 
t h a t the c e r t i f i c a t e of the Clerk of s a id Court for s a i d J&ji^XsudL 
D i s t r i c t , I nd i an T e r r i t o r y , has "been a t t a c h e d t h e r e t o * 

WITNESS the Honorable SPENCER B. ADAMS, Chief Judge, WALTER L. 

v _v-

WEAVER and HENRY S. FOOTE, Associate Judges, and the Seal 

thereof, at... South Mc A l e * t e r , I . T . _ ^ ^ 

" in March ~? 
this-.-. Jy ^_day of , A. D. 190-1? 

'<* 

By 

Clerk. 

, Deputy. 



In the Choctaw and Chickasaw Citizenship Court. 

September 22, 1903. 

Zora P. Lewis, et al., 

vs. 

C & C Nations. 

Pefcre Judges Weaver & Foote. 

Harley & Lewis for the plaintiffs. 

M McM & Cornish for defendants. 

This cause coming on to he heard on this day the following 
proceedings were had: 

Mr. Cornish: 

Before proceeding I desire to call attention to a motion 
which we have filed in this case to make more definite and 
certain which seeks to elicit from you information as to 
whether or not any one or all of the ancestors through 
whom these applicants claim complied with the fourteenth 
article of the treaty of 1830 or removed to the Choctaw 
Nation when the Choctaw Indians removed West; what is your 
response to that motion? 

Mr. Harley: 

If the court pleases, we take it that the court will 
take the same action in this case on the motion and demurrer 
referred to that was taken in the other cases. We presume that 
the motion will just simply be filed and that the court will 
not pass on the matter at this time. 

Judge Weaver: 

Yes,sir. 

Mr. Cornish: 

It is not a matter of argument, I understand that the 
sufficiency of the motion-what the motion seeky to elicit 
will be passed upon later. I wish the record to show now whether 
or not you will respond to the motion? 

Mr. Harley: 

We take the position that we do not hare to reply to it. 

Mr. Cornish: 

Then you decline to furnish the information which the motion 
asks for? 

Mr. Harley: 

Yes; at this time. 
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Judge Weaver: 

Proceed. 

I%* Harley: 

We have a large amount of documentary evidence to offer at 
this time after that has been done we can then swear the 
witnesses. On behalf of the applicants and all of the appli­
cants in this case we desire to offer first the original 
application of Zora P. Lewis, et al., --as I stated we desire 
to offer the original application of Zora P. Lewis, et al., 
filed before the Dawes Ccnmission in 1896. Attached to and forming 
a part of that original petition is a list of all the parties 
in the cause and we desire to offer that list which is attached 
to the original petition. I presume that the original petition 
and this list of names might be marked as one exhibit -Exhibit 
"An. I don't presume that it will be necessary to take up 
the time of the Court now in reading the names of the appli­
cants in this case as their names are set out in the original 
list. 

We next desire to offer the recipt showing that a copy of the 
original petition in this case was served on Stewart, Gordon 
and Haley as attorneys for the Choctaw Nation and service ac? 
cepted by them together with the affidavit set out in the 
receipt which might be marked exhibit "BM, this receipt being 
dated September 7, 1896. 

Now this record is very cumbersome; I will first ask leave to 
offer the entire record in the case filed before the Dawes 
Commission and before the United States court as a whole and 
later I shall offer it individually. 

Mr. Cornish: 

The Choctaw and Chickasaw Nations object to the introduction 
•-K of the record as a whole and state in support of such objections 

that the Nations have objections to offer to every part of the 
record and these objections are based upon different grounds 
and it would be impossible to shape these objections so the 
record could be intelligently made"up if offered as a whole. 
If the gentleman states that he expects to offer it in parts I 
see no reason why he should offer it as a whole. 

Judge Poote: 

That is no way to offer it. 

Mr. Harley: 

We prefer to offer it as a whole. 

Mr. Cornish: 

That record contains many papers; now he proposes to offer 
it in parts because in offering it there might possibly be some 
papers that he will overlook, of course in that event we would 
not have an opportunity to object to such a paper at all. We 
certainly object to that. 

Mr. Harley: 
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I expect to offer it as a whole and then in parts. 

Mr. Cornish: 

You now offer all of it. We will say that record contains 
fifty pieces; then you go back and offer it piece by piece 
and introduce for instance thirty-five pieces, that would 
leave fifteen pieces to which we could not object. 

Judge Weaver: 

I would suggest that you offer the record piece by piece. 

Mr. Harley: 

I next will offer the affidavit of Thomas P. Lewis made 
on the second day of September 1896. I may offer these in a 
little broken up form because I sliall take it just as I find 
it. 

Mr. Cornish: 

/The Choctaw and Chickasaw Nations object to the introduction 
of the paper referred to and in support of such objections 

/state that it is a part of a TOid proceeding had before the 
Commission to the Five Civilized Tribes to which both nations 
were necessary parties and to which Tbhe Choctaw Nation only 
was made a party and for the further reason that it has not 
been shown that the witness who made the affidavit is dead. 

Judge Weaver: 

The Court will receive the paper subject to the objection 
to be passed on later. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next introduce the affidavit of Sarah Lewis taken on the 
21, da$ of October 1878 which we ask be marked exhibit WDW. 

Mr. Corjiish: 

/ The Choctaw and Chickasaw Nations state the sane objections 
: previously urged and in addition urge that it is not such an 

• affidavit which in any event might have been made use of 
/ before the Commission to the Five Civilized Tribes under the 
specific terms of the act of Congress of June 10, 1896. 

Judge Weaver: 

Same ruling. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the affidavit of Thomas R. Hicks taken on 
September 1, 1896, which we ask to be marked exhibit ttEn. 
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Mr. Cornish: 

The Choctaw and Chickasaw Nations object to the introduction 
of the paper referred to and in support of such objections state 
that it was made use of in a void proceeding before the Commis­
sion to the Fire Civilized Tribes under the aet of Congress 
of June 10, 1896 to which the Choctaw and Chickasaw Nations were 
both interested and necessary parties and to which the Choctaw 
Nation only was made a party and for the further reason that 
has nncfct first been shown that the witness is dead. 

i 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the affidavit of Hettie Hicks taken on 
September 1, 1896 (exhiMt "F") 

Mr. Cornish: 

The nations object and state the same objections urged 
the paper just introduced. 

Judge Weaver. 

It is understood that the same ruling is made. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the affidavit of T, H. DuBois, taken on 
August 31, 1896, with reference to births of applicants which 
we ask to have marked exhibit MGH. 

Mr. Cornish: 

The nations object and state the same grounds for objections. 

Judge Weaver: 

Same ruling. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the affidavit of T. H. DuBois taken on August 
/ 31, 1896, with reference to births of applicants; which we ask 
"\ ̂ to be marked exhibit "Htt. 

Mr. Cornish: 

The nations object and state the sanre grounds for objections. 

Judge Weaver:s 

Same ruling. 

Mr. Cornish: 

/ In addition to the objections already urged to the introduc­
tion of the affidavits of T. H. DuBois with reference to births 
and deaths the nations object to their introduction for the 
reason that they purport to be certificates of certain entries 
as they appear upon acertain family bible, we urge now that the 
bible is the best evidence. 
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Mr. Harley: 

, x We next offer the affidavit of T. H. DuBois taken on 
/ August 31, 1896, with reference to "births of applicants i n 

this case, 

Mr. Cornish: 

Do you insist that that is an a fidavit? 

Mr. Harley: 

We will style it a certificate instead of an affidavit. 

Judge Poote: 

What is it? 

Mr. Harley: 

It is a certificate stating that he has examined a certain 
family bible. This is exhibit "I"; 

Mr. Cornish: 

The nations object to the introduction of the paper referred 
to and state all of the objections previously urged and urge 
that it is not competent in any event because it purports to 
be a certificate of certain entries on a family bible. Our 
contention is that in no event can this be regarded as competent 
testimony, the bible itself is the best evidence if properly 
identified by those who have it in custody. 

Judge Weaver: 

Same ruling. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the certificate of T. H. DuBois made August 
31, 1896 with reference to deaths of applicants as taken from 
the family bible and ask that it be marked exhibit HJM. 

Mr. Cornish: 

The nations object and urge the same objections. 

Judge Weaver: 

Same ruling. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the application of Olivia Pryor made before 
the Commission to the Five Civilized Tribes in 1896 and ask to 
have the same marked exhibit WKW. 



-6-

Mr. Cornish: 
••••" f 

f The Choctaw and Chickasaw Nations object to the introduction 
of the paper referred to and state that it is a part of a void 
proceeding had before the Commission to the Five Civilized 
Tribes under the act of June 10, 1896; it is the contention of 
the nations that it is void for the reason that the Choctaw 
and Chickasaw Nations were both necessary and interested parties 
and the Choctaw Nation only was made a party. 

Judge Weaver: 

Same ruling. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer in evidence the original marriage certificate 
of S, V. Pryor and Mrs. Olivia Jordan dated June 1, 1890, which 
ask to have marked exhibit "L". 

We next offer the affidavot of Olivia Pryor taken on the ̂r8th 
of August 1896, before W, W. Ives, Notary Public, which we ask 
to be marked exhibit "M". 

Mr. Cornish: 

The Choctaw and Chickasaw Nations object to the introduction 
of the paper referred to and in support of such objeetions 
state that it was taken and made use of before the Commission 
to the Five Civilized Tribes in a void proceeding for the 
reason that both the Choctaw and Chickasaw Nations were in­
terested and necessary parties and the Choctaw Nation only was 
made a party and furthermore it has not been shown that the 

\ person who made the affidavit is dead. 

Judge Weaver: 

Same ruling. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the affidavit of Edward M. Lewis taken before 
W. W. Ives, Notary Public, on the 27th day of August 1896, 
which we ask to have marked exhibit "N". 

Mr. Cornish: 

/ The Choctaw and Chickasaw Nations object and set forth 
I the same objections previously urged. 

Judge Weaver: 

Same ruling. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the original marriage certificate of Henry 
Jordan and Mrs. L. Douglas dated June 18, 1883, which we ask to 
have marked exhibit "0". 
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Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the original application of Virgil Cowart before 
the Commission to the Fire Civilized Tribes in 1896 which we 
ask to have marked exhibit "P". 

Mr. ĵ ornish: 

/ The nations object and set forth the same objections previosuly 
{ urged. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the original application of Samuel V.Pryor; 
Samuel P. Cowart and George Cowart, before the Commission to the 
Five Civilized Tribes in 1896 and ask to have the same marked 
exhibit *%*. 

Mr. Cornish: 

/ The same objections on behalf of the Choctaw and Chickasaw 
/ Nations. 
\ 
Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the affidavit and certificate of Olivia 
Pryor taken before W. W. Ives on September 1, 1896, which 
we ask to have marked exhibit "R". 

Mr. Cornish; 

/ The same objections urged on bekalf of the Choctaw and 
\ Chickasaw Nations. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the original application of Zora Roper, nee 
Cowart made before the Commission to the Five Civilized Tribes 
in 1896, which we awk to have marked exhibit "S". 

Mr. McMurray: 

( The same objections on behalf of the Nations. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the affidavit of C. C. Johnson taken before 
W. W, Ives, Notary Public, on the 26th day of August 1896, which 
we ask to have marked exhibit WTM. 

Mr. Cornish: 

f The Nations set forth the same objections. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the affidavot of Joseph A. Johnson taken on the 
26th day of August 1896 before W. W. Ives, Notary Public, 
which we ask to have marked exhibit MU". 
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Mr. Cornish: 

/ The Choctaw and Chickasaw nations object and set forth the 
î same objections. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the original application of Idward M. Lewis 
made before the Commission to the Five Civilized Tribes in 1896 
which we ask to have marked exhibit "v"n. 

Mr. Cornish: 

The nations object and set forth the same object ions . 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the affidavit of Jesse B. Matthis taken on 
August 18, 1896, before W. W. Ives, Noatry Public, and filed 
before the Commission to the Five Civilized Tribes; which we 
ask be marked exhibit MW". 

Mr. Cornish: 

f"The Nations object and se t forth the same object ions . 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the affidavit of Jacob S, Bender, taken before 
W. W. Ives, Notary Public, on August 18, 1896, and filed before 
the Commission to the Five Civilized Tribes in 1896, which we 
ask to have marked exhibit "X". 

Mr. Cornish: 

The nations state the same objections. 

V,, 
Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the joint affidavit of Zora A., Idward H.Lewis 
and William H. Guyer, taken on the 27th of August 1896 before 
W. W. Ives, Notary Public, and filed before the Commission to 
the Five Civilized Tribes in 1896 which we ask to have marked 
exhibit "Y". 

Mr. Cornish: 

I The Nations object and set for th the same object ions. 

Mr. Harley J 

We next offer the affidavit of Frank A. Trenkle taken before 
W. W. Ives, Notary Public, on the 27th day of August 1896, and 
filed beforethe Commission to the Five Civilized Tribes in 
this case in 1896 which we ask be marked exhibit "Z". 

Mr. Cornish: 

f The Nations object and set forth the same objections. 
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Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the affidavit of Edward M. Lewis with 
reference to records of births and marriages in the family 
of Edward M. Lewis and Sarah E. Lewis as shown by the record 
found in the family bible taken on the 21 st of September 1896, 
before W, ¥. Ives, Notary Public, and filed before the Com­
mission to the Five Civilized Tribes in this case in 1896 which 
we ask to have marked exhibit "AA". 

Mr. Cornish: 

The Choctaw and Chickasa™ Nations object to the introduction 
of the paper referred to and set forth all of the objections 
previously urged and in addition state that it is incompetent 
for the reason that it purports to reflect by affidavit cer­
tain original entries found in a bible, the contention of the 
nations being that the only competent testimonjr in this con­
nection would be the family bible itself after being properly 
identified by the person in whose custody it is. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the original application of Angeline Tabor, et 
al., filed before the Commission to the Eive Civilized Tribes 
in the case in 1896, which we ask to have marked exhibit MKB M, 

Mr. Cornish: 

The nations object to the introduction of the pap^r referred 
so and in support of such objections state that it was filed 
and made use of in a void proceeding before the Commission to the 
Eive Civilized Tribes under the aet of Congress approved 
June 10, 1896; such proceeding was void because the Choctaiw and 
Chickasaw nations were both necessary and interested; parties 
thereto and the Choctaw Nation only was made a party. 
\ 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the original application of Marshall Cowart 
filed in this case before the Commission to the Five Civilized 
Tribes in 1896 which we ask to have marked exhibit "CCM. 

Mr. Cornish: 

(The nations object and set forth the same objections. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the affidavot of Sherman T. Tabor taken on 
August 24, 1896, and filed before the Commission to the Eive 
Civilized Tribes in this case in 1896 and have the same marked 
exhibit "DD". 

Mr. Cornish: 

The Choctaw and Chickasaw Nations object and set forth the 
same objections previously urged and in a ddition state that it 
has not first been shown that the witness is dead. 
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Mr. Harley: 

In this case there are a number of persons whose affidavits 
we are offering who are dead while some of them are not dead. 
I take it that it does not make any difference whether I prove 
the death of these witnesses now or afterwards. 

We now offer the original application of Julius M. Leard 
et al., filed in this case before the Commission to the 
five Civilized Tribes in 1896, which weask to have marked 
exhibit WEEW. 

Mr. Cornish: 

|The Nations object and set for th the same object ions. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the certificate of T. H. DuBois dated August 
31, 1896, with reference to deaths which we ask to have marked 
exhibit »IF*. 

Mr. Cornish: 

/ The Choctaw and Chickasaw Nations object to the introduction 
of the paper referred to and state that in no event can it be 
considered as evidence in this case for the reason that itm 
purports to be a certification of certain record entries that 
appear in a certain family bible. The only proper evidence 
would be the book itself after being identified by the person 
having it in custody. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the certificate of Ti, H. DuBois taken on August 
31, 1896, with reference to marriages of applicants in this 
case; which we ask to have marked exhibit WGG". 

Mr. Cornish: 

/ The Choctaw and Chickasaw Nations object to the introduction 
/of the paper referred to and set forth the same objections as 
I urged to the paper just previously offered. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the certificate of T. H. DuBois dated August 
31, 1896 and filed in this case with reference to births of 
spplicants which we ask to have marked exhibit MHHW» 

Mr. Cornish: 
* 

The Nations object and set forth the same objections previously 
urged. 
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Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the affidavit off James P. Lewis taken "before 
Wi ¥« Ives, Notary Public, on August 28, 1896, and filed in this 
case "before the Commission to the Five Civilized Tribes in 1896, 
and ask to have the same marked exhibit "IIM, 

Mr. Cornish: 

/ The nations object to the introduction of the paper referred 
to and in support of such objections state that it was tateen 
and. made use of before the Commission to the Five Civilized 
Tribes in a proceeding that is void for the reason that both 
the Choctaw and Choctaw Nations, the necessary and interested 
parties were not parties thereto and. secondljr it ha» not been 
shown that the witness who made the affidavit is dead. 

\ 
Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the affidavit of H. C. Roper taken before 
W. W. Ives, Notary Putelic, on the 28th day of August 1896, 
before the Commission to the Five Civilized Tribes in this 
case in 1896 and ask to have the same marked exhibit "JJW, 

Mr. Cornish: 

The Nations object and set forth the same objections. 
V, 

Judge Foote: 

Where was Mr. Ives located? 

Mr. Harley; 

Pottowatomie County, Oklahoma. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the original application of Joseph H. Leard 
et al., filed before the Commission to the Five Civilized Tribes 
in 1896 and ask to have the same marked exhibit "KKH, 

Mr. Cornish: 

| The Nations object and set forth the same objections. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the affidavit of H. C. Roper taken on tkee 
26fch day of August 1896 before W. W. Ives, Notary Public, filed 
before the Commission to the Five Civilized Tribes in 189 6 
and ask to have the same marked exhibit "LLW. 

Mr. Cornish: 

The nations object and set forth the same objections. 
( T 
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Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the affidavit of George W, McKibben taken before 
W. fj Ives, Notary Public, on the 26th day of August 1896 filed 
before the Commission to the Five Civilized Tribes in this ease 
in 1896 which we ask to have marked exhibit MKM". 

Mr. Cornish: r 
(The nations object and set for th the same object ions . 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the original application of Julius M. Leard, 
guardian for Madison L. Leard; Jackson A. Leard; Maud Early and 
Houston H. Early, filed before the Commission to the Five Civiliz 
ed Tribes in this case in 1896 and ask to have the same marked 
exhibit MNN". 

Mr. Cornish: 

/ The nations object and set forth the same objections. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the original application of Thomas P. Lewis 
et al., filed before the Commission to the Five Civilized 
Tribes in this case in 1896 and ask to have the same marked 
exhibit M00». 

Mr. Cornish: 

The nations object and set forth the same objections. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the affidavot of Thomas P. Lewis, taken before 
W. W. Ives, Notary Public, on the 3rd day of September 1896, 
and filed before the Commission to the Five Civilized Tribes 
in this case in 1896 which we askxii be marked exhibit MPPM. 

Mr. Cornish: 

/ The Nations object and set forth the same objections. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the original application of Lydia Clark, et al 
filed before the Commission to the Five Civilized Tribes in this 
case in 1896 and ask to have the same marked exhibit HQ,Q,". 

Mr. Cornish: 

f The nations object and set forth the same objections. 

Mr. Harley: 
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We next offer the original marriage certificate of George A. 
Clark and Lydia Lewis which were heretofore filed "before the 
Commission to the Five Civilized Tribes in this case aad ask that 
the same he marked exhibit "RR". 

"We next offer the, original application of Preston Early, 
guardian for James B. Lewis, filed before the Commission to the 
live Civilized Tribes in this case in 1896 which we ask to 
have marked exhibit "SSM. 

Mr. Cornish: 

The nations o.Ject ana set forth tne sa^e e j e c t i o n s . 

Mr. Harlejr: 

We next o:"fer the original application of Sarah. Jane Me 
Kibben, et al., to the Commission to the live Civilized Tribes 
in this case in 1896 which we ask be marked exhibit "TT". 

Mr. Cornish: 

/ The nations object and set forth the same objections. 

Mr. Harley: 

We nestt offer the original marriage certificate of 
George W. McKibben and Sarah Jane Lewis which we ask to have 
marked exhibit "UU". 

Judge Foote: 

Where is the certificate from? 

Mr. Harley: 

It is not dated at all—dated September 22, 1880. 

Mr. Cornish: 

It says"according to the laws of this state" but it does not 
say what state. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the affidavit of Jesse B, Matthis taken on the 
27th day of Augtist 1896 before W. W. Ives, Notary Public and 
filed before the Commission to the Five Civilized Tribes in 
this case in 1896, which we ask to have marked exhibit "W". 

Mr. Cornish: 
a f | I M 

/""The nations object and set forth the same objections previously 
/urged. 
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Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the original application of Zora 3?. Early, nee 
Lewis, et al., filed before the Commission to the Fire Civilized 
Tribes in this case in 1896 which we ask to have marked exhibit 
"WW". 

Mr. Cornish: 

[The nations object and set forth the same objections. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the affidavit of Zora P. Lewis taken before 
W. W. Ives, Notary Public, on the 28th day of August 1896, 
and filed before the Commission to the Five Civilized Tribes 
in this case in 1896 which we ask to have marked exhibit "XX". 

Mr. Cornish: 

/ The Nations object and set forth the same objections. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the affidavit of George W. McKibben taken on 
the 28tĥ  day of August 1896 before W. W. Ives, Notary Public, 
and filed before the Commission to the Five Civilized Tribes 
in this case in 1896 and ask that the same be marked exhibit "YY" 

Mr. Cornish: 

The Nations object and set forth the same objections. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the affidavit of Zira S. Early taken on the 28tk 
of August 1896, before W* Vo Ivesj. Notary Public,"andifiled before 
the Commission to the Five Civilized Tribes in this case in 1896 
and ask to have it marked exhibit "ZZ", 

Mr. Cornish: 

/The Nations object and set forth the same objections. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the affidavit of Preston Early taken on the 
25th day of August 1896 before Joe Hillman, Notary Public, and 
filed before the Commission to the Five Civilized Tribes in thi,s 
case in 1896 which we ask to have marked ex ibit number one (if. 

Judge Eoote: 

Where does Mr. Hillman reside? 

Mr. Harley: 

He liVes at Krebbs now. 

Mr. Cornish: 
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(The nations object and set forth the same objections. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the original application of Lucy Adams, et al., 
filed before the Commission to the Five Civilized Tribes in this 
case in 1896 and ask to have the same marked exhibit number two, 
(2). 

Mr. Cornish: 

The nations object and set forth the same objections. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the original marriage lieense and certificate 
of Gus Adams and Lucy Ear3y, thee certificate being dated June 
10, 1894, which was filed before the Commission to the Five 
Civilized Tribes in 1896 which we ask to have marked exhibit 
number three (3). This was in Oklahoma, issued by the county 
authorities of the County of Pottawattomie of the Territory of 
Oklahoma. 

Mr. Harley: 

I next offer the brief of M. M. Lindly, filed 
Commission to the Jive Civilized Tribes in 1896 
it marked exhibit number four (4). 

before the 
and ask to have 

We next offer the affidavit of Marcus Lewis taken before 
Stephen Wheeler, United States Commissioner and filed in this 
ease before the Commission to the Five Civilized Tribes in 1896 
and ask to have the same marked exhibit number five (5), 

Mr. Cornish: 

The Nations object to the introduction of the paper referred 
to and set forth the same objections previously urged and in ad­
dition state that it is not such an affidavit as in any event 
could have been filed and made use of before the Commission to 
the Five Civilized Tribes under the specifi© terms of the act of 
June 10, 1896, it being therein provided that affidavits may 
be received by the Commission "heretofore taken where the 

\ witness giving said testimony is dead or now residing beyond the 
\ limits of said Territory". An examination of this affidavit 
Von the faee of it shows that it does not oorae within either 
\©lass and therefore cannot be considered as evidence in this 

se. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the judgment of the Commission to the Five 
Civilized Tribes in this case denying the claims of the 
applicants signed by H. M. Jacoway, dated at Ft Smith 
December 4, 1896, which we ask to have marked exhibit number 
six (6). 

Mr. Cornish: 

Choctaw and Chickasaw nations object to the introduction of the 
/paper referred to and state in support of suhh objections that it 
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is part of a void proceeding had before the Commission to the 
Five Civilized Tribes to which both nations were necessary and 
interested parties and to which only the Choctaw Nation was 
made a party. 

Mr. Harley: 

Zora P. 
of the 

cause signed 
further signed 

We next offer the notice of appeal in the case of 
Lewis, et al., vs. Choctaw Nation from the decision 
Commission to the Five Civilized Tribes in said 
by Zora P. Lewis, by M. 1. JAndly, attornejr, and 
serviee accepted September second, Stewart, Gordon & Hailey, 
attorneys for the Choctaw Nation , which we ask to have marked 
exhibit number seven $7). 

Mr. .Cornish: 

The nations object to the introduction of the paper referred 
to and in support of such objections state that it was a part 
of a void proceeding before the United States Court for the 
Central District of the Indian Territory, it being the con­
tention of the Choctaw and Chickasaw Nations that such pro-
eeeding was void first for the reason that both the Choctaw 
and Chickasaw Nations were interested and necessary parties and 
the Choctaw Nation only was made a party and secondly the 
United States Court tried the case de HOVO when it should have 
reviewed the record of the Commission, 

V. 
Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the affidavit of appeal from the decision 
of the Commission to-the Five Civilized Tribes in this 
ease styled Zora P. Tewis vs. Choctaw Nation signed M. M. 
Lindly, subscribed arid sworn to on the 15th &a.y of January 
1897 which we ask to have marked exhibit number eight (8). 

Mr. Cornish: 

f The nations object and set forth the same objections. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the original petition for the appeal in the 
ease of Zora P. Lewis, et al., vs. Choctaw Nation from the 
decision of the Commission to the Five Civilized Tribes signed by 
M. M. Lindly, attorney for applicants, which we ask to have 
marked exhibit jjiumber nine (9). 

Mr. Cornish: 

( The nations object and set forth the same objections. 

Mr. Harley: 

We next offer the notice to take depositions in the ease 
of Zora P. Lewis, et al., vs. Choctaw Nation pending in the 
United States court for the Oentral District of the Indian 
to Stewart, Gordon & Hailey, attorneys for the Choctaw Nation, 
signed by M. M. Lindley, attorney for applicants and ask thfct 
it be marked exhibit number ten (10). 

1ft. Cornish: 

I The nations ob.iect and set forth the same objections. 
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Mr. lewis: 

We offer in evidence the deposition of George W. Vann and ask 
that it he marked exhibit number eleven (/ll). It was taken 
before Jesse W. Warson, Notary Public for the Northern District 
of the Indian Territory on the 11th day of August 1897. 

Mr. Cornish: 

The nations object and set forth the same objections. 

Mr. Lewis: 

We offer in evidence the deposition of Jane f» Page, also 
the notice given prior thereto of the taking of such depositions 
and ask that it be marked exhibit number twelve (12). That was 
taken before J. M. Hawkins, Justice of the Peace of Sebastian 
County, Arkansas on September 7th, 1897. The deposition of 
Jane P. Page was filed in the United States Court for the 
Central District of the Indian Territory on August 11th, 1897 
and attached to this deposition is the certificate of the notice. 

Mr. Cornish: 

/ The nations object and set forth the same object ions. 
IIMllBIHinil ... 

Mr. Lewis. 

I have now a deposition—there are several of them taken 
under one notice all attached and filed at the same time. I 
might possibly offer them together. The deposition of Preston 
Early; Edward M. Lewis and Thomas P. Lewis taken on notice 
and filed in the United States court for the Central District 
of the Indian Territory on August 13, 1897. Exhibit 13. 

Mr. Cornish: 

f The nations object and set forth the same objections. 

Mr. Lewis: 

We offer in evidence the deposition of Ben H. Baily taken after 
notice and filed in the United States court for the Central 
District of the Indian Territory on July 26, 1897 and to be 
mar ed exhibit fourteen (14). 

Mr. Cornish: 

AT 
I The nations object and set forth the same objections. 

Mr. Lewis: 

We now offer in evidence the judgment of the District court 
for the Central District of the Indian Territory rendered on 
the 19th da3' of January 1898 attached to the retunr of the writ 
or error issued from this court on the 13th day of March 1903 
— exhibit fifteen (15). 

Mr. Cornish: 
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The Choctaw and Chickasaw Nations object to the introduction 
of the judgment of the United States court for the Central 
District of the Indian Territory in this case except in so far 
as it identifies the present applicants as the same persons 
passed upon and in support of such objections state the same 
objections previously urged. 

Mr. Harley: 

We will offer proof of the death of the parties who made 
affidavits. 

Zora S. Early, called as a witness on behalf of the plaintiffs 
after being duly sworn testified as follows: 

Direct examination bjr Mr. Harle3r. 

Q, State your name? A Zora S. Early. 
Q, You are the wife of Preston Early? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Did you know Edward M. Lewis? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Is he now living or dead? A He is dead. 
Q, About how long has he been dead? A Near three years, 
<5> Was he related to you in any way? A He was my brother. 
Q, Did you see him after he was dead? A Yes,sir. 
Q You w.ere present at the time of his funeral? A Yes, sir. 
Q, Do you know Thomas R. Hicks? A Yes, sir. 
Q, Is he living or dead? A He is dead. 
Q, Was he related to you in any way? A No,sir. 
Q, By marriage? A No,sir. 
Q He is dead; about how long has he been dead Mrs. Early, about 

how many 3'-ears? A About four years as near as I remember. 
Q, Did you know Sherman Tabor? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Is he living or dead? A He is dead. 
Q, About how manjr years has he been dead? A He has been dead a 

little over four years. 
Q, Was he related to you in any way? A He married my niece. 
Q, Who was Sarah Lewis, Mrs. Early if you know? A I had a sister 

named-jSarah Lewis was my sister-in-law. 
Q, Is she living or dead? A She is living. 
Q Where is she? A Out near Stanton. 
Q, Do you know Marcus Lewis? A No,sir; I do not personally know 

him. 
Q, Did you know of him? A Yes; I heard of him, 
Q, Do jou know whether he is living or dead? A No,sir; I don't 

know but I have heard that he is dead. 
Q, You don't know of your own knowledge? A No,sir. 
Q, Bo you know Jesse B. Matthis? A T Yes, sir. 
Q, Is fhe living? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Is he in the Indian Territory? A No,sir; he is in Oklahoma. 
Q, He lives in Oklahoma? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Do you know Jacob S. Bender? A Yes, sir. 
Q Is he dead or living? A Yes;he is living. 
Q, Does he live in the Indian Territory? A No,sir; he lives in 

Oklahoma. 

Cross examination by Mr. Cornish. 

Q, Have you any personal knowledge of the death of Thomas R. Hicks? 
A No,sir; I just heard he was dead. 
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Q, Do you know whether Sarah Lev/is i s l i v i n g or dead; Sarah 
Lewis who i s the wife of Marcus Lewis? A N o , s i r ; I d o n ' t know. 

Q, Don' t know anything about t h a t ? A N o , s i r . 

Witness e x c u s e d . . . 

Preston Early called as a witness on behalf of the plaintiffs 
after being duly sworn testified as follows: 

Direct examination by Mr. Harley. 

Q, Your name is Preston Early? A Yes,sir. 
Q, You are the husband of Mrs. Early who has just left the stand? 

A Yes,sir. 
Q, Mr. Early do you know Edward M. Lewis? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Is he living or dead? A He is dead. 
Q Where did he die? A He died in Center, Indian Territory. 
Q Did you see him after he was dead-attend his funeral? A Yes, sir, 
Q Did you know Thomas R. Hicks? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Was he relate d to you Jay marriage or otherwise? A No, I 

reckon-- not that I know for certain. 
Q Is he living or dead? A He is dead. 
Q, About how long has he been dead? A About I reckon four years. 
Q Where did he die? A He died out close to the town of Checotah. 
Q Checotah, in the Creek Nation? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Do you know Jesse B. Mat this? A Yes, sir. 
Q Where does he live? A In Oklahoma. 
Q, Is he living or dead now? A He is living unless he died in 

the last week. 

Q Do you know his post office address? A His postoffice is 
Shawnee. 

Q, Do you know Jack S. Bender? A Yes,sir. 
Q Is he living or dead? A Living. 
Q, Where does he live? A Right there by Mat this, four or five 

miles from Shawnee. 
Q, Do you know of Marcus Lewis? A No,sir; I never saw him, 
Q Do you know of him? A Yes; I heard a heap of him.—heard right 

smart of him. 
Q, Did he ever live in the Indian Territory? A Why I don't know 

where he lived,—he was out of the line there I reckon probably 
in the Nation but I don't know. He lived not far from where--. 

Q, Have you made inquiry to try to find out whether he is living 
or dead? A They have tried to find out what became of him 
and tried to find him but they never have heard wi at became of him 
They could not find him or have not done it. 

Q, You have made efforts? A Yes; we have made efforts to hunt him. 
Q, Bid you know Sarah Lewis; Marcus Lewis' wife ? A I have heard 

that his wife(s name was Sarah. 
Q, Have you and the other plaintiffs in this case made efforts to 

find out whetther she is living or dead? A I don't know but I 
think they have tried to find out something about that. 

Q You have not yourself personally? A No,sir, 
Q Did you know Sherman Tabor? A Yes ,sir. 
Q, Is he related to you in any way by marriage? A I think he married 

my wife's niece. 
Q Is he living or dead? A He is dead. 
Q, Did you know Willis Eolsom? A I have seen the man several times 

but I nerer got acquainted with him much. 
Q, Is he living or dead? A I don't know sir but I think he is dead. 
Q, Have you or an3r of the other plaintifds in this case made any 

efforts to locate him? A I think they probably have-I think he 
is dead though. 
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Cross examination by Mr. Cornish. 

Q, You have no personal knowledge of Marcus Le'ris whether he is 
dead or his wife? A No,sir. 

Q, And you have no personal knowledge about Willis Polsom? A No, 
sir I have no knowledge. 

Q, What do you know about Hicks, were you present when he died? A 
No,sir. 

Q, Did you attend his funeral? A No,sir. 

Mr. Harley: 

Q Why did you state that he is dead? A His wife drawed a good 
deal of money-about 4000 dollars on his insurance; that is what 
I heard kin folks say--telling me about it. 

Q, Life Insurance-~you have been informed that he was dead? A 
Yes; it was in the papers. 

Witness excused.. 

Mr. Lewis: 

I will ask the court to allow me to introduce the affidavit 
of Willis I« Folsom taken after notice before J. M, Hawkins 
on the 10th day of September 1897. 

Mr. Cornish: 

/'The nations object to the introduction of the papasr referred 
/'to and state the same objections previously urged. 

Zora S. Early, witness for plaintiffs, recalled testified: 

Re-direct by Mr. Harley. 

Q, What is the name of your father? A James Madison Lewis. 
Q What was the name of your mother? A Zora P. Lewis. 
Q Is your father living or dead? A Lead. 
Q, Is your mother living or dead? A She is dead. 
Q, Is your mother in such condition that she could attend this 

trial? A No,sir; she was not able. 
Q, What is her physical condition now? A She is getting very old. 
Q, Can she get around by herself? A She can around the huouse. 
Q, About how old is she? A She is seventy-nine years old. 
Q, How is her mental condition at this time; is she in a propercon-

dition to testify? A I don't think she is able to. 
Q, Is her mind weakened in any way now? A Only by old age I think. 
Q> Is she very feeble? A She is not helpless, she is able to go 

around in the house. 
Q Do you know Rhoda T. Lewis? A Yes ,sir. 
Q, Who is she? A She is my sister. 
Q, Whom did she marry if anybody? A She married Sam.Cowart. 
Q Is she now living or dead? A She is dead. 
Q, I believe you testified that Edward M. Lewis was your brother? 

A Yes,sir. 
Q, And that he was dead? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Whom did he marry? A Sarah Adams. 
Q Do you know John B. Lewis? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Who was he? A My brother. 
Q, Is he living or dead? A ^e ±s dead 
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Q, 'Whom did he marry? A He married Betsy Jane Cowart. 
Q, Did you know Susanna 1« Lewis? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Who was she? A My sister. 
Q, Is she living or dead? A Dead. 
Q, Do you know whom she married? A David J. heard. 
Q Do you know Thomas P. Lewis? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Is he related to you? A Yes,sir, ray brother. 
Q Is he living and present? A Yes,sir. 
Q Did you know David S. Lewis? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Living or dead? A Dead. 
Q, Was he related to you? A He was my brother. 
Q, Did you know Mary D. Lewis? A Yes, sir. 
Q, Is she living or dead? A Dead. 
Q, Was she related to you? A My sister. 
Q, Whom did she marry? A S. T. Hicks. 
Q, Did you know Sara h J. Lewis? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Was she related to ĵ ou? A Yes,sir, she was my sister. 
Q, Is she living or dead? A Dead. 
Q, Whom did she marry? A George W. McKibben. 
Q, Did you know Ophelia S. Lewis? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Related to you? A My sister. 
Q, Living and present? A Yes,sir, 
Q, Whom did she marry? A Joseph M. Edwards. 
Q, Did you know William W. Lewis? A Yes, sir. 
Q, Who was he? A My brother. 
Q, Is he living or dead? A Dead, 
Q, Whom did he marry? A He did not marry, 
Q, I will ask 3>-ou and call over the list of the applicants in this 

case and ask you if you know them and whether they are living 
or dead; Edward M. Lewis? A lead. 

Q, Sarah E Lewis, wife of Edward M. Lewis, is she living or dead? 
A She is living. 

Q, Do you know her? A Yes,sir. 
Q Thomas P. Lewis? A He is living. 
Q, Do you know Augusta Ann Lewis? A Yes ,sir. 
Q, Who is she? A Thomas P. Lewis' wife. 
Q, Is she living? A Yes,sir. 
Q Do you know Sarah Jane McKibben? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Living or dead? A Dead. 
Q She is your sister? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Do you know Preston Early'? A Yes, sir. 
Q He is your husband? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Ophelia S. Edwards; do you know her? A Yes,sir, 
Q She is your sister? A Yes,sir. 
Q, She is present? A Yes, sir. 
Q, Do you know Joseph M. Edwards? A Yes ,sir. 
Q He is present? A Yes,sir. 
Q, To you know Olivia Pryor? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Is she here? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Who was her father and mother? A Samuel and Rhoda T. Cowart. 
Q, Rhoda Cowart your sister? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Do you know Samuel Pryot her husband? A Yes,sir. 
Q He is present is he? A Yes ,sir. 
Q, Do you know Gale B. Lewis? A Yes,sir. 
Q, What is her present name ? A Wording. 
Q, Who was her father and mot:1 er? A Edward M. and Sarah M. Lewis. 
Q, Edward M. was your brother ? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Do you know Marshall Cowart? A Yes ,sir. 
Q, Is he living or dead? A Yes, sir; living. ????? 
Q, Who were his father and mother? A Samuel Cowart and 
Q His mother was 3'our sister? A Yes ,sir. 
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Q, Do you know Virgil Cowart? A Yes,sir. 
Q, A brother of Marshall Cowart? A Yes,sir. 
Q Is he living? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Do you know Zora Roper? A Yes, sir. 
Q Is she living or dead? A Living. 
Q, Who was her father or mother? A Sam Cowart and Rhoda Cowart. 
Q, She is your niece? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Do you know H. C. Roper? A Yes ,sir. 
Q, Is he living or dead? A Living. 
Q, Is he present? A Yes, sir. 
Q Do 2̂ ou know Samuel P. Cowart? A Yes,sir. 
(J Who was his father and mother? A Samuel Cowart and Rhoda T. 

Cowart. 
Q He is your nephew? A Yes,sir. 
Q Living or dead? A Living. 
Q, Do 3>-ou know George W. McKibhen? A Yes, sir. 
Q, He living or dead? A Livibg. 
Q, Is he the husband of Sarah J. McKibben? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Is she your sister? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Shes is dead? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Do you know Anna Cowart? A Yes,sir. 
i Who is she? A VirgAe-- •• 
Q, Do you know ? David Gale & Susanna Leard. 
Q, Do you know Sherman Tabor? A Yes ,sir 
Q, Who is he? A He was Angeline Tabors'husband. 
Q, He living or dead? A Dead. 
Q Has he married again? A Yes,sir. 
Q, What is her present name? AC -----JS-* p-Adams. 
Q, What is her husband's name? A John Adams. 
Q He is present? A No,sir. 
Q, Is she present? A No,sir. 
Q Do you know Julius M. Leard? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Who was his father and mother? A David Leard and Susanna Leard 
Q, His mother was your sister? A Yes ,sir. 
Q, He is your nephew; is he living or dead? A He is living and 

present. 
Q, Do you know Mary C. Leard? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Who is she? A She is Julius' wife. 
Q, Do you know Madison L. Leard? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Who was his father and mother? A David Leard and Susanna 

Leard. 
Q He is also your nephew? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Is he living? A Yes, sir. 
Q, Do you know Jack Leard? A Yes ,sir. 
Q, Is he a brother of Madison? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Is he living or dead? A He is living. 
Q Do ;/-ou know Maud Early? A Yes,sir. 
Q Who is she? A She is my sister's daughter. 
Q, Is she living? A She is living. 
% Do you know Hugh Earjy? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Who is he? A Maud Early's brother. 
Q, Is he living? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Do you know Lydia Clark? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Who was her father and mother? A Thomas P. Lewis. 
Q, Do you remember her mother's name? A Amanda Lewis. 
Q Is she married-Lydia married? A Yes,sir. 
Q, What is her husband's name? A George Clark. 
Q, Is she present? A Yes ,sir. 
| Do you know George Clark, her husband? A Yes,sir. 
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Q Is he present? A No,sir. 
Q, Living or dead? A Living. 
Q, Do you know Lawrence Lewis? A Yes,sir. 
Q Living or dead? A Living. 
Q, Who was his father and mother? A — & • 
Q Do you know Laura Lewis? A Yes,sir. 
Q She living or dead? A Living. 
Q, Who was her father and mother? A Thomas P. & Amanda. 
Q, Is she married? A Yes ,sir. 
Q, Who is her husband? A Davis. 
Q, What is her husband's first name? A Peter Davis. 
Q, Do you know Lucy Adams? A Yes,sir. 
Q She living or dead? A She1is living. 
Q, Who was her father and mother? A Why she is m; daughter. 
Q, Do you know Gus Adams? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Who is he? A He is Lucy Adams* husband. 
% He living or dead? A Living. 
Q, Do you know He Hie Early? A Yes, sir. 
Q, Living or dead? A Living. 
Q, Who is she? A My daughter 
Q, She married? A Yes,sir. 
Q What is her husband's name? A John Goodwin, her name now is 

Hellie Goodwin. 
Q, How long has she been married? A About three years. 
Q, Do you know George Lewis McKibben? A Yes ,sir. 
Q, Who was his father and mother? A George W. McKibben and 

Sarah J. McKibben. 
Q, Is George McKibben living or dead? A He is living. 
Q Do you know CassAe 0. McKibben? A Yes ,sir. 
Q, Who" is she? A She is George and Sarah J, McKibben's daughter. 
| Is she married? A Ho,sir. 
Q She is living? A Yes,sir. 
Q Do you know Claud McKiVben? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Living or dead? A Living. 
Q, Who is his father and mother? A George and Sarah J. McKibben. 
Q, Do you know Thomas P. McKibben? A Yes,sir. 
Q Living or dead? A Dead. 
Q, Who is his father and mother? A George W. McKibben and Sarah J. 

McKibben. 
Q, Do 3?-ou know Charles Idwards? A Yes,sir, 
Q, Who was his father and mother? A Joseph M. and Ophelia Edwards. 
Q, Living or dead? A Living. 
Q, Married? A No, sir. 
Q Do jrou know Lula Edwards? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Living or dead? A Dead. 
Q Do you know Lula Edwards? A Yes ,sir. 
Q, Living or dead? A She is living. 
Q, Who is her father and mother? A Joseph M. Edwardw and 

Ophelia. 
Q, She married? A Yes,sir. 
Q, What is her present name? A I don't know, 
Q, Do you know Martha J, Edwards? A Yes,sir. 
Q She a sister of Charley and Lula? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Is she living? A Yes,sir. 
Q, What is her husband's name? A Oscar Smith. 
Q Do you know David L. Edwards? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Is she married? A Ho,sir. 
Q, She a sister of the other Edwards children? A Yes,sir. 
Q Do you know Edwards? A Yes ,sir. 
Q She living or dead? A She is living. 
Q, Who is her father and mother? A Augustus & Lucy Adams. 
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Q, She i s your granddaughter? A Y e s , s i r . 
Q, Do you know Ben P ? A Y e s , s i r . 
Q, Living or dead? A" Hiving. 
q - - - - - - -
Q, Do you know Rhoda L. Roper? A Yes,sir. 
i Who i s she? A 
Q, I s she l i v i n g or dead? A Liv ing . 
Q, Do you know Amanda Roper? A Y e s , s i r . 
Q, Who i s she? A She i s a s i s t e r of B e l l e . 
Q, Do you know Prank A. Leard? A Y e s , s i r . 
Q, Living or dead? A L i v i n g . 
Q, Who i s he? A He i s J u l i u s Lea rd ' s son. 
Q What was h i s mo the r ' s name? A Mary. 
Q, Do you know Z o r a A i Lewis? A Y e s , s i r . 
% I s she l i v i n g or dead? A She i s l i v i n g . 
Q, WJw was her f a t h e r and mother? A Edward M. Lewis and Sarah 

Lewis. 
Q, Do jrou know Edward H. Lewis? A Y e s , s i r . 
Q, Living or dead? A L iv ing . 
I Who was h i s f a t h e r and mother? A Edward Lewis & . 
Q Do you know >-? A Yes,sir. 
Q, She living or dead? A She is living. 
Q, Who was her father and mother? A Julius and Mary Leard. 
Q, Do you know Mat tie Leard? A Yes, sir. 
Q, Living or dead? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Sister of Susie Leard? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Do you know Willis Tabor? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Living or dead? A Living. 
Q, Who is his father and mother? A Sherman Tabor & . 
Q Do you know Ben Tabor? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Living or dead? A Living. 
Q, Brother of Will Tabor? A Yes ,sir. 
Q, Do you know Herschel Tabor? A Yes ,sir. 
Q, Is he living or dead? A He is living. 
Q, Who was his father and mother? A Angeline Tabor and Sherman 

Tabor. 
Q, Do you know Kyle Douglas? A Yes,sir. 
Q Is he living or dead? A Living. 
Q, Who was his father and mother? A Olivia and Kyle Douglas. 
Q, Is his father liting or dead? A Dead. 
Q, Do you know Henry Jordan? A Yes ,sir. 
Q, Is he living or dead? A Living. 
Q, Who was his father and mother? A Olivia Jordan -afterwards her 

name was Pryor. 
Q, She had b en married three times? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Do you know Rhoda Jordan? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Is she a sister of Henry Jordan? A Yes ,sir, 
Q, Living or dead? A Living. 
Q Do you know Zora Jordan? A Yes,sir* 
Q, Is she living or dead? A Dead. 
Q, Do you know George Pryor? A Yes,sir, 
Q, Who is his father andmother? A Sam Pryor and Olivia Pryor. 
Q Do you know James Pryor? A Yes ,sir. 
Q, Brother of George Pryor? A Yes,sir, 
Q You know Mary E. Pryor? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Is she living or dead? A Living. 
Q, She a sister of George Pryor? A Yes,sir. 

The next now is Ura C. Hicks, we do not care to appear for 
him any further, we ask leave to dismiss the case as to him at 
once. 
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Judge Eoote 

¥e are not going to dismiss anything here-Judge Weaver and 
myself. 

Mr. Earley: 

Q, Do you know James B. Lewis? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Is he living or dead? A Ee is living. 
Q, Who was his father and mother? A David Lewis and Lena Lewis. 
Q, What re]aation was David Lewis to 2rou? A My "brother. 
Q, Do you know Autha L. Lewis? A Yes, sir. 
Q Was she a sister of James M. Lewis? A No,sir. 
Q, Is she married? M No,sir; she is a child. 
Q, Do you know Oscar Lewis? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Is he living or dead? A Living. 
Q, Wh& was his father and mother? A Thomas P. Lewis &--- . 
Q Do you know Joseph W. Roper? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Is he living or dead? A Living. 
Q, Who was his father and mother? A E. C. Roper and Zora Roper. 
Q Do you know Joseph E. Leard? A Yes,sir. 
Q Is he living or dead? A Ee is living. 
Q Who was his father and mother? A David and Susanna Leard, who 

was my sister. 
Q, Do you know Belle Leard? A Yes,sir. 
Q Who was she? A Joseph E. Leard*s wife. 
Q, Eow old are you now Mrs . Early? A Forty-five years old. 
Q, Where were you married? A I was married in New Eope in the 

Choctaw Nation. 
Q, You remember when? A June 24, 1875. 
Q, Whom did you marr3<' ? A Preston Early. 
Q, Eow many children have you "by Preston Early now living? A I 

have two. 
Q, By whom were you married Mrs. Early? A Parson Sheppard. 
Q, Did they have any licenses at the time? A No,sir; thejr did 

not have to have any licenses at that time. 
Q You have lived with Mr. Early ever since as his wife? A Yes ,sir* 
Q, Was anybody present at the time of your marriage to Mr. Early? 

A Yes,sir. 
Q, Who? A I don't know of anybody except Ophelia Edwards and — -

they were present. 
Q, Your sister? A Yes, my sister. 
Q, Where were you born Mrs. Early? A In Mississippi. 
Q, In Mississippi? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Eow old were you when you left Mississippi? A I was about 

nine years old. 
Q Whereabouts were you born? A In Lawrence county. 
Q What postoffice? A Brookhaven. 
Q And lived in Mississippi until you were nine months old? A 

Yes,sir. 
Q, Do you remember anything that happened while you lived in 

Mississippi? A No, not a great deal. 
Q, You remember leaving there? A Yes; I remember leaving there. 
Q, When you left there where did you start for? A Eor the Indian 

Territory. 
Q, Why did you start from Mississippi to the Indian Territory; 

did you hear jrour parents say so? A Well I don't remember 
much about what they said but I know they were coming to the 
Indian Territory. 

Q, Did you go from Mississippi directly to the Indian Territory? 
A No,sir; we stopped in Arkansas. 
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| What place in Arkansas? A We first stopped in Monroe County-
my father did, stopped there and made a crop and then cane to 
Sebastian County. 

Q, Did he come near the line of the Territory? A Yes; we were 
not far from the line. 

Q, Did anyone else come along with 3rour party except your own 
familjr? A No,sir; not that I remember of. 

Q, Do you remember your father and mother? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Their looks and appearnce? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Did your father and mother look like Indians, did they claim to 

be Indians and if so what tribe? 

Mr. Cornish: 

The Choctaw and Chickasaw nations object to the introduction 
•'bf any testimony which tends to establish by hearsay anything 
except family relationship and pedigree and then only after the 
relationship of thw tiness to the person whose statements 
are sought to be reflected as been first established Toy testi­
mony other than his own. Our contention is that it is not com­
petent to establish a specific fact, racial status or blood 
by hearsay testimony. 

Judge Weaver: 

The objections will be considered by the Court. 

witness: 

A They claimed to be Choctaws. 
Q, State what appearance they had? A I don't remember how my 

father looked. He was gray when I can remember; I could not 
hardly tell you how he looked only I remember &hat he looked 
gray ever since I can remember. 

Q, How about your mother? A Mu mother did not show Indian. 
Q, How old was you when your father and mother died? A My mother 

is living. 
Q, How old were you when your father died? A I was about seventeen 

years old. 
Q, How old was your father when he died? A Sixty-two years old. 
Q/ Whom did you hear claim Indian blood; your father or mother? 
/ A My father. 
4 How did he claim to get his Indian blood; from ?/hom did you 

keard him say? A From his grandmother--no from his mother 
who was my grandmother. 
What was her name? A Her name was King before she married. 

(| Do you remember her fir st name? A Ho,sir; I haven heard my 
father tell but I don't remember. 
You did not know her personally? A No,sir. 

Cross examination by Mr. Cornish. 

Q, You were living in Okalhoma when this application was made in 
1896? A Yes,sir. 

Q, Where in Oklahoma? A Near Shawnee. 
Q, How long had you lived there before you made this application? 

A Why about three years I guess. 
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Q, What other members of this family-what other persons having 
families whose names appear in this application were living 
in Oklahoma at the same time; was Thomas P. Lewis living there? 
A Yes,sir. 

Q, What other persons were living there? A Thomas P. Lewis, Edward 
M. Lewis4« 

Q, What others? A Sarah Jane McKibben. 
Q, What others? A Why I don't reriember whether there were any 

others or not. 
Q, Well the Cowarts, were they living there at the time? A Thejr 

lived there but I don't know whether they lived there then or 
not. 

Q, Did Julius M. Leard live in Oklahoma with his family? A Yes,sir. 
Q, What other heads of families? A Roper and his family. 
Q Were not practicahly all of these people living in the terri­

tory of Oklahoma at that time or about that timeg the great 
majority of them were living there were they not? A I think 
they were--there were some living in the Indian Territory. 

Q, They went to the territory of Oklahoma to homestead land? 
A Some of them did. 

Q, Did your husband homestead land in Oklahoma? A Yes, sir, 
Q, Where? A North-East of Shawnee. 
Q, How much did he homestead? A 120 acres. 
Q What year did he enter that land—file his homestead papers? 

A In 1892. 
Q, Swore he was a citizen of the United States did he not? A I 

was not there. 
Q, How long did you live on that land Mrs. Early? A I could not 

tell you exactly but between five and six years. 
Q, Does your husband still own that land? A No,sir. 
Q, Did he sell it when he left there? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Did Thomas P. Lewis homestead land? A Ho,sir. 
Q, Where did he live, in Oklahoraa? A Ho, sir. 
Q, Are you sure of that? A Yes, sir. 
Q When did he remove from Okklahoma to the territory-what year? 

A I think it was '97. 
Q Edv/ard M. Lewis where did he live in Oklahoraa? A I can't remem­

ber the county tlawat he lived in. 
Q Did he live in a different part of the territory from you? A 

A Yes,sir. 
Q, He homesteaded lands? A Yes,sir. 
Q Then Edward M, Lewis, the present applicant in this case, 

homesteaded land in Oklahoma? A Yes,sir. 
Q, You know how much land? A Ho, sir. 
Q, What year did he enter this land? A I don't remember. 
Q, You don't know what kind of a citizen he claimed to be when 

he filed his homestead papers? A Ho,sir. 
Q, You don't know anything about that? A No,sir. 
Q, When did he remove from Oklahoma to the Indian Territory? A 

He removed in the Winter of 1897 or '98. 
^ You don't know whether ir was '97 or '98? A Ho,sir. 
Q, What did he do with his land when he left Oklahoma? A The 

River washed it away. 
Q, Did he make any disposition of if; did the river wash it all 

away? A I think he moved his house to one corner that was not 
washed away and then sold it. 

Q, Did McKibben homestead land? A Yes, sir. 
Q, What county did he homestead land in? A Pottowattomie. 



-28-

Q, That was down close to where you lived? A Yes, sir. 
Q, What did he do-with that land? A They sold it. 
Q, When did th«y remove to the Olhoctaw Nation? A At the same time 

that Edward Lewis did. 
Q, What other heads of families who are related to you homesteaded 

land in Oklahoma "besides these, that you remember? A Virgil 
Cowart, homesteaded there. 

Q, Who else? A Julius Leard I think. * 
Q, How about the Pryor people? A The never homesteaded land. 
Q How about the Jourdans? A They never homesteaded. 
Q, The Tabors? A Ho,sir; they did not. 
Q Where did Cov/art take up his land? A In Pottowattomie County. 
Q, How much land did he homestead? A 80 acres. 
Q, When did he leave Oklahoma â d move to the Choctaw Nation? A 

Why I don't remember what 3rear but I know he sold out and left 
there two" or three years before we left. 

Q, Where did Julius Leard take up land? A He took up land near 
Maud. 

Q, "What county was that in? A Pottowattomie County. 
Q, How much land did he take up? A I don't know. 
Q, Now about the physical condition of your mother; your mother 

is not bed ridden? A No,sir. 
Q, She moved about the place? A Yes,sir, 
Q, Does she live with you? A Yes, sir, 
Q, How far from the house has she gone within the past month? A 

Why she went out to see a sick lady the other day. 
Q, How far is that from where you live? A About hundredyrads. 
Q, Prom where you live? A Yes,sir, 
Q, When did she go to church the last time? A I forget-last July 

or August. 
Q, That is about two months ago? A Yes,sir, 
Q, Her condition now i s no worse than it was then; it is about the s 

same? A No,sir; I don't think so, some times she has a sick 
spell, 

Q, But her general condition now is just the same as it was 
when she went to church? A Yes,sir. 

Q, How far from your home is the church? A About a couple of miles. 
Q What other neighbors has she visited within the past few 

months? A She has not visited any, 
Q, You were born in Lawrence County, Mississippi and left there 

when you were nine years old? A Yes,sir. 
Q Then you were born in 1858? A Yes,sir, 
Q, You left there a year or two after the War; about __66 or '67? 

A We left there in *69, 
Q, Your father owned land there? A Yes, sir, 
Q Do you remember the place that you lived on? A I have a 

slight remembrance of it, 
Q, Close to what postoffice was it ? A Brookhaven, 
Q, What sized farm did your father own? A I couli not tell yoji. 
Q, Do you know from whom he bought that farm? A No,sir, 
Q, Do you know how he dispoed of it when he left there? A He sold 

it. 
Q Do 2?-ou know to whom he sold it? A No,sir. 
Q, He and his family moved West? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Where did you make your first stop after you left Mississippi? A 

Monroe County, Arkansas, 
Q, Was your father a farmer? A Yes,sir, 
Q, Did he make a crop there? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Rent land? A Yes,sir, 
Q, Did he own any land in Monroe County? A No,sir. 
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Q Where did you remove to from Monroe County? A We came on to 
Fort Smith. 

Q, The town of Ft Smith? A Yes,sir. 
Q, How long did you stay in the town of Port Smith? A Only a short 

time. 
Q Then you moved into the country? A Yes,sir. 
Q, Then where did you stop; where did you remove to when you moved 

out of the town of Ft Smit ? A Ten or twelve miles South 
of Ft Smith. 

Q, What was your neighborhood; down near to Jenny Lind? A No,sir; 
we were west of Jenny Lind. 

Q, Near Hackett City? A Pour miles North of Hackett City. 
Q, You moved, on a farm there? A Yes, sir. 
Q, How long did your father and his family live on that particular 

farm after you moved there; did your father own the farm? 
A Yes,sir. 

Q, What was the size of that farm? A Why I don't remember. 
Q Was it a good large farm or a small farm? A Small farm. 
Q, How far was that from the Indian Territory line? A Not over a 

mile. 
Q, It was never contended by your father or anybody that that 

farm was in the Indian Territory? A No,sir. 
Q, He knew that farm was in Arkansas? A Yes,sir. 
Q He knew he bought a farm in Arkansas? A Yes,sir. 
Q, You know what he gave for it? A No,sir. 
Q, How long did he live on it? A Two or three years. 
Q Fix the 3̂ ear as near as you can when you got on to that farm out 

of Ft Smith? A I think it was seventy-one. 
Q Now he lived on that farm two or three years? A Yes,sir. 
Q What did he do with the farm sell it? A No,sir; he died. 
Q, Died on the farm? A No,sir; but he owned it when he died. 
Q What year did he die? A He died in '75. 
Q, You made the statement some time ago that at the time you were 

married to Preston Early in 1874 or five that you did not pro­
cure a license because licenses were not required in the Choc­
taw nation, what did you mean by that statement? A Well they 
did not get licenses. 

Q, Who did get licenses? A Anybody that married. 
Q, You did not make any effort in complying with the Choctaw laws in 

marrying? A No,sir. 
Q, Then yon don't mean to create the impression to the coirt that 

you were married in accordance with the laws aftd requirements <£ 
the Choctaw nation did you? 

Mr. Harley: 

We object to that question because that is a matter of 
opinion-the witness may state the facts. 

Mr. Cornish: 

This lady made the statement and I think made it under a 
misapprehension now I want her to state----? 

Mr. Harley: 

We still object. If she states the facts her intention must 
be drawn by the court. 
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Judge Weaver: 

Q, Yoixr objection will be noted. 

Mr. Cornish: 

I 

Q 
% 

I 

Q, 

You don't mean to create the impression that yoji were 
marrying in the same way that the Choctaw Indians married; or 
did you mean to say that you married like everybody else 
that lived in the Choctaw nation at that time? A Yes,sir. 
Do you know anything about the application of these people 
to the Choctaw Bouncil for citizenship; did you have information 
and knowledge of the transaction that occurred before the 
council? A I was not there but I heard what was said about it. 
They went to council? A Yes,sir. 
And the council rejected them? A I don't know whether the 
council rejected them. 
You know that the council did not pass an act admitting them? 
A Yes,sir. 
These people made an effort to get the council to do that? 
A Yes, I reckon. 

Judge Poote: 

Q, You say you came from Lawrence county, Mississippi? 
Q, Prom near Brookhaven? A Yes,sir. 
Q, How far did you live from Brookhaven? A I 

it was not over eight or ten miles I guess. 
Q, You know in what direction, either below or on the railroad? 

A We did! not live 'on':the"railr6ad. 
Q, Did you live West or East of the railroad? A 

what direction we lived from Brookhaven. 
Q, Did you ever see any Indians down there? A 

any full-bloods, 
Q, They are down in South Mississippi are they not? 

A Yes,sir. 

don't remember but 

railroad? 

I don't remember 

I never seen 

A Yes,sir. 

adjournment u n t i l 10:00 A. M. September 2 3 , 1903. 



September 23% 1903. 

B e f o r e t h e Choctaw and Chickasaw C i t i z e n s h i p C o u r t . 

Z-0F&-P* iewifi ' / ' - 'e^ftl6!* a l > 

Vs* No. 58 

C & C N a t i o n s . 

-Har l ey & I,ewis f o r P l a i n t i f f s . 

It. M©M & C o r n i s h f o r N a t i o n s . . 

Be fo re J u d g e s Weaver & Foot®, 

Zo ra S, Bftr&y, b e i n g d u l y sworn t ook the s t a n d . 

BR MR. HAREEY. 

•Q.. F r s . "Parley t h e r e i s one o r two of t h e s e c l a i m a n t s t h a t we d i d 

no t a s k you f u l l y a b o u t y e s t e r d a y . Do y o u know W i l l i a m Oyer*? 

A. Yes s i r . 

QJ# Do you know h i s w i f e " 

A. Yes s i r . 

0.. What was ter name "before she m a r r i e d Oyer 9 

A. Her name was Lewis ; Zora Addie Lewis . 

0 . That was Zora A. L w i s 9 

A. Yes s i r , 

Q,. Who was h e r f a t 1B r and m o t h e r 0 

A. Edward M. Lewis and Laura IT. Lewis? 

0,. Edward M. Lewi* h e r f a t h e r was y o u r ' b r o t h e r ? 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q,. What i s h e r name now9 

A. S u s s a n a Goddard. 

0,. I s she l i v i n g o r dead 9 

A. She i s l i v i n g 

Q. Do you know whe ther o r she she m a r r i e d Gyer a f t e r h e r o r i g i n a l 

a p p l i c a t i o n was f i l e d w i t h t h e Dawes Commission o r "before9 

A, She m a r r i e d a f t e r w a r d . 

0,. Do you remember t h e y e a r ? 

A. I t h i n k i t was 9 8 . 



0,, Do you 3mow Jim Leard? 

A, Yes s i r . 

Q,. Who was h i s f a t h e r and mother'7 

A. 'David ,7. Leard and Susan L ard . 

A. His mother your s i s t e r ? 

A. Yes s i r . 

0,. Did you know h i s wife? 

A. Yes s i r . 

0,. i r 'hat was he r name? 

A. Mary Mar t in 0 

0. Ts she l i v i n g or dead0 

A, She is dead. 
CORNISH. 

0,. Your mother is still living0 

A, Yes sir. 

0.. Where was your f a t h e r born 0 

A. B o rn in Mis s i s s ipp i . 

0 . Where in M i s s i s s i p p i 

aA, I cannot t e l l you. 

Q,. In what year 0 

A; 1824, 

Q,, Have you heard your mother say where she was born and where she 

l i v e d before h e r marriage to your f a t h e r ? 

A. Unable to s t a t e t h a t , 

C. -rrhere in M i s s i s s i p p i , what county0 

A. Cannot t e l l you t h a t . 

O. Your f a t h e r was born in 1812° 

k. 1 d o n ' t know. Don ' t now --here he was born° 

0, Then vou are unable to s t a t e where he was born 0 

A. Yo s i r . 

Q, How are you ab le to s t a t e t h a t your f a t h e r was born in M i s s i s s i p p i 

a t a l l ° 

A. Heard him say t h a t he was , heard him. s t a t e the County. 

Q,. Not able to s t a t e in what County0 

A. No s i r . 



0,. Hot able to s t a t e in what County he heard he was 'born''' 

A. Ho s i r . 

. 0 . Who i s David J . Leard" 

A. He i s the fatfe r of J u l i u s Leard 

Q.. How is he r e l a t e d to you0 

A. Far l e d my s i s t e r . 

Q. What wa h e r name0 

A. Susanna. 

0,. L iv ing 0 

A. >To s i r . 

0,. "'hen did she d i ed 0 

A. Lied about t en or twelve years ago. 

Q,. Lied b e f o r e t h i s a p p l i c a t i o n was made to the Commission in 

1896° 

A. Yes s i r . 

0> Which of these a p p l i s a n t s j whieh of the a p p l i c a n t s in t h i s case 

whose names are mentioned in t h i s paper which L'r. H'arley had yes­

t e rday ; which of those persons do not now l i v e in the Choctaw-Chick­

asaw na t ions? 

A. All l i v e in the Choctaw Chickasaw Hat ions except Jim Leard, he 

i s an a p p l i c a n t . 

0,. What i s h i s f u l l name0 

A. James L. Leard. 

Q,. Low i s he r e l a t e d to you0 

A. Bro the r s c h i l d . 

0> "Nephew0 

A. YM s i r . 

0,. ?&e re does he l i v e ? 

A. In Oklahoma. 

Q. What County0 

A. Lcttowatomie County. 

Q. How I-Id is h e 0 

A. I guess he i s about, t w e n t y - t h r e e . 



0.. Own p r o p e r t y there? 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q.. Mother own p rope r ty there 0 . 

'A. Yes s i r , owned ft farm. 

Q. .How f a r from Shawnee0 

A. Seven or e i g h t m i l e s . 

0,. What s i ze farm was i t " 

A. Ah out e igh ty acftee, 

Q,. Is h i s f a t h e r l i v i n g ? 

A. F a t h e r dead. 

0,. Are t h e r e any other of these persons who l i v e ou t s ide of the 

Choctaw-Chickasaw Nation* a t t h i s time? 

A, Maude E a r l y is out of the Yat ionat t h i s t ime . Across the r i v e r 

in Oklahoma. 

0,. Married woman0 

A, Yes s i r . 

Q,. Vhat is h e r husbands name? 

A. 

Q. When did they go t h e r e 0 

A. t h i s s p r i n g . 

0,.. She i s an app l i can t in t h i s ca se 0 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q. Then I understand you to say t h a t the husband of t h i s woman i s not 

in t h e Indian T e r r i t o r y , hut l i v e s in Oklahoma upon rented land 9 

A. Yes s i r . 

0,. Year what post o f f i c e 0 

A. V i o l e t , Oklahoma T e r r i t o r y ; 

0,, Any o ther pe r sons who are n o n - r e s i d e n t s of the Choctaw and 

Ch ic k as aw Ya t io ns ? 

A. Don ' t r e c a l l any o t h e r s . 

Q,. How many c h i l d r e n did your mother Sora P. ewis have? 

A. Eleven, 

0,. Name them? 

A. Itodah T. , Edward M. , John S«, Susanna S«, Thomas P . , David S. , 



Mary p /> Sarah J . , Zora S . , Ohpelia S , , Will iam W. 

0,. Is Rhoda T. , l i v i n g 9 

A. Ho s i r . 

0.. XIa r r i ed "b ef ore she d ied" 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q,. Y/ho d id she marry 0 

A. Sara Cow a r t . 

Q,. P a r t y to t h i s s u i t ' ' 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q. John B. Living? 

A. Yo s i r . 

Q. Married "before he died 0 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q. Have ch i ld r en? 

A, TTad one c h i l d . 

Q.. That ch i ld l i v i n g ? 

A, Yes s i r . 

Q. Where ±& i s t h a t c h i l d l i v i n g 9 

A. Living in Lousiana. 

0,. The daughter of your 'b ro ther John B. i s now l i v i n g in the 

S t a t e of Lou is iana 9 

A. Yes s i r . 

v. Harr ied woman9 

A, Yes s i r . 

0,. Got two c h i l d r e n ? 

0, Daughter of John B, and te r c h i l d r e n and family are now in the 

S ta te of Louis iana and are not p a r t i e s to t h i s su iy 9 

A, Yes s i r . 

Q,. Sus ann a E . , 1 iv ing . 

A. 

Q. "Who did she marry? 

A. Married David Leard. 

Q,, Hav« c h i l d r e n 9 

A. Yes s i r . 



Q. Her ch i l d r en p q a r t i e s t o t h i s s u i t ? 

A. ^es s i r . 

Q,. Thomas P . p a r t y t o t h i s su i t ' ' 

A. Ye s s i r . 

Q,. Davis S. have c h i l d r e n ? 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q;. His c h i l d r e n p a r t i e s to t h i s s u i t ? 

A. Yes s i r . 

0,. Who d i d Mary P . marry 0 

A. She marr ied l i e fes . 

Q,. Is she and asiBbe and h e r ch i ld ren p a r t i e s to t h i s s u i t ? 

A. ~:res s i r h e r c h i l d i s 0 

0,. What i s h i s name0 

A. 1:1 r i c Hicks , 

o. Sarah J . ma r r i ed 0 

A. Yes s i r . 

0,. Wh«S did she marry? 

A. YcYibhen. 

0,. Sarah J . HcKIbhen in t h i s s u i t " 

A. veg s i r , 

Q,. What "brothers and s i s t e r s did your f a t h e r hasre? 

A. " r e l l I d o n ' t know t h a t he had any whole "brothers. He had some 

ha l f "brothers . 

Q,. Prom whom did your f a t h e r c la im to d e r i v e h i s Indian "blood0 

A. Prom h i s mother . 

Q,, How many h a l f "brothers and s i s t e r s did he have 0 

A. "Why 1 th ink he had t h r e e ha l f "brothers and one ha l f s i s t e r . 

0,, By t h e same mother or same f a t h e r 0 

A. Same f a t h e r . 

0,. Were t h e s e ha l f "brothers and s i s t e r s t ha t you mention not the 

c h i l d r e n of your f a t h e r s mother 0 

A. Ho s i r . 

Q. What c h i l d r e n "besides your f a t h e r did your f a t h e r s mother have0 

A. I do not remember ever hav ing seen mxf of t'-iem, 

wha.4- Viauft vou heard about i t ? 



A. One i s naned T e r r e s a . 

0 . Tha t i s t he c h i l d of y o u r f a t h e r s m o t h e r 0 

A, Yes s i r , 

0 . "What o t h e r c h i l d r e n d i d she have*' 

A. I c a n n o t remember t he names , 

0,. 'Did she have s e v e r a l o t h e r s 0 

A, Two o r t h r e e o t h e r s t h a t d i e d "before my r e c o l l e c t i o n , 

Q,. Your u n d e r s t a n d i n g t h a t they m a r r i e d and had a f a m i l y b e f o r e 

t h a t t i m e 0 

A. I d o n ' t know, 

Q. D o n ' t know a n y t h i n g abou t t h e s e c h i l d r e n of y o u r f a t h e r s m o t h e r 

and t h e i r descend ants'"' 

A. Ho s i r , 

Q,. What a b o u t T e r r e s a , d i d she m a r r y 0 

A. Yes s i r , 

Q. where a r e t h s d e s c e n d a n t s i f T e r r e s a 1 I T l ag a t t h i s t i m e 0 

A. M i s s i s s i p p i , 

JUDGE FOOTE: 

Live n e a r Brookhaven 0 

A. Yes s i r . 

w i t n e s s excused , 

THOMAS P . LEWIS, b e i n g i n t r o d u c e d as a w i t n e s s on b e h a l f of p l a i n ­

t i f f s , took the s t a n d , 

BY MR, HARLEY. 

Q, Y»ur name i s Thomas P# Lewis 0 

A. Yes s i r . 

<9J# Ho?; o ld a r e you Mr. Lew i s ? 

A, Born in 1349 . 

0., Where do you l i v e 0 

A, I l i v e t w e n t y - f ive m i l e s S o u t h - w e s t of harre i n t h e Choctaw 

Hat ion . 

Q. Wht4 i s y o u r p o s t o f f i c e 0 

A, S t u a r t . 



0,. You are one of the app l i can t s in t h i s case are you*? 

A. v e s s i r . 

0,. Are you r e l a t e d to F r s . Zora P a r l y ° 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q,, In what way? 

A. S i s t e r , f u l l s i s t e r . 

Q1# ]fhat was t h e nane of vour f a t h e r 0 

James IT. Lewis. 

0, What v/as your mothers name'-" 

AorSLP. Lewis. 

0,, "Do you know Marcus Lewis0 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q;. Wera you acquainted with him in Por t Smith, Arkansas0 

A. Yes s i r , 

. were you p resen t when he made an aff i dav i t with reference to the 

a p p l i c a n t s in t h i s case in T^ort Smith, Arkansas, "before Stephen 

Wheeler, United S t a t e s Coram iss ioner 0 

A. Yes s i r , 

0,. T w i l l ask you who signed t h a t a f f i d a v i t 0 

A. Fare us Lewis. 

"Aff idav i t handed w i t n e s s " . 

| 0,. Pead over i t and see if you recognize i t 0 

o,. Do you recognize t h a t a f f i d a v i t ? 

A. ^res s i r , to the "best of my "belief. 

0,. That a f f i d a v i t pu rpor t s to he signed "by Fare us Lewis, and to have 

"been taken "before Stephen Wheeler, United S t a t e s Commissioner a t Por t 

Smith, Arkansas. Tt hea r s no date and purpor t s t o have been wi t ­

nessed "by w. If. Me le t t e . Lid Marcus Lewis make t h a t a f f i d a v i t ? 

A. Yes s i r . 

\ Q,. Who was p r e s e n t 0 

| A. I was. 
\ 
O . I wish you would s t a t e as n e a r l y as vou can ah out what y e a r he 

Imade t h i s p a r t i c u l a r a f f i d a v i t ? 

A. I "believe i t was in '76 ; i t was not l a t e r than ' 77 . 



0,. Where were you h o r n , Mr. Lewi s 9 

Q. L i n c o l n Coun ty . 

Q. Hear what p o s t o f f i c e o r t r a d i n g p o i n t 0 

A. Brookhaven p o s t o f f i c e . 

Q. About how -par d i d you l i v e from Brookhaven 9 

A. I was h o r n in t h r e e m i l e s of Brookhaven , and when t h e r a i l r o a d 

pas sed t h r o u g h t h e r e i t was moved two m i l e s f u r t h e r away, and t h a t 

pu t me f i v e m i l e s away. A f t e r t h e I l l i n o i s C e n t r a l c a e through, t h r e 

t h e y moved t h e town two m i l e s f u r t h e r away, so Brookhaven of t oday 

would he a b o u t f i v o m i l e s from where I was b o r n , 

0. Which d i r e c t i o n was t h e town from where you were b o r n 0 

A. N o r t h e a s t . The town would b e N o r t h e a s t . 

0 . B i d you c o n t i n u e l i v i n g in t h a t same ne ighborhood u n t i l you l e f t 

M i s s i s s i p p i 0 

A, >To s i r , moved seven m i l e s f u r t h e r away. 

0,. Well d i d .you a f t e r w a r d s l e a v e M i s s i s s i p p i ? 

A. Yes s i r . 

0,. With, whom d M you l e a v e 9 

A. L e f t witfe my o l d e s t s i s t e r Bho&a T. Cowart . 

0,. "Where was y o u r f a t h e r a t t h a t t i m e 9 

A. In M i s s i s s i pp i , ye t , 

0.. You l e f t ahead of y o u r f a t h e r 9 

A. Yes s i r . 

0,. About how o l d were you when you l e f t M i s s i s s i p p i 9 

A. I was a b o u t twen ty y e a r s o ld , 

0,. When you l e f t M i s s i s s i p p i where d i d you s t a r t t o Mr. Lewis 9 

A. S t a r t e d t o t he Choctaw N a t i o n . 

o . Th i s p r e s e n t Choctaw Bat ion? 

A. v e s s i r , we d i d n o t s t a r t w i th the i n t e n t i o n of coming s t r a i g h t 

t h e r e a t t h a t t i m e , • • cane on i n t o A r k a n s a s and w a i t e d u n t i l fa t e r n 

came on. 

Q. B a t h e r a f t e r w a r d s j o i n e d you in A r k a n s a s 9 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Yes s i r . 

Remember i 

W i n t e r of 

about 

»6S. 

when y o u r f a the r j o i n e d y« u in A r k a n s a s 9 



Qi# Where did you s top when you came to Arkansas 9 

A. We stopped a t Claredon, Arkansas, Monroe County, stopped on White 

River , made a c rop t h e r e . 

, Q,. That is where your f a t h e r jo ined you with the r e s t of the family 9 

A. Yes s i r . 

0. How long did you s t a y the re" 

A. Wa l i v e d t h e r e u n t i l spring of 70, may have "been 71. 

Q,t When did you come to F©rt SMlth, Arkansas0 

A. Ah out 71. 

Q. Did you l i v e in ^ o r t Smith9 

A. wo s i r . 

Q, wha ra did you s e t t l e 0 

A. Ah out twelve or t h i r t e e n mi l e s from Por t 3m t h . 

Q.. Hear what po in t or post o f f i c e 9 

A. E n t e r p r i s e , E n t e r p r i s e about two and one ha l f or three m i l e s , 

between twelve and t h i r t e e n mi les from po r t Smith. 

Q,. How long did you. con t inue l i v i n g t h e r e 0 

A. I do not j u s t remember how long we s t a i d t he r e . 

0,. Did you af terwards come in to the Choctaw Hat ion9 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q,, Do ou remember about what, year y ou cane in to the Choctaw Ha-

t i on9 

A. Ma and my family moved into the Choctaw Nation in , th ink i t was 

74. I h d been in the Choctaw Hat ion and worked h e r e , bu t did not 

move my family u n t i l f a l l of 74. 

0. Did you ever see your grand f a t h e r and grand mother? 

AT saw my grand f a t h e r , bu t no t my grand mother. 

Q,. That was yeur grand f a t h e r on your f a t h e r s s i d e 9 

A, Yes s i r . 

Q. What was your grand f a t h e r s name9 

A. William Law i s , 

0. What was your grandmothers nme on your f a t h e r ' s s i d e 9 

A. My f a t h e r said h i s mother was named Susxanna. 

Q. What was he r name before she married your f a t h e r 9 

A. Heard t h a t i t was Susanna Kins:. 



Q. Have you "been advised as to her "being a white woman or an Indian 

"by your fami ly , and has i t been handed down to y ou "by family t r a d i t i o n 

as to what your grand f a t h e r was as t blood? 

COHJTTSH: 

.-ti^"" If the Court p lease I d e s i r e to H renew the ob jec t ion 

M êre in urged as to the i n t r o d u c t i o n of h e a r say tes t imony, which tends 
i 
to e s t a b l i s h any spec i f i c f a c t , as i t is the con t en t i on of the 

! 
| 
i Choctaw and Chickasaw Nations tha t he ay say test imony is only com-

'.petent to e s t a b l i s h r e l a t i o n s h i p , and p a r t i c u l a r l y i s i t not con-

etentt to Introduce h e a r say tes t imony where t he same tends to 

e s t a b l i s h b lood . 

/ A. I t has been my unders tanding from my family from my e a r l i e s t 

r e c o l l e c t i o n t h a t she was p a r t Choctaw. 

\ Q,, What was your unders tanding with r e fe rence to your grand f a t h e r , 

; as to whteher he was a whi te person or an Ind ian , as handed down to 

j you by your family t r a d i t i o n ? 

A. He was a white man b e s t of my r e c o l l e c t i o n . 

Q,. You elfc&ft your Indian blood through your grand mother, Susanna 

Lewis, formerly Susanna King'' 

A, Yes s i r . 

ff, were vou t o l d and was i t handed down to y»» bv your fami ly t r a -

d i t ion as to how much Indian blood your grand mother had0 

j A. My r e c o i l c t i o n was t h a t she was a h a l f b reed . 
I 
? Q. Hever saw your grand mother? 

; A. >is,.,.s±,r. 

AC* Did- y°u and the ba lance oft your b r o t h e r s and s i s t e r s , t o g e t h e r 
/ / 

/ with t h e i r f a m i l i e s make a p p l i c a t i o n to the Choctaw Council to be 
1 

admitted as members of the Choctaw t r i b e of I n d i a n s by blood? 

A. I d i d n ' t go myself, hu t my unders tanding i s tha t t h ree of them 

went, 

Q,. Who 

A, Pres ton 'fiarly, mother and s i s t e r Sue, 

Q. About when Aid they go before the Counci l , about what year'? 
A. I c a n ' t t e l l what y e a r i t was. 



Q,. Mr. Lev/is, what a your wifes name? 

A. Angeline H, Lewis, 

p.. L I T lag? 

A« Yes s i r . 

Q,. Have you any c h i l d r e n 9 

A. Yes s i r , I was ace id e n t l y marr ied twice, 

Q,, That i s the names of your c h i l d r e n 0 

A. Liddy. 

Q,, She Imarr ied? 

A. Yes s i r , 

Q,. Who did she marry0 

A. George A. Glarir, 

0,, He l i v i n g 0 

A. Yes s i r , 

0,. Her name i s Liddy Clark**? 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q. W&t* i s your next c h i l d 0 

A. Laura . 

0,. Living? 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q,, Laura, i s she marr ied? 

A. Yes s i r , 

Q,. "What a her hush aids name? 

A. ITamed I?. P. Lay i s , 

0,. Her name i s now Laura Davis 0 

A. Yes s i r . 

0 . She i s l i v i n g 0 

A. Ttf s i r . 

Q,. f h a t i s your ne x t a h i l d 0 

A. An thy Lewis, 

Q,. Ts she marr ied 0 

A. Ho s i r . 

Q, I she l i v i n g ? 

A. Yes s i r . 



Q,. What a the nane of your next c h i l d ? 

A. Oscar Lewis. 

0,. How old i s he*? 

A. Eight y e a r s old. 

. Q. Livings 

A. Yes s i r . 

0,. Have you any o t h e r s " 

A. No s i r . 

Q,, "Where were you and your p re sen t w i f e , Angeline N. Lewis mar r i ed 9 

A. Harr ied in the Creek Nat ion . Wt were l i r ing in the Choctaw Na­

t ion a t the time but went into the Creek Nat ion. Her and me "both 

were l i v i n g in the Choctaw Nation a t t ha t t ime . The m i n i s t e r l i v e d 

in the Creek Nat ion . 

Q. Well when you l e f t M i s s i s s i p p i jrou l e f t f o r the purpose of 

coming to the Choctaw Nat ion. "When you s t a r t e d to the Choc 1a. w Nat ion 

was your purpose in coming h e r e , why did you l eave M i s s i s s i p p i to 

come to the Choctaw Nation? 

A. To get homes here in the Nation. To l i v e here in the Nat ion . 

Q,. What caused you to th ink you could g e t homes h e r e in the Nation? 

A. Why we had l ea rned t h a t m would have no t roub le when coming he re 

in g e t t i n g homes. 

Q. Were you c la iming a t that time t h a t you were Choctaw Indians? 

A. Yes s i r . 

0:. Came h e r e f o r the purpose of s e t t l i n g with the Choctaws, t he 

Ind ians ? 

A. Yes s i r , 

Q.. Did you af terwards take up lands here? 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q,, J u s t as o ther Choctaws. Lid you t a k e lands and hold them j u s t 

as o ther Choctaws0 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q,. Have you seen your mother l a t e l y 9 

A. I have n o t saw h e r s i n c e May. 

Q. S t i l l l i v i n g so f a r as you know9 

A. Yes s i r so f a r as I know. 



BY MB. CORNISH: 

Q,. You say you and your f a t h e r and h i s f a m i l y l e f t M i s s i s s i p p i t o 

coome t o t h e Choctaw Hat ion? 

A. Yes s i r . 

0,. Why d i d n ' t you coxae0 

A. ^re d i d come, 

Q. I s i t n o t a f a c t t h a t your f a t h e r s t o p p e d in t h e S t a t e of Arkansas 

and To ought l a n d ? 

A. Ho s i r , 

Q,. How d i d he a c q u i r e t h a t l a n d n e a r H a c k e t t C i t y t h a t he owned? 

A. He "bought t h e improvements . 

0,. Fie a c q u i r e d t i t l e to t h e l a n d d i n ' t h e 0 He h a d the r i g h t to l i v e 

on i t in t h e S t a t e of Arkansas d i d n ' t he? 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q,. How much land was i t t h a t he "bought? 

A. Bought the improvements on e i g h t y a c r e s . 

0:. What d i d h e do with i t when he l e f t i t ? 

A. H o n ' t know. 

0,. S t a t e to t h e Cour t wha t you mean by s a y i n g t h a t he b o u g h t the 

improvements on e i g h t y a c r e s 0 What do you mean "by s a y i n g t h a t he 

b o u g h t improvements in A r k a n s a s ? 

A. Well t h e l a n d upon which h e bough t t h e improvements b e l o n g e d t o 

the S t a t e of A r k a n s a s , t he Government of t h e U n i t e d S t a t e s . 

Q:. "Didn ' t he e n t e r t h e l a n d unde r t h e laws of the U n i t e d S t a t e s 

f o r t h e p u r p o s e of a c q u i r i n g t i t l e t o i t a f t e r a c q u i r i n g t h e s e 

improvements*? 

A. I d o n ' t r e c o l l e c t . I b e l i e v e h e homes teaded i t . 

0. Do you mean t o c r e a t e the i m p r e s s i o n t h a t a Choctaw I n d i a n would 

b u t l a n d 0 

A, Ho s i r 

0,. Did he homes tead t h e l a n d ? 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q,. Tie en y o u r f a t h e r homes teaded l a n d in t h e S t a t e of Arkansas i n ­

s t e a d of coming to t h e Choctaw N a t i o n ? 

A . V« a • i r . 



Q. How f a r was t h a t from the l i n e of the Choctaw Nation? 

A. I c a n ' t t e l l . 

0,. About how f a r , you were t h e r e 0 

A. I t was l e s s then a m i l e . 

0,. I t was not in the Choctaw Nation0 

A. No s i r . 

Q, What excuse do you give f o r t ha t a f t e r you were on your v/ay 

to the Choctaw Nation as a Choctaw Ind ian 0 

A. What i s my excuse fo r what0 

0, If you f a t h e r claimed to he a Choctaw Indian and was on h i s way 

t o the Choctaw Nation to t ake up l and , why did he s top in the S ta t e 

of Arkansas a,nd homestead land? 

A. I cannot te l l . you. 

0,. Mien did you move to Oklahoma T e r r i t o r y ? 

A. 22nd day of Apr i l , 1889. 

0,. You went there to homestead land under the new opening of tha t 

country d i d n ' t you0 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q, Where d id you stop in Oklahoma0 

A. I s topped in Oklahoma C i ty . 

Q. How many of your "brothers went with you $0 Oklahoma? 

A. One my b r o t h e r in Louis iana . 

0,. Did he homestead land, when he g o t t h e r e 0 

A. I d o n ' t know. 

0,. What other pe rsons whose nane appear in t h i s s u i t went to 

Oklahoma about that t ime 0 

A. J u l i u a Leard, V i r g i l Cov.-art, H, c . Roper, Edward Lewis, I do not 

re a l l y kn ow the 0 th e r s . 

Q,. You s t a t ed t h a t you vent to Oklahoma f o r the purpose of homes tead-

ing land, d id you ge t any land 0 

A, Ho s i r co Id not f ind any. 

0. Why did you l eave the Choctaw Nation wi th i t s twelve m i l l i o n 

ac re s of land to go to Oklahoma? 

A. The f a c t was I was forced to l eave 



0,. Your people had gone to the Choctaw Council and endeavored to be 

adiai11 ed and were rej ec ted b j the Choct aw a u t h o r i t i e s ° 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q, Were K r e j e c t e d every time they made t h e i r a p p l i c a t i o n u n t i l 

the;/ got to the United S t a t e s Cour t 0 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q,. Now you s t a t e d in response to a suggested ques t i on by Mr, Hftrlty 

that you removed in 1870 and took up lands l i k e other Choctaws0 

A. I moved he re into the Nat ion and went to improving a p i see. 

0,. That p l a c e , d i d n ' t s e l l i t did you0 

A. No s i r . 

Q,. Were not recognized by the Choctaw t r i b a l a u t h o r i t i e s were you° 

A. I s t a i d there seven y e a r s . 

Q,. You were nerer recognized by the Choctaw t r i b a l government as a 

Choctaw Indian were you0 

A. We claimed a r i g h t . 

Q. You have j u s t said have you not t h a t your c la im was r e j e c t e d by 

the Counci l 0 

A. Yes s i r . 

0,. Were vou presen t when the a f f i d a v i t of Mrs. H e t t i s Hicj s was 

taken in 1896 by t h i s man !ves° 

A« I cannot say t h a t I was. 

Q,. Do you know or no t . 

A. T cannot say. 

Q,. Were you p resen t when the a f f i d a v i t of h e r husband", Thomas R. 

Hicks was taken? 

A. I was p r e s e n t when there was an a f f i d a v i t taken , bu t I disremem~ 

b e r the No ta r i e s name, but i t was no t in Oklahoma. 

Q. You were p r e s e n t when t h i s a f f i d a v i t of Thomas R. Hicks was w r i t ­

ten 0 

A. Yes s i r . 

0... Who wrote t h a t a f f i d a v i t 0 

A. I t ake t ha t w r i t e back. 

Q,. Where was i t taken 0 



Q,. 'Don't you remember who d id the meriting0 

A. No s i r . 

0,. You v/ere the r e p r e s e n t a t i v e of t h i s case when t h i s a f f i d a v i t was 

taken*7 

A, v e s s i r , bu t I d o n ' t rememte r t h e man's name. 

0, Were -you p resen t when the a f f i d a v i t of Jacob S. "Bender was taken'" 

A. No s i r . 

Q,. But yen were p r e s e n t when the a f f i dav i t of Hicks was taken , and 

you were there f o r the purpose of g e t t i n g tha t a f f i d a v i t ? 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q. What do you say about the a f f i d a v i t of J e s s e B, Moss? 

A. B o n ' t know, 

Q,. Was the a f f i d a v i t of Mrs, H e t t i e Hicks taken a t the same time as 

that of Thomas R, Hicks*"-* 

A. I th ink i t was. 

Q. Then J u l i u s M« Leard, V i r g i l Cowart, K. C. Roper, who are p a r t i e s 

to t h i s s u i t went to Oklahoma, a t the opening of t h a t count ry and 

homesteaded lands under the lawi of the United S t a t e s 0 

A. T d o n ' t know whether J u l i u s M, Leard homesteaded land . 

0.. V i r g i l Cowart, H. C. Roper, "Edward M, Lev/is homesteaded land*7 

A. "Ves s i r . 

Q,. You were p r e s e n t before Stephen Wheeler when t h i s a f f i d a v i t of 

Hare us Lewis was taken 0 

A. Yes s i r . 

0,. Where i s Marcus Lewis? 

A. I d o n ' t know. 

Q. Know t h a t he i s dead 0 

A. Lo n o t . 

Q,. Was the a f f i d a v i t of Sarah, h i s wife taken a t the same t ime 0 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q,. Lo not know tha t he i s dead do you? 

A. Ho s i r . 

Q,. 0,. You v/ere born in 1849, and were about twenty yea r s old when you 



l e f t the Sta te of M i s s i s s i p p i ? 

A. v e s s i r . 

$. "Father not horn in the S ta te of M i s s i s s i p p i 0 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q;. Whert was your f a t h e r t o r n " 

A. Bo rn in If i s s is s ipp i , So uth-We s t p a r t . 

Q. In what Counter0 

A. "Dont know t h a t i t was in Count ies when he was horn . 

Q,, Near what post o f f i c e 9 

A. Near Brookhaven. 

QJf How f a r from where he loved a t the time he l e f t there was i t " 

A. I d o n ' t remember eve r hear ing him point ou t . 

Q,. Don ' t know anything of your fa the r s l i f e from the time he was 

ho rn 0 

A, No s i r except from hea r say , said he was horn r i g h t there in the 

County. 

WAVER: 

Whe was t h i s Marcus Lewis, any r e l a t i o n of you r s 0 

A. Said he was an own cous in of f a t h e r . 

Q. How long s ince yew have heard anything of him or h i s w i fe 0 

A. Why i t has h een oyer twenty y e a r s . 

0,. 'Where was he l i v i n g a t the time the a f f i d a v i t was made0 

A, Liv ing ten or f i f t e e n mi l e s from Fort Smith, near where Major Pargar 

l j v g d . 

0,« Never seen them s ince they made the a f f i d a v i t 0 

A. One or twice , 

Q,, Never seen or h e a r of them f o r twenty y e a r s 0 

A, No s i r , 

%< "Rver made any e f f o r t to find, them? 

A. Yes s i r we made an e f for t to f i n d than when we were having our 

t r i a l s , We sen t r e p r e s e n t a t i v e s a l l over the Nat ion. Sent out 

pe rsons to hunt them a l l over the coun t ry . 

Cornish: 

Q.. "When was t h a t , "before tha t t ime 0 



A. Yes s i r . 

0,. How long "before they made t h i s a f f i d a v i t was i t t h a t you f i r s t 

saw them? 

A, Gannit rememb e r . 

0,. About how long . 

0,. Not more than a yea r or two. 

0,. Your f a t h e r was dead then, where was your f a t h e r at t h a t time ? 

A. I c a n ' t t e l l . 

Your f a t h e r died in Arkansas d i d n ' t h e 9 

A. "Fathed died in August 75. 

Q:, Are you ab le to s t a t e whether or not these people had ever seen 

your f a t h e r 0 

A. Sfe s i r . 

0,. Who got these Indians and took them to Port Smith. Marcus and 

Sarah Lewis'? 

A, I was in t h e p a r t y . 

Q,. Were they f u l l blood Choctaw Ind ians 9 

A, Haar ly f u l l blood Choctaw Ind ians , wife was f u l l b lood , d o n ' t 

t h ink he was q u i t e f u l l bood. 

Q, Look l i k e f u l l blood Choctaw Ind ians" 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q,, How old were these people 9 

A. Why I c a n ' t remember, 

Q,. About as old a.s you were then9 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q, When was t h a t about 1876, about twenty-seven years ago9 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q, How old are you now9 

A. f ifty»f©Tar y e a r s old. 

Q,. Then he was ah out twenty- seven years old. 

A",,Looked ahout as old then a s I am now. 

Q,. Old then as you are now? 

A. Yes s i r . 



Q. How o& was h i s wi fe 0 

A. About ""is age, d i d n ' t look l i k e a young woman. 

£,. "For what purpose did they make t h a t a f f i d a v i t ? What did they hope 

tp accomplish*5 

A. TToped to accomplish our c i t i z e n s h i p 0 

%t Kh»h and hav" 

A. Before the Counci l , 

Q. That a f f i d a v i t was made "before your a p p l i c a t i o n t Council? 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q. Then t h a t a f f i d a v i t was talien be fore the Council and used be ­

fore the Council? 

A. Fa,ther was s e n t down the re? 

Q. Then you d o n ' t know what occurred down there? 

A. Ho s i r . 

Q. Af f idav i t was c a r r i e d there by your f a t h e r ' ' 

/ . Yes s i r . 

0, Council r e j e c t e d you upon whatever showing was made*5 

A. Wm r e j e c t e d . 

JTJKffi DOOTE: 

You say you were b o m in Lincoln County, M i s s i s s i p p i in 1849? 

A. Yes s i r . 

0. were there any f u l l blood Indians l i v i n g there then 0 

A. Don ' t rememb e r we re any we re 1 iv ing . 

0,, Y©u know a l l the prominent white people in t h a t County? 

A. Know a good many of them. 

0,. Know Thomas R. Stockton, know R. H. Thomas, know Judge Cassada 

and Hi ram Cassda° 

A, Have heard of Judge Cassada ever s ince I can r e c o l l e c t . 

Q,. Acquainted wi th a good many white people in that County 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q. Did you undertake to pass as an Ird i an , your f a t h e r and the r e s t 

of them claimed to be white peop le 0 

A. YTiy we never denied "be ing Ind ian . i 



0,. Did anybody ever say you were Indians? 

A . T d o n ' t know what they sa id abou t i t . 

Q,. Your f a t h e r l i v e d there a g e r a t many yea r s d i d n ' t he ' ' 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q,. Bid he not r e g i s t e r and vote ' ' 

A. Yes s i r , he vo ted . 

Q, Made no e f f o r t to make any showing b y people who l i v e d the re in 

support of your c la im 9 

A. Marcus Lewis was from, tha t County, he was out he re . 

0,. That Countjr i s r i g h t on the r a i l r o a d running from Memphis, and 

been running f o r f o r t y yea r s ' ' 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q,. Lawrence County i s one of the b e s t c i v i l i z e d Counties in the Sta te? 

A. Cannot say t h a t . 

0,. 'Mever made any e f f o r t to ge t an:/ s t a tement from people back the re 

to show t h a t you were Ind i a n s . Why wsixx did jrou not go back the re 

ins tead of g e t t i n g people from Oklahoma and Creek Nation t h a t had 

l i ved in t h a t County. The f a c t is t ha t you did not make any e f f o r t 

in t h a t d i r e c t i o n 9 

A. Don ' t th ink we ever sent anybody back t h e r e . 

Cornish: 

Q,. Lid your f a t h e r or any one of your ances to r s somply w i th the 

requirements of t he fou r t een th a r t i c l e of t he t r e a t y of 1830 between 

t h e Choctaw Hat ion and the United S t a t e s ? 

A. Lon ' t know the f o u r t e e n t h a r t i c l e . 

Q. L i d n ' t so f a r as you know9 

A. Tio s i r . 

Q,. Lo you knew a n y t h i n g about the t r e a t y 9 

A. Ho s i r . 

0. L o n ' t know i f your f a t h e r ever had any. connect ion with the t r e a y9 

A. "Mo s i r . 

P. Then you d o n ' t know if your f a t h e r did anything9 

A. !To s i r . 



MR. HAHI3SY: 

Are you or y o u r f a t h e r l a w y e r s 9 

A. "o s i r . 

%t You had c o u n s e l employed to a d v i s e you and l o o k a f t e r y o u r i n t e r ­

e s t s ' 7 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q,. R e l i e d on t h e a d v i c e of y o u r x. l a w y e r s a s to what was r e q u i r e d 9 

A. Yes s i r . 

0 . v 0 u you c a l l e d a w e a l t h y man o r a man in m o d e r a t e c i r c u m s t a n c e s ? 

A. In modeea te c i r c u m s t a n c e s . 

0,. Are you a b l e to lave p e o p l e t r a v e l i n g ove r the s u r r o u n d i n g 

S t a t e s in s e a r c h of e v i d e n c e ' ' 

A. Yo s i r . 

Qt, You g a t h e r e d such ev idence in t h i s c o u n t r y as you c o u l d f i n d 

w i t h o u t going t o t h e u n n e c e s s a r y e x p e n s e of s e n d i n g r e p r e s e n t a t i v e s 

t o M i s s i s s i p p i 9 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q,, You have "been r e l y i n g upon t h e advice of your c o u n s e l as to t h e 

c h a r a c t e r of - v i d e n c e you s h o u l d t a k e in t h i s c a s e h a v e you? 

A. Yes s i r . 

Ho you mean to say t h a t y o u r c o u n s e l d i d n o t s u g g e s t to 

you t h e p r o p r i e t y of g e t t i n : w i t n e s s e s from t h a t s e c t i o n of t h e 

c o u n t r y from which your f a t h e r came9 

A. Never d i d . 

H a r l e y : 

Mr. Lewis a whi le ago i n answer t o a q u e s t i o n propounded by 

Mr. C o r n i s h , you s a i d t h a t .you and t h e o t h e r members of y o u r f a m i l y 

were f o r c e d t o l e a v e , I -wish you would s t a t e f u l l t h e f a c t s why you 

were f o r c e d to l e a v e ? 

A. Well i t was t h i s way, my b o r h t e r went t o s e e t h e Agent a t Muskogee 

I t was u n d e r s t o o d t h a t t h e y w e r e g o i n g t o pu t us o u t , and he went to 

s e e t h e Agent . 

0,. L id he go* t o s e e t h e Agent as t he r e p r e s e n t a t i v e of t h e g ova i n -



ment of t h e U n i t e d s t a t e s 9 

A. Yes s i r . , and t h e Age t t o l d him t h a t if he d i d n o t g e t o u t h e 

would pu t him. o u t . 

0,. Wel l when he was to&d t h a t "by t h e a g e n t h e came and a d v i s e d t h e 

r e s t of you 9 

A. ^ e s s i r . 

0,. I h t r a were you l i v i n g a t t h a t t i m e 9 

A. L i v i n g a t B rooken , Choctaw N a t i o n . 

Q. Were you h o l d i n g l a n d a t t h a t t ime? 

A Yes s i r . 

Q. What "bee arne of y o u r p l a v e when you l e f t i t ? 

A, T d o n t know what became of i t . 

Q,. S e l l y o u r improvements ' ' 

A. Sold i t on c r e d i t , b u t n e v e r g o t a n y t h i n g out of i t . 

0,. To whom d i d you s e l l i t ? 

A. To Richmond I'cGee. 

COKfXSS: 

Q,. Then i t i s a f a c t t h a t you and t h e s e a p p l i c a n t s were p r a c t i c a l l y 

p u t ou t of t he Choctaw N a t i o n by t h e U n i t e d s t a t e s a u t h o r i t i e s 0 

A. C a l l i t what you p l e a s e . 

0 . A f t e r you had been t o the C o u n c i l 0 

A. Ves s i r . 

Q,. Then t h e I n d i a n Agent t o l d you t o g e t out and you g o t 9 

A. Yes s i r . 

w i t n e s s e x c u s e d . 

B. H. BAIEEY, a v / i t n e s s f o r t h e p l a i n t i f f s , b e i n g n e x t d u l y sworn 

took t h e s t a n d . 

BY MR. HAKLflY: 

0,, S t a t e your name9 

A. Bag amine H. B a i l e y . 

0,. How o l d a r e you C a p t a i n ? 

A. S i x t y - f o u r y e a r s o l d . 

Q. Where do you l i v e ? 

, +.V, •»«"_ A -> ~ . 



Q, How long h a r e you l i v e d h e r e 0 

A. About t h i r t e e n y e a r s , eve'- s i n c e the town h a s "been b u i l t . 

0 . How l o n g h l t l you l i v e d in t h e I n l a n Ti r r i t o r y ? 

A, A l t o g e t h e r I t h i n k a b o u t f i f t y - f i v e or f i f t y - s i x y e a r s i n t h e 

I n d i an T e r r 11 o r y . 

0:. What b u s i n e s s a re you engaged i n now? 

A. Not engaged i n any b u s i n e s s r i g h t now, I am on t h e e q u a l i z a t i o n 

b o a r d in t he c i t y r i g h t now. 

0;. What b u s i n e s s have you been engaged i n d u r i n g t h e g r e a t e r p a r t 

of t h e t ime C a p t a i n ? 

A. M e r c a n t i l e b u s i n e s s , 

Q,. Did yo\ e v e r know Zora P . Lewi s , one of t h e a p p l i c a n t s i n t h i s 

c a s e " 

A. Yes s i r . 

0,. Know h e r hu b and9 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q,.WBQaatwwas h i s name0 

A. "Name was .Tames. 

0 . "Where did you f i r s t know them, C a p t a i n 0 

A. Where d id I f i r s t know them0 

€>. Yes s i r ? 

A. They camped in f r o n t of my s t o r e , abou t t en m i l e s South of "Fort 

Smi th , a l i t t l e v i l l a g e named E n t e r p r i s e in 1S70, I b e l i e v e i t 

w a s . 

P.. Say they camped i n f r o n t of y o u r s t o r e 0 

A. Yes s i r . 

0,. Knew where they were from? 

CORNISH: 

W i l l the C o u r t pe rmi t to go i n t o t h e r e c o r d t h e h e a r s a y t e s t i m o n y 

of t h e s e a p p l i c a n t s made to t h i s w i t n e s s . 

WEAVER: I t h i n k Mr. C o r n i s h we wi l} . p r o c e e d . 

A. I d o n ' t know s i r where they were f rom, s a i d they were from M i s s ­

i s s i p p i . 

0„ What were t h e y C a p t a i n w i t h r e f e r e n c e t o b e i n g I n d i a n s o r w h i t s 

p e o p l e ? 



CORNISH: 

1 would s t o p and t a k e a s t a n d in t h e c a s e t h a t t h i s q u e s ­

t i o n shou ld n o t h e answered . I t seems t o me t h a t i t i s a d i s g r a c e 

t o t h e Cour t to make an e f f o r t t o i n t r o d u c e such t e s t i m o n y . I t seems 

to me t h a t i t i s a d i s g r a c e to t h e Cour t t o p r o c e e d w i t h o u t r ega rd 

to t h e p r o p r i e t y and. t h e Cour t shou ld n o t p e r m i t i t . Nobody knows 

what w i l l "become of t h i s r e c o r d , and i t d o e s seem t o me , t h a t i t 

i s a d i s c o u r t e s y to o f f e r i t . 

FARLEY: 

R e a l l y I am n o t in t h e h a b i t of h a v i n g c o u n s e l t a l k to me 

in s u c h a way, I am not in t he hah i t of s e e i n g my h o n o r and my 

r e p u t a t i o n as a l a w y e r q u e s t i o n e d . 

CORNISH: 

I d e s i r e to sa,y t h a t I in no way a s s a i l e d your s t a n d ­

ing as a l a w y e r , bu t I d i d s ay t h a t t h e q u e s t i o n ,;just a.sked t h i s 

w i t n e s s was an i n s u l t . 

JUDGE POOWJ 

The s i t u a t i o n a s I u n d e r s t a n d i t i s i s t h a t we a r e no t 

go ing to r u l e out any e v i d e n c e a t t h i s t i m e . 

JUDGE fOOTX: 

An swe r t h e q ue s t i on. 

A. Wel l I d o n ' t know t h a t I c a n . I h a r d l y know how to answer t h a t 

q u e s t i o n . I can t h i s some of them l o o k e d l i k e I n d i a n s , and some of 

them d id n o t show t h e i r I n d i a n b l o o d . Some of t h e f a m i l y d i d n o t 

have the I n d i a n look a t a l l . I b e l i e v e t h a t if' about the o n l y way 

I can answer i t . 

Q,, Some of them you say d id n o t l i k e l i k e I n d i a n s , d i d some of them 

1 o c,k 1 ike Ind i an s? 

A. Yes s i r some of them looked v e r y much l i k e I n d i a n s . 

Q,. You have l i v e d among the I n d i a n s n e a r l y a l l your l i f e ? 

A. Yes s i r , I have t r a d e d p r e t t y much a l l my l i f e w i t h t h c i v i l i z e d 

I n d i a n s and in f a c t w i t h t he b l a n k e t I n d i a n s . 

0,. Now C a p t a i n I w i s h you would s t a t e t h e names of t h e p a r t i e s t h e r e 

t h a t you can r e c a l l a t t h i s t ime? 



A« I d o n ' t know t h a t T can , i t has he-en so long s i n c e I knew them I 

do not know t h a t I can s t a t e the nanes . 

©,. Can you g ive any0 

A. One of the hoys t ha t showed the Ind ian , I do not remember h i s name. 

0,. Give the names of any of the c h i l d r e n of Zora P. Lewis who were 

with the p a r t y at t h a t time? 

A. There were two or th ree of the choldren t h a t showed the Indian more 

t h a n - -

0,. I do not mean with r e f e r ence to showing the Ind ian , hu t g ive the 

names of such of the c h i l d r e n of Zora P. Lewis ha t you can rememhe r 

or t h a t you know to he t h e i r c h i l d r e n 9 

A. There was Tom, and I b e l i e v e one t h a t was named Dave, I haye f o r ­

g o t t e n t h a i r names. Nebtr was i n t i m a t e l y acquainted with them, 

they used to come to the store and t r a d e . 

Q,# Know Mrs. E a r l y over t h e r e 0 

A. Don ' t h e l i e y e I d id , d o n ' t rememhe r h e r . 

Q,. Remember Mrs. 'Edwards h e r e 0 

A. Yes s i r I remember h e r . I remember h e r because I have been a t t h e i r 

house s i n c e , probably about tv/enty yea r s ago, when they were on 
Q 

Canadian River , I was buying c a t t l e . Stopped t h e r e at t h e i r house. 

G>. Remember he r giyen name? 

A. J-TO s i r I do no t . 

Q. Stopped at their house about twenty years ago? 

A. Yessir. 

Q. Were hey l i v i n g on the lands as Choc taws or where they l i v i n g 
/ 

/ there as the te rmants of o ther p a r t i e s ? 

A. They were l i v i n g t h e r e as Ohoctaws. Had a farm and was r a i s i n g 

s t ock . had about e ighteen or tv/enty head of oat t i t t h e r e at one 

t ime . 

0,. Paraa of t h e i r own° 

A"."""'Yes s i r . 

Q. "Who did Mrs. Edwards marry, what i s t h e name of h e r husband? 

A. J . A. Edwards. 

Q. Know him? 



A. Yes s i r . 

0. About how long have yot» known Joe Edwards? 

. A. I d o n ' t know I have not seen much of him fo r the l a s t twenty-

f i v e y e a r s , th ink i t was 70, "but i t was ah out then, 

Q, Do you r e c a l l the nanes of any o ther ch i ld ren ' ' 

A. Wel l - t he re was one tha t marr ied a man named heard and one marr ied 

a man named C. P, Hicks, 

0,. Now Capta in you say tha t when you f i r s t met them they camped in 

f ron t of your s t o r e , d d they l i v e in t h a t community? 

A, Yes s i r they l i ved about a, mi le or two mi les and a h a l f from me 

j u s t on the l i n e . Eo not know how long, not over a yea r . 

Q. Where did t h e y mew? 

A. Moved in to the Choctaw Nat ion. 

Q,. Now c a p t a i n do you remember with re ference to thefamily of Zora 

Lewis and h e r husband James Lewis, as to who showed the Indian blood 

uhe most , the boys or the g i r l s ? 

A, I donkt know t h a t . I e be l i eve though tha t Mrs. hea rd , the o l d e s t 

one showed Ind i an more than any of the b a l a n c e . That is my im­

p re s s ion j u s t now. 

/'''Q,.'"TJO you know whether they were recog ized in any way as Indians or 

not Captain? 

A. No s i r I c a n ' t say as to t h a t , I th ink though t h a t they were gen­

e r a l l y looked u pon as Ind i ans . They claimed to be Ind ians when they 

4.£t came t h e r e , 

Q... Ydu are no t r e l a t ed to any of t he se p a r t i e s i s any way? 

A. No s i r . 

0. No i n t e r e s t in t h i s case? 

A. No s i r . 

0ORNISH: 
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ance of Indiana blood 0 

A, No s i r Iccannot say tha t T can except Mrs. Leard. 

Q," Grown woman a t tha.t t ime? 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q.. Is i t not a f a c t t h a t t h i s man James M. Lewis homesteaded land 

c lose to you0 

A. Ho s i r . 

Q,. You have no knowledge of t h i s raan har ing homosteaded land re a r 

you? 

A. Ho s i r . 

Q,. I h t u was i t tha t you knew t h i s man Edwards in the Choctaw Nation? 

A. Some yea r s ago. 

0,. Hew long was t h a t ? 

A. About twenty yea r s ago, i t may have been twenty-one years ago. 

Q. You say he was l i v i n g t h e r e as a Choctaw Indian . How are you 

able to make t h a t s ta tement - what do you base t h a t on? 

A. Well only in t h i s way he had a farm there and cl aimed to be a. 

Choctaw c i t i z e n , 

0,. You do not have any knowledge of the a p p l i c a t i o n of these people 

to the Choctaw Counci l , and the r e j e c t i o n of t h e i r c la im by the 

Choctaw Hat ion9 

A. Ho s i r. 

0,, You met Joe Edwards twen ty - f ive years ago? 

A. Yes s i r . 

0,. Havr you any information of him having sold h i s plaoe ? 

A. Ho s i r . 

JUDOS TOOT!: 

You sa id t h a t they had Indian b lood, are you s u f f i c i e n t of 

an expe r t of pe r sons having Ind ian blood t h a t a man having on fou r th 

or one eir?ht blood can. y©W t e l l t h a t he was Indian? 

A; I d i d ' n t spy t h a t they we re 'Indians. 

0. I am asking you i f a person having t h a t degree of blood can you 

t e l l I t ? 

A. Ho s i r . wi tness excused. 



MRS, LYDXA CLARK, being f i r s t du ly sworn took the s tand . 

BY MR. HAKLET. 

'Q,. How old are your Yrs . Clark 0 

A. T e e n t y seven. 

Q,. What is your post of : ' ice p resen t t ime 0 

A, S t u a r t . 

Q,. Live nea r S tua r t in the Choctaw Nat ion" 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q,. What i s your husbands name0 

A. Qeorge C l a r k . 

0,. I s he l i v ing ? 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q.. Who was your f a t h e r and mother' ' 

A. T. P« and Amanda Lewis, 

Q. Thomas P. Lewis, the wi tness who has t e s t i f i e d 0 

A. Yes s i r . 

When were 3/ou and your husband f i r s t mar r i ed 0 

A. Yovember 25, 1894. 

0,. Where were you marr ied? 

A. P r a t t County, Oklahoma. 

Q,. Were you and your husband a f t e r e a r d s marr ied again? 

A, Yes s i r . 

0.. When was tha t° 

A. In August 98 . 

Q> f h t r « were you m a r r l t d t h a t t ime 0 

A. Here in McAeste r . 

Q,. Had you and your husband been divorced 0 

A. If© s i r . 

;,4. Married the second time f o r the purpose of complying wi th the 

Choctaw law wi th reference to mar r iage 0 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q. When you were marr ied the second time did your husband procure 

marr iage l i c ense in accordance with the laws of the Choctaw Ha-



t i o n ? 

A. Yes s i r , 

0,. Did he comply w i t h t he Choctaw lav/ in a l l r e s p e c t s in t h a t mar­

riage*? 

A, I d o n ' t know, d o n ' t know what t he laws a r e . 

Q,. Well d i d he g e t a l i c e n s e from the Choctaw a u t h o r i t i e s ? 

A. He sa id t h a t h e d i d . 

0 . What "became of y o u r Marr iage l i c e n s e a n d c e r t i f i c a t e t h a t you 

go t when you m a r r i e d t h e second t i m e 0 

A. I d o n ' t know. 

Q, D o n ' t know where i t i s now*7 

A. TTo s i r . 

Q,. Have you any c h i l d r e n 9 

A. Fo s i r . 

ft* COHETISH: 

Q,. Wha teve r may h a v e been done w i t h r e f e r e n c e to t h i s JE second 

m a r r i a g e about which you s p e a k , i t was a f t e r you and t h e o t h e r 

a p p l i c a n t s xx. in t h i s c a s e had been a d m i t t e d by Judge C l a y t o n s Ceufc 

was i t n o t 9 

A. Yes s i r . 

w i t n e s s e x c u s e 4 / 

WILLIAM KYLE, a wi twss f o r t he p l a i n t i f f s , be ing f i r s t d u l y sworn 

took t h e s tarid. 

BY MR. HAPI/RY: 

Q,. v o u r name i s W i l l i a m K y l e 9 

A. Yes s i r . 

0,. Ma, r r i e d 9 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q. What was y o u r w i f e ' s name b e f o r e you m a r r i e d h e r ? 

A. Zora. A. Lev; is . 

Q,. Who was t h e f a t h e r and m o t h e r of your w i f e ? 

A. "Edward. M. Lewis and Sarah P , Lewis . 

Q. When were you f i r s t m a r r i e d to y o u r w i f e 9 

A? On September 6 ' 9 8 . 



0,. Q,. f i r s t t ime you were m a r r i e d " 

A. Yes s i r . 

•Q,. She now l i v i n g i s s h e 9 

A. Yes s i r . 

, /Q, . When you m a r r i e d y o u r w i f e d i d ou comply w i t h t he l a v s of t h e 

Choctaw N a t i o n w i t h r e f e r e n c e to t h e m a r r i a g e of c i t i z e n s of t he 

I Choctaw N a t i o n ? 

A. No s i r . 

0,. Bid you a f t e r - s a r d s m a r r y your w i f e aga in? 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q,. When was the second m a r r i a g e ? 

A. 1 8 9 f \ 

Q,. Had you "betin d i v e ced from your wife*5 

A. No s i r . 

/Q,. You m a r r i e d the s e c o n d t ime f o r t h e pu rpose of comply ing w i t h 

-the l aws of t h e Choctav/ 17a t ion w i t h r e f e r e n c e t o the m a r r i a g e w i t 

1 members of t h a t t r i b e 0 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q.. Where w e r e you m a r r i e d the s e c o n d t ime? 

A, Sou th M c A l e s t e r , 

Q,. In whose o f f i c e , o r what p l a c e i n South M c A l e s t e r 0 

A. In Mr. L i n d l y ' s o f f i c e , M. M, L i n d l y . 

%, Did you comply w i t h the laws of the Choctaw N a t i o n i n y o u r 

s e c o n d m a r r i a g e . 

\ A. Yes s i r . 
l 

Q,, Bid you p r o c u r e a l i c e n s e from t h e Choctaw a u t h o r i t i e s ? 
i 

i A, Yes s i r . 
1 
I 0,. Wh&t was the l i c e n s e f e e th t you pa id ' 1 

U . §100 .00 
I s 

)0.. Pa id t h a t t o the Choctav/ t r i b a l a u t h o r i t i e s ' 7 

J A. Yes s i r / C i t r i c ¥ c C l u r e . 

.. \Q,. Bid you then g e t the l i c e n s e from t h e Choctav/ a u t h o r i t i e s ? 

\A. Yes s i r . 

t h a t l i c e n s e and m a r r i a g e c e r t i f i c a t e t h a t you got a t 



tha t time*? 

A. I suppose i t i s with the Dawes Commission. 

Q. What did you do with i t ? 

A. I p resen ted i t to the ."Dawes Commission he re a t South McAlester, 

and they taken i t up. 

Q. Now in the possess ion of the Dawes Commission, or some o t h e r 

o f f i c e r of the I n t e r i o r Department? 

A. Yes s i r , 

Q,. Vow l i v i n g w i th you wife? 

A. Yes s i r , 

Q, Same woman to whom you were marr ied "both times? 

A, Yes s i r . 

Q. Have you any c h i l d r e n 0 

A. Yap s i r . 

Q. What are t h e i r names" 

A, "Edith Kay and F ie ld ing Law i s , 

Q. Wh»m do you l i ve now Mr. Kyle0 

A. Live in the Chickasaw Nation. 

Q,. What i s your post o f f i ce" 

A, Center . 

Q,, How long have you l i re d in t h a t community? 

A. Ah out four y e a r s . 

CORNISH. 

Q,, Why d i d n ' t .you get a Choctaw l i c ense when you marr iad h e r t h e 

f i r s t time? 

A. Well she was not e n r o l l e d . 

Q. You. mar r ied h e r in ' 9 8 , why d i d n ' t you get a Choctaw mar r iage 

l i c e n s e then . 

A, I d o n ' t know why I d i d n ' t . 

0,, Did the m a t t e r of the i s suance of t h i s marr ia e c e r t i f i c a t e 

depend upon the render ing of a judgment in he r favor "by the United 

S ta t e s Court f o r t he C e n t r a l D i s t r i c t of the Indian T e r r i t o r y ? 

A. The judgment had he n rendered "before I married the f i r s t t ime. 

Q. Afterwards were marr ied a second t ime 9 

A. Yes s i r , wi tness exn us«^ -



PHEBTOH EARLY, ( r e c a l l e d ) 

BY MR. HARLFY. 

0,. Mr. E a r l y , I w i l l a s k you i f you went w i t h Mrs . Zora P . Lewis 

and any of t h e o t h e r a p p l i c a n t ! in t h i s c a s e b e f o r e the Choctaw 

C o u n c i l in t h i s c l a t a ? 

A. I wen t t h e r e , Z o r a P . Lewis and h e r d a u g h t e r We t aken t h e p a p e r 

to C o u n c i l , b u t c o u l d n o t g e t a v o t e . -Said t h a t t h a y would n o t 

l e t us p r e s e n t them u n l e s s t h a y had twe t y - f i v e d o l l a r s . And The 

asked M x m e t w e n t y - f i v e d o l l a r s j u s t to p r e s e n t the p a p e r b e f o r e 

the C o u n c i l . Thay were work ing a g a i n s t me, Mr. Lewis was , Simon 

Lev/ is . They came down t o our camp and s a i d peop l e you w i l l n e v e r 

g e t on, Mr, Lewis i s work ing a g a i n s t you . 

Q,. L id you e v e r p r e s e n t your c l a i m to t he C o u n c i l ? 

A. I p r e s e n t e d by c l a i m to t h e P r i n c i p a l Ch i f in o ld M c A l e s t e r , 

he was about t h e r e on b u s i n e s s of some k i n d and I p r e s e n t e d by 

p a p e r to h im. 

0,. Tha t was n o t a t t h e C o u n c i l 9 

A. 2To s i r . 

Q,. l h«B you g o t to t h e C o u n c i l d i d y o u r p a p e r e v e r go b e f o r e the 

Counc i l ^ 

A. Ho s i r . 

Q,. These m a t t e r s came up and you were n e v e r b e f o r e t h e Counc i l 

we r e jrou9 

A. Hare r w a s . 

Q,. You r member when i t was t h a t you went to the C o u n c i l ' ' 

A. I t was abou t 77, or s e v e n t e e n y e a r s a g o , r i g h t a l o n g about t h a t 

t i m e . 

Q,.Lo you remember who was P r i n c i p a l Chief of t h e Choctaw N a t i o n 

a t t h a t t i m e ? 

A, Lo not remember h i s name. Cannot c a l l h i s name. 

Q. Did you t a k e v/ i th you on t h a t o c c a s i o n the a f f i d a v i t of Edward 

M. Lewis and Xjeaacs h i s v / i f e , d id you c a r r y them w i t h you when you 

e n t to C o u n c i l . 



A. We c a r r i e d the old a f f i d a v i t of t h i s Lewis, Marcus Lewis, old 

) pape r s , h u t did not p resen t them. 

WoEHISH: 

0,. How mant times did you go to Council in t h i s case? 

A. One t ime . 

Q,. who went on the o the r occas ions when the c la im was presented? 

A. I d o n ' t know. 

0,. Is i t no t a f a c t t h a t t i i is clajm was presented to Council on 

severa l d i f f e r e n t occasions? 

A. ! « s i r . 

Q. Don ' t you know as a f a c t t h a t ' this c la im was p resen ted to Coun 

c i l a t a d i f f e r e n t time than when 2/ou were the re? 

A. No s i r . 

Q,. Then if the s t a t emen t i s con ta ined in t h i s record t h a t i t was 

then t h a t statemen t . i s not t r u e so f a r v a s your pe rsona ly knowl­

edge i s concerned' ' 

A. I d o n ' t know anything about i t . 

Q,. You have knowledhe of t h e p r e s e n t a t i o n of t h i s c la im to Coun-

c i l s e ve r a l t ime s ? 

A. No s i r . 

Q,. Where were you l i v i n g a t the time t h i s order came from the 

India n Agent for these people to c l e a r out of the Choctaw Nation? 

A. South Canadian. 

0,. How did t h a t information reach you0 

A. I h e a r ' t ey were going to put us off0 

0,. How did you hea r t h a t , from the a u t h o r i t i e s inn the County? 

A. I heard from the a u t h o r i t i e s in the County t h e r e t ha t the 

government of t he United t a t e s and i t s r e p r e s e n t a t i v e s considered 

our family as i n t r u d e r s and tha t they would put us out . 

0,. Did ye« ge t out? 

A. Yes s i r we go t out, Edward Lewis went up to Muskogee and he 

found tha t we had to ge t out . 

0:. That was a f t e r t h i s claim was presented to the Counci l 9 

A. No s i r b e f o r e . 



0,. When was i t t h a t yen l i v e d in Oklahoma, t h a t you arrived, in 

Oklahoma? 

A. 1893, I t h i n k i t was, 

Q,. How long a f t e r was" tha t t ha t you understood the Indian Agent 

was going to pu t you out of the country? 

A, Somewheres about e igh t y e a r s . 

Q. Then i t i s not a f a c t that when you went to Oklahoma in 1893 

to excape the act ion of the United S t a t e s Indian Agent in p u t t i n g you 

out of the Choctaw Nation? 

A. No we went across the Eiver in to the O'erokee and s t a i d the re a 

wh i l e . 

Q,. You were not pushed into Oklahoma "by any f e a r t h a t the Choctaw; 

Nation was going to put you out of t h e Choctaw Nat ion 9 

A. No s i r . 

Q,. I t was not the imminent a c t i o n of the Ind ian Agent t h a t pushed 

you in to Oklahoma? 

A. No s i r . 

Q. fix at d id you go in to Oklahoma in 1892 for? 

A. t i n t up there and found th ree f o r t i e s t h a t nobody had a l l o t t e d , 

and I thought i t was worth a l l o t t i n g , and I taken i t up, 

Q,. T?here was t h a t land in Oklahoma? 

A, About seven mi les from Shawnee. 

Q. Your wife claimed to be a Choc few? 

A. Yes s i r , 

0,. You took h e r claim xx along wi th the ba lance when 3.̂0 u went 

d i d n ' t you? 

A. Yes s i r same t h i n g . 

Q,, You honesteaded t h a t land in 1892? 

A. In 1893. 

Q. How long d id you l i r e on t h a t land? 

A. About s i x y e a r s . 

Q,. You acquired t i t l e to the land d i d n ' t you? 

A. No s i r I d id not g e t no t i t l e to i t , I bought i t out , I paid a 

d o l l a r and a q u a r t e r an acre fo r i t . 



Q. When you l e f t you sold whatever i n t e r e s t you had in the land 

djdn' t you? 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q: You were l i v i n g in Oklahoma in 1896? 

A. Yes s i r , I reckon about that time I moved to the Rat ion . 

Q,. When did '$9U move to the Nat ion 

A. I p ckoen about '95 or ' 9 6 . 

Q. .What year was i t , you know b e t t e r than any of the ba lance of us 

A. My r e c o l l e c t i o n i s t h a t i t was- Well I w i l l say '96 , may have 

been ' 9 7 , I don ' t know. 

Q. You said a moment ago tha t you homesteaded t h i s l and , t h a t would 

b r ing i t up to 1899? 

A. I reckon I must have been there be fo re t h a t t ime. 

Q,. Is i t t r ue or not t rue t h a t you. l i v e d on t h i s land s ix yea r s? 

A. No s i r I d o n ' t t h i k I liTBd there t h a t long. I owned i t t h a t 

long . Hie had to cone to the IT at ion, i t was about that long be fore 

I sold i t . 1 rented i t two y e a r s . 

0,. D i d n ' t you come to the Hat ion about the time T. P. Lew s came? 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q. Then y iu came in to then you came into t h e Nation about the time 

the o the r members of the Lewis family came? 

Q,. They were ordered in . They we reordered to come h e r e . 

Q. Who ordered you in , your a t t o r n e y s ordered you in? 

A. Yes s i r . 

0,. Who was your a t t o r n e y at t h a t time? 

A. Mr. Lindly. 

Q. Pie ordered you in? 

A. Yes s i r . 

0,. Is i t not a f a c t t h a t you came in there in the f a l l of 1898 

or w i n t e r ? 

A. ?roba.bly i t was. 

Q,. Then i t i s a f a c t t ha t on the 10th of September, 1896 you were 

l i v i n g in Oklahoma on t h i s homesteaded land , and your wife who 

is an a p p l i c a n t in t h i s case was l i v i n g on homesteaded land in Ok-



lahoma? 

A. I d o n ' t know. 

Q,. You d o n ' t know a n y t h i n g a b o u t the b l o o d of t h e s e p e o p l e , do 

you? 

A. No s i r . 

w i t n e s s e x e u s e d . 

OLIVIA PHYOE, a w i t n e s s on b e h a l f of t h e p l a i n t i f f s b e i n g d u l y 

sworn t ook the s t a n d . 

BY MR. HARLEY: 

Q,. S t a t e y o u r name? 

A. O l i v i a P r y o r . 

Q,. Where do you l i v e Mrs . P r y o r ? 

A. & S t u a r t , Choctaw N a t i o n , I n d i a n T e r r i t o r y . 

Q,. What was t h e name of y o u r f a t h e r and m o t h e r M r s . g r y o r ? 

A. Samuel J . P r y o r and 

Q,. How many t imes h a v e you been m a r r i e d ? 

A. Th ree t i m e s . 

Q,. What was t h e name of y o u r f i r s t husband? 

A. James K. D o u g l a s . 

Q,. Did h e d i e ? 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q, Have a n y c h i l d r e n by him? 

A. Yes s i r one . 

0,. What i s h i s name*? 

A. James K. D o u g l a s . 

Q. I s h e l i v i n g ? 

Q. Who d i d you nex t m a r r y ? 

A. Henry J o u r d a n ? 

C>. I s h e l i v i n g ? 

A. Ho s i r . 

P. Dead? 

A. Yes s i r a . 



Q,. Have c h i l d r e n "by him? 

A. Yes s i r . 

0,. Give t h e i r names' ' 

A. Henry J o u r d a n , Mabel J o u r d a n , Zora P e a r l J o u r d a n . 

Q,» Three c h i l d r e n "by t h a t m a r r i a g e ? 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q,. "Whft d i d you n e c t marry? 

A. Sam V. P r y o r . 

Q,. Is he l i v i n g ? 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q,. Have you any c h i l d r e n "by t h a t m a r r i a g e ? 

A. Yes s i r . 

0,. Give t h e i r names? 

A. George M. P r y o r , James E . P r y o r , Mary 1 . P r y o r , S. O. P r y o r , 

V e r n i e P r y o r and E a r l P r y o r . 

0 . R e l a t e d to Mr. E a r l y i n any way? 

A. So s i r . 

Q. R e l a t e d to Mrs . E a r l y ? 

A. Yes s i r s h e i s my a u n t , 

CORHISH: 

Ever l i v e in Oklahoma T e r r i t o r y ? 

A. Mo s i r . 

0,. You n e v e r l i v e d in t h e T e r r i t o r y of Oklahoma? 

A. So s i r . 

w i t n e s s e x c u s e d . 

HARLEY: 

If t h e Cour t p l e a s e t h a t c o n c l u d e s t h e e v i d e n c e t h a t we 

h a v e a t t h i s t ime in t h i s c a s e . We h a v e one w i t n e s s , a Mrs . Page who 

i s a v e r y o l d l a d y , and i f t h e Cour t d e s i r e s i t we might p u t Mr. 

Edwards on t o p r o v e h e r c o n d i t i o n . She l i v e s n e a r J e n s o n , Arkan­

s a s i n the c o u n t r y n e a r P o c o l a , I n d i a n T e r r i t o r y , abou t t h r e e m i l e s 

from J e n s o n , and unde r the c i r c u m s t a n c e s I w i l l have t o ask one 

of t h e J u d g e s t o t a k e h e r t e s t i m o n y , 

CORMSH: 

We lave h e a r d no t e s t i m o n y as t o h e r Tonvsical c o r d i t i o r i a t t h i s t ime 



As I u n d e r s t a n d she as t h e same p e r s o n who cane h e r e on t h e 30 th of 

June and gave t e s t i m o n y in the Mick le c a s e . 

HARLEY 

If s h e i s a b l e we would r a t h e r b r i n g h e r h e r e t han t o ask 

t h e Cour t t o go t h e r e , and in f a c t t h e r e are two o r t h r e e o t h e r 

w i t n e s s e s whose e v i d e n c e we d e s i r e t o t a k e , and who are n o t r e l a t ­

ed to t h e s e p a r t i e s . We have j u s t r e c e n t l y l e a r n e d of t h e s e w i t ­

n e s s e s and t h e i r w h e r e a b o u t s , and we w i l l a k t he C o u r t t o p e r m i t 

us to b r i n g t h e s e p a r t i e s i n t o t h e Cour t a t some l a t e r d a t e , 

a t such t ime as t h e Cour t w i l l i n d i c a t e . If she w i l l come h e r e , 

t h a t w i l l be more a g r e e a b l e than t a k i n g i t a t J e n s o n , b u t if s h e 

c a M o t come, we w i l l be unde r t h e n e c e s s i t y of a sk ing t h e Cour t 

t o t ak e t h e t es t :lmony f o r u s . 

JUDGE WEAVER: 

C o u n s e l i s aware of t he r u l e of Cour t t o t h e e f f e c t 

t h a t a2i a f f i d a v i t w i l l h a v e t o be f i l e d in t h i s c a s e to t h e e f f e c t 

t h a t t h e w i t n e s s i s n o t p h y s i c a l l y a b l e t o come. 

CORNISH: 

You see Judge as we unders tand , t he r u l e s t h e r e i s a t ime 

when the p l a i n t i f f s a r e r e q u i r e d to t a k e t h e i r t e s t imonj r , and if 

t h e r e i s good r e a s o n s why an e x t e n s i o n i s d e s i r e d , then t h e mo*"' 

t i o n , w i l l have t o be f i l e d , a copy s e r v e d upon u s , and t h e n the 

Cour t can p a s s upon i t . 

JUDGE WEAVER: 

The Counse l f o r t h e N a t i o n s h a s s t a t e d t h e r u l e . 

JUDGE WEAVER: 

In number 59 , Ohpe l i a S, Edwards , e t a l , v s . Choctaw and 

Chickasaw N a t i o n s , t h e Court h a v i n g h e a r d c e r t a i n e v i d e n c e sub ­

m i t t e d b y the a p p l i c a n t s in c a s e m;miber 5 8 , Zora P . Lewi s , e t a l , 

v s . Choctaw and Chickasaw N a t i o n s , and i t b e i n g s u g g e s t e d to t h e 

Cour t by Mess . H a r l e y & Lewis , c o u n s e l f o r t h e c l a i m a n t s i n each 

of s a i d c a s e s , t h a t t he t e s t i m o n y o f f e r e d in s a i d c a s e number 58 

is i d e t i c a l w i t h t h a t which would b e o f f e r e d in c a s e number 59, 

t h a t s a i d e v i d e n c e be c o n s i d e r e d b y t h e Court as h a v i n g b e e n o f f e r e d 



t o t h e Cour t i n s a i d c a s e number 59, a s wel l a s in s a i d c a s e number 

58. Mess , M a n s f i e l d , McMurray & C o r n i s h , c o u n s e l f o r t h e N a t i o n s 

b e i n g p r e s e n t in open Cour t o f f e r e d no o b j e c t i o n to the s u g g e s t i o n 

of t h e c o u n s e l f o r t he p l a i n t i f f s in each of s a i d above e n t i t l e d 

c a s e s , and c o n s e n t e d t h a t s a i d t e s t i m o n y , so f a r a s t h e same may 

be a p p l i c a b l e , and s u b j e c t to a l l o b j e c t i o n s wh ich may have b e e n 

made b y them in t h e h e a r i n g t h e r e o f i n s a i d c a s e number 58 may 

b e t r e a t e d and c o n s i d e r e d b y t h e Cour t a s hav ing been a g a i n of­

f e r e d i n s a i d c a s e number 59 . 

O p h e i l i a S. Edwards , a w i t n e s s f o r t h e p l a i n t i f f b e i n g - f i r s t d u l y 

sworn took t h e s t a n d . 

BY MB, HARLEY: 

Q,. S t a t e your name'' 

A, O h p e l i a S. Edwards . 

Q,. Wife of James M. Edwards? 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q. R e l a t e d to Mrs . E a r l y ? 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q,. In what way'! 

A. S i s t e r . 

Q,. S i s t e r of y o u r s ? 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q,. Know C h a r l e s Edwards? 

A. Yes s i r , h e i s my son, 

0 , .Did.you know Lula Edwards? 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q,. What i s h e r name now? 

A. R igh taway . 

Q,. Has she b e e n m a r r i e d b e f o r e she mar r i ed . Mr. Rightaway? 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q, What was h e r f i r s t husbands name? 

A. H a y s . 

0,. What i s h e r husband named? 



Eugene RightBway. 

Q. Know Mar tha J . Smith? 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q. Who i s she? 

A. She i s my d a u g h t e r . 

0,. What was h e r name b e f o r e she was. marr ied 4 ? , 

A. Martha. J . Edwards . 

Q, What i s h e r h u s b a n d s name. 

Oscar Smi th , he s i g n s h i s name 0 . G. Smi th . 

Q,. Do you know Dav id Smith? 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q,. Who i s she? 

A. My d a u g h t e r . 

0,. M a r r i e d ? 

A. So s i r name i s Edwards . 

Q,. A l l of t h e s e c h i l d r e n of you r s whose nanes I h a v e c a l l e d a r e 

now l i v i n g ? 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q,. Al l l i v e i n t he Choctaw Hat i o n , I nd i an T e r r i t o r y ? 

A. Yes s i r . 

w i t n e s s e x c u s e d . 

OPHELIA S. EDWARDS, a w i t n e s s on b e h a l f of d e f e n d a t s , b e i n g 

d u l y sworn t ook t h e s t a n d . 

BY MR. COHBTISH: 

Q,. Where were you l i v i n g in 189 6? 

A. I was l i v i n g in t h e S t a t e of A r k a n s a s . 

Q,. In what Coun ty , ? 

A. E r a n k l i n C o u n t y . 

Q,. Hear tihat p o s t o f f i c e ? 

A. R o s e v i l l e . 

Q,. Husbawd own l a n d t h e r e a t t h a t t ime 0 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q. How much l a n d d i d y o u r husband own? 



A. I cannot remember e x a c t l y . 

Q. About how much? 

A. Nearly four hundred a c r e s . 

Q,. In the r i v e r bottom? 

A. Yes s i r . 

0,, At the time t h i s a p p l i c a t i o n was made you and your fami ly were 

l i v i n g on l and which your husband owned in F rank l in County, Arkan­

sas? 

A. Yes s i r . 

Q. When did you move to the Choctaw Nation? 

A. in 1898. 

Q. Did you husband eve r hold any o f f i ce in t h e S ta te of Arkansas? 

A. v e s s i r . 

Q,. 'What o f f i ce? 

A. Deputy s h e r i f f . 

Q,. How long waa he deputy s h e r i f f ? 

A. I d o n 1 t know. 

Q,. I t i s a f a c t t h a t at the time t h i s a p p l i c a t i o n was made in 

1896, he was deputy s h . r i f f . 

A. He had been before t h a t time? 

Q. Was he a f t e r tha t time? 

A. Yes s i r . 

Witness excused. 



Zcra P. Lewis, e t a l , 

TS. '"To, 58. 

The Choct-iw md Chickasaw Nat ions , 

yf ' ^ehr uary 4, 1904. 

Mr. Hur ley : 

Tn tha t c a s e , re pre sen t i n g the. p l a i n t i f f , t ha t c a s t has 
be -n cont inued up to this time f o r soma t e s t i a o n f that, m 
wanted to eofur, hu t ou- w i tne s se s hare j u s t e l m in , 
and. I h w e k not had an oppor tun i ty to ge o i a r the m a t t e r , 
and i f the Court or the gef i t le»es wftt&fi d s s i r s up to put in 
iHr tea tiraony, we »m in the a t t i t u d e t h a t we w i l l haT* to 
ask f o r a l i t .la time to oOnfar with the wi tnessea , and we 
can c lose i t in a hour and a h a l f from t h e tim« we s t a r t . 

jnSMFK JUMPS t 

T>ie Court was under the impression t ha t we had 3: c lo sed 

F r . Corn ish : 

I dc not th ink the record w i l l b e e r you out . 

3TJSS1 AIJAT'O: 

My unders tanding i s that a l l of those c a s e s are 
c losed on the p a r t of the a p p l i c a n t s , and the cases are 
s e t for tha d-'"fend a n t s , 

? : r . Harley 

I think ths Court if in »rr©i*» In the Lewie case 
Mr, law i s wt*t sic*t when the cas« was l a s t se t and i t was 
con i in «d on t ha t account, ? rr. KdwaitU) had some c o n t e s t s 
a t Ato3cfti -;ind they were cont inued f e r tge SfORe reasons and 
Mr. Idwe ds had t h e r i t n e s s e s r..adiv to i r i n g then he re before 
and the m a t t e r was cont inued f o r t h a t r«»son» 

JTJDGH mum-, 

You era not ready to Otff»r i t now, 

Mr. t T ar ley: 

T d o n ? t th ink we would he rr-ady to offer i t l i t , 

JV m ADAUS: 

TS« g«ntlam«n want to o f f e r your tes t imony hefor# he 
g e t s t h e i r s , 

Mr. Cornish: 

'To i i r « I d o n ' t t h ink we would. 



Zora P. Lewis, a t a l , 

v s . f#« 58. 

The Chocta?/ and Chickasaw Nations. 

Harley & Lewis, at torneys for P l a i n t i f f s . 
Mansfield, McMurray & Cornish,. for Defendants . 

Present and presiding the Honorable®, Spencer B. Adams, 
Chief Judge md WalterlL. Ae&ver and Henry S. Foote, 
Assoc iateJudges, 

FEBRUARY 4, 1904, This dap- t h i s cause coming on to 
be heard, both p l a i n t i f f s and defendants being represented 
by Counsel, the following proceedings were had, to-wit : 

Mr. Cornish: 

Those are the oases tha t went oyer th i s morning. The 
record has he-etofore been made up in number f i f t y - e i g h t , 
and the Hat ions hare present some iesstia witnesses whose 
testimony they wish to t a M , aid we wish to offer i t in case 
number f i f t y - e i g h t and extend in such manner as the court 

may d i rec t to the other cases . 

Mr» Harley: 

Applicants hsr© some testimony. 

mm ADAMS: 

This i s a very unusual proceeding, but we want to get 
a t the f a c t e , and i f you bring out any new mat ter you gent le 
men wi l l have opportunity to rebut i t . 

FlfSl B. KRKBS, being ca l led as & wit­
ness on behalf of the p l a i n t i f f s , t e s t i f i e d as follows: 

DISICT mmwkftmk 

Mr. Hare y. 

Q. - -Sta te your name? A. —Peter B. Krebs. 
Q,,— How old are you^ A,--Born in fo r ty -n ine . 

Mr. Cornish: 

1 ;understand these are the only witnesses whose t e s t i ­
mony you wsh to t ake . 

Mr. Harley: 

Yes s i r , 
Mr. Harley: 

Q..--State your c i t i zensh ip with reference to being a Choctaw 
or c i t i zen of the United Sra tes . A.--Myself. 

Q,.--Yes a i r , whether you are a. Choctaw or c i t i z en of the 
United g ated? A.—Citizen of the Choctaw nat ion, 
been considered. 



0,,—Are you e n r o l l e d as such h y the "Dawes Commission? A.— 
ye s s i r , 

Q..«—"Where wer© you ra i sed F r . Krebs4? A.- -Raisad on Canadian 
R ive r , what they c a l l now Whl t e f i e ld . 

0..--Wher-.: were you horn? / . - - B o r n at I h i t e f i e l d . 
0, .--In t h i s Choctaw oration? A,—'IflMI s i r . 
Q,.--Kr. Yrebs , 1 w i l l ask you if you ever knew a man naaed 

Marcus Lewis? A.--Yes s i r . 
p..--¥?here d id you know him? A.--Down on Poteau River, 

E a s t of S p i r o , used to he old S k u l l y v i l l e . 
"Q.--About how old were you, ah out what s i zed man were you 

the f i r s t time you got acquainted with him? A.--T d o n ' t 
remember how old T was. 

Q,,--Were you grown? A , - - P r e t t y good s ized hoy. Af te r my 
f a t h e r d i ed , mother moved to .my grand f a t h e r s , 

^. . --what was your grand f a t h e r ' s name? A,—ward folsom. 
Q,.--You were at your grand f a t h e r ' s when you f i r s t knew him? 
A.--Yea a i r , 
Q..--YOU were no t a grown man yet? A.--So s i r . 
Q.--i5/hat was the c i t i z e n s h i p of t h i s man? Aaacsocxx Marcus 

Lewis, i f you know, what was he? A.--Always cons idered 
him to he a Choctaw. 

Q.--About how much Choctaw d id he appear to h e , with 
r e fe rence to "being & f u l l blood or otherwise? A.-~ 
Reckon what you c a l l a f u l l b lood . 

0>~-Did you know h i s Ind ian name or whether he had an Indian 
name** C h o c t w name? A.--Yes s i r . 

Q,.--T)id your mother in speak in to you and t a l k i n g around 
the p l ace speak Choctaw or Engl ish? A. - -Eng l i sh in 

t a l k i n g to the c h i l d r e n , ta lked E n g l i s h a l t o g e t h e r , 
Q,--The language t ha t was spoken around your home was 

Eng l i sh and not Choctaw? A.—Yes s i r . then ne ighbors 
c mm in she ta lked Choctaw, hu t in the i family she 
®l¥«iys t a l k e d Eng l i sh , h e r and h e r f a t h e r b o t h , 

0,.--Lo you know whether o r no t t h i s man if arc us Lew s had i 
Choctaw name? A.--¥o s i r / 

Q,-~You simply knew him by Parous Lewis, h i s Eng l i sh name? 
A.--Yes s i r . 
Q,»--If he had a Choctaw none, you say you never knew 
about i t ? A.—Mo s i r . 
Q,,~-l»hat kind of a looking man was Marcus T'ewis? A,--Hot 

rery l a r g e man. To le rab le sg&re b u i l t man, waight 
about one hundred and f o t y pound®, maybe more or no t 
q u i t e so mu h . 

0,.--T3id you j u s t see him once or twice or off and on? 
A.*—Saw him off and on f o r about two o r th ree y e a r s . I 

stftid t he re two or th ree y e a r s , l i v e d with my grand 
f a t h e r , <md of course he wasen ' t there every day, go 

across the .River and come back, 
Q;,--X$ld you see him off and on f o r s e v e r a l years? A .—lo t 

more than two y e a r s , f t h a t long , 

Mr. Mansf ie ld : 

Mr. H a r l e y ' s examination i s l ead ing with t h i s w i t n e s s , 
he should, ask him how long he knew t h i s man* 

Mr. Har ley : 

SS3X3EX Trying to g e t before the Court the mans knowledge, 

JTTDGE ADAFS: 

I w a s e n ' t paying any a t t e n t i o n to the q u e s t i o n s I 
was l i s t e n i n g to the answers. 



Mr, Har ley: 

0,.— Desc r ibe t h i s man Marcus Lewis as n e a r l y as you can, 
wi th r e f e r e n c e to h i s ha Ting h e a r d , ©to, g ive a d isc r i p t ion 

of h i s f a c e , whether he had beard, or mustaeh o r whether 
he d i d n ' t , 

JUTXJl •POOTK: 

C a n ' t he answer the qua s t i o n of what h i s appearaees were. 

Mr. Hurley: 

fmt s i r . 

Q . - - I want t o .know h i s f a c i a l appearance* A,--He d i d n ' t 
have my b ea rd on h i s face f a r as . knowed him. 

JUDGE ADAMS: 

Q,--Do you know whether h® had beard o r no t? AA.--S0 s i r , 
I d o n ' t th ink he had any bea rd . Great many of them 

f u l l b l o o d s d o n ' t have any bea rd , f© w s t i c k i n g around. 
I d o n ' t remember whether he had any o r n o t . 

Mr. Ha r l e y : 

Q,.—How long has I t been t o the b e s t of your r e c o l l e c t i o n 
sine© you saw Ware us Lewis* A . - - I t has bean twenty- four 
or f i v e y e a n , something l i k e t h a t , 

Q,« — Do yf.« know what became of him? A.--He d i sappeared 
and n&y&r heard anything more from him. 

Q.--Tou d o n ' t know what became of him? A, —So &&t . 
Q..--0,.—Do you know where he l i v e d , l)|<Nfi h i s home was? A.— 

Ho more than I sa id a few moments ago. Go "backwards 
and forwards f o r where I li-m d coming back on t h i s s ide 
of the Rivef*. 

Q,—Did he have any permanent home t h a t you know of? A.~-
Hot t h a t I know of. 

Q.-'-Do you know Judge Ward t h i s o t h e r wi tness? A.--Yes s i r . 
Q.--About how many mi les were you l i v i n g from him? A.— 

When I l i v e d nea r ifihitef i e ld over t he re we l i v e d about 
seven or e i g h t m i l e s a p a r t . He l i v e d on one s i d e of 

the Biver and I l i ved on the o t h e r . 
Q,.—How f a r d id you l i v e from him when you knew t h i s man 

Marcus Lewis? A,--Seven or e igh t mi les 
Q, - -Poteau River? A,—Yes s i r , 
4.--'What do you k now, i f anything about f u l l blood Choc taws 

having an Ind ian name and an Engl i sh nam®. JtsxaWhere 
the Choctaw name was hard to pronuounce they sometimes 
took and Eng l i sh name. A,--Ho answer. 

Q.--Do you know whs HUNT i t was f r e q u e n t l y the case o r 
no t? A . - - I d o n ' t know . Know them always go by one 
name and then chage off and go by a n o t h e r , bu t I don ' t 
know whether they make a p r a c t i c e of i t or n o t . 

$ , — m a t name do you go by now? A.—Peter Krebs . 
0 , , - - fha t o the r naae did you go by? A.— My f i r s t name 

and middle name was pronounced one, went Toy t h a t u n t i l 
I went to rambling around and gave by nane as P e t e r B. 
Krebs , go by t h a t name a whi le and now P e t e r TCrebs. 



Q,.--About how old a man do you think 'Marcus Lewis waswwhen 
you l a s t saw him, how old a man would #ou take him to 
he from your r e c o l l e c t i o n * A. — I suppose something l i k e 
f o r t y years o ld . 

Q,—That i s your "beet r e e o l l e o t i o n of t t f A,—~>res s i r . 
Q,.-~You are no t r e l a t e d to anyof t h e s e a p p l i c a n t s t h a t j u 

know of in t h i s case? A . - - l o t h a r d l y . 

C ROSS-TTCAMINATXCH. 

Mr. Cornish: 

Q.,--T)id t h i s man Marcus Lewis t h a t you t a l k about have a 
family? A.--Hot t ha t I know of. 

Q.-~Ho wife? A / — Ho s i r . 
Q. — My c h i l d r e n ? A.--Wo s i r . 
Q. - -Don ' t know # ie re he l i ved? A.--Ho s i r . 
Q. —Jus t went ah out from place to p l a c e in the country'5 A»-~ 

Yes s i r . 
0 . . - - Jus t a roaming man"11 A.—^es s i r . 
Q,.--never knew what h i s f a t h e r and moth r were? A,--Ho s i r , 
Q.--T>isap:-.e ared? A.--Yes s i r , 
0,.--You have never seen him since45 A,—Ho s i r . 

Witness excused. 

JOSEPH WA®, be ing c a l l e d as a ' i t n e s s 
on behalf of the defendants , t e s t i f i e d as fo l lo? /s : 

8 HOOT EXAM THAT 101. 

Mr. Har ley: 

Q.—State your name'' A.--Ward, Joseph Ward. 
0,,--How old are you? A . - - 1 was born in 1855. 
Q.--Where do you l i v e ' A. — S k u l l y v i l l e County, Oak Lodge 

were I g e t my m a i l . 
0,.--Choctaw Hat ion*? A. --Yes s i r . 
Qt4-"Wxkx7^fh&t i s y ur c i t i z e n s h i p wi th re ference to be a 

Choctaw or c i t i z e n of the limited S t a t e s ? A.--Choctew. 
0,.--Do you now hold any o f f i c i a l p o s i t i o n in the Choctaw 

Hation*> A.--Ho s i r . 
Q,,--flave you he re to fo re h e l d any*5 A.—Yes s i r , 
0..--What p o s i t i o n s ? A»--Been deputy she r i f f , .Ranger and 

County j u d g e . 
<?,.—Where d id you l i v e when you were County Judge** A.— 

S k u l l y v i l l e , County. 
Q,—Where d id you hold Court? A,--Choctaw n a t i o n , Buck 

Creek. 
Q.--You know P e t e r Kreb s, the wi tness who has j u s t t e s t i f i e d " 
A.--Yes s i r , 
0,,--State about how f a r from him you l i v e d , when you were 

a 'boy4* A.--crowed up with Pa t e r ""rebs, at the time 
l i v e d seven or e igh t m i l e s of me, and t h a i o the r times 

he l i v e d c l o s e r , and o t h e r times he l i v e d off, Tle was 
orphan boy, l i v e d with h i s mother . When she l i v e d he l i v e d 

r i th h e r idteiaradDcx^^ and when she d ied h e d r i f t e d 
around. 

Q,,--Who did he l i v e with when he l i v e d in about e i g h t miles-v: 
of you? A.--T d o n ' t know whether i t was h i s uncle or 

aunt , I b e l i e v e h i s name was Ward Poison . 
0;.--Rome r e l a t i v e of h i s ? A.--Yes s i r , 
Q.—Did you know him then, iradootix A . - - P e t e r , 
Q.--Yes s i r ? A.—Ho s i r , d i d n ' t know him a t tha t t ime . 



C5.— "Old you know of him ftt tha t time? A.--Wo s i r , 
Q,--About how long have you known P e t e r ' A,--He d i d n ' t l i v e 

over the re u n t i l h i s mother d i e d , and they mored him oyer 
to h i s u n c l e ' s 9ft t Kreb s, c l o s e r , t ha t i s the f i r s t time 

I c antraenced to know him. 
<3.--Did you know an Ind ian man a t ah out the time tha t P e t e r 

Krebs l i v e r over a t Ward Holsom's nmm&xxxx "by the 
name of Lewis ' A.--That a l l h i s name, Lewis. 

Q,,—mil I was going to ask you i f he had any o the r name 
if you knew t h a t man'' A . - - D i d n ' t know a man named Lewis. 

Q.,--Did you know m Indian man by the name of Eyouhonatubbee' 
A.—Yes s i r , 
Q,--T7hat k ind of a looking man was h e ' A.--Heavy s e t man 

looked to be a f u l l blood Ind ian . 
©,.—What t r i b e of Ind ian if you know did he b e l o n g ' A. - -

Choc taws. 
Q.--Bid he have any o the r naae b e s i d e s Eyouhonatubbea? A , - -
A.—Lewis Eyouhonatubbea. 
Q,.--Do you know whether Lewis was h i s h i s g iven name or 

E n g l i s h name"? A.--Ho s i r . 
0#--You d o n ' t know that*? A.--Ho s i r , 
©.—Lftsoribe t h a t man lyouhonatubbee as we l l as you can*9 A,— 

He w»sm a smal l man, square b u i l t , weight about one hund­
red and f o r t y pounds. 

0,.--About what aged men was he then? A.—I could not say . 
Judging those old Tndia is i s p r e t t y h a r d . 

Q.--YOU can make a guess a t i t ? A . - - I judge him to be about 
f o r t y years o ld , had ft few g reay h a i r s , about f o r t y , 
them. Indians t u r n t l i t t l e g r a y . 

Q.—How long s ince you saw him, about how long? j±xxa3cm.Kkxx 
of-joairararasaj^^ b e s t 
df your r e c o l l e c t i o n s i n c e you saw t h a t man, about 
how many ytsars? A . - - I cannot say . I t was about seventy-
f i v e or s even ty -a ix when tha t man caae to our p lace , 

t )mt i s when T f i r s t g o t acquainted with them. 
(U^HSftaft t he r e once or d id you see him o f t e n ' A.--Lived 

there some then go . 
Q,--Hnow where he l i v e d ? A,—Ho s i r . 
Q»- - A on ' t know where h i s wife was ' A.--Ho s i r , 
0,.--About how long ago s i n c e you l a s t saw him, about how 

many yea r s? A,--About twenty-nine o r t h i r t y y e a r s , I 
guess . 

Q,«--Do you know what became of him when he l e f t ? A,— This 
coun t ry , you mean. 

€?,.--Y®s s i r ' A.--He went back to M i s s i s s i p p i . 
Q.--D© you know «?hat became of him a f t e r he went back there? 
A.--T heard he d ied in M i s s i s s i p p i . 
q . - -Do yOU 3m0w whether he had any efei d r e n ' A.-~Yes s i r . 
Q.--1?hat was the name of h i s c h i l d r e n A , - -1 d o n ' t know he 

had a boy, the boy was named Lewis Kyouhonatubbee. 
Q..--DO you know whether he had a wife or not? A. — Wo s i r . 
Q.-«T-re had a son? A . - - I d i d n ' t know at t ha t time he had a 

sou u n t i l l a t e l y , l e s s than ten or twelve yea r s t h i s 
Lewis J'youhonatubbee, I spoke i) out proved to be the old 
man's son, 

Q,.--What do you know about him. A.--Lewis Eyouhonatubbee? 
Q...--Yes s i r , A. - -That is h i s c h i l d ' s name, t h a t i s how I 

cams to know idb&pritac h e r e t h e l a s t few years i s about h i s 
son, Sidney Eyouhonatubbt, t h a t i s o ld man lyc&honatubbee' 

grand son, he would be I guess , I t h i n k t h a t i s what 
they c a l l i t now in my neighborhood a good d e a l , and boys 

they got to c a l l i n g t h i s young f e l l e r Sid Lewis, and 



I made I n q u i r i e s , I d i d n ' t know who he was, He was a f u l l 
"blood, and I asked him whose hoy he was, arid he s a i d 

Lewis ?youhonatubbee, and s a M the Boys c a l l e d him 
$id»ey Lev i s . 

p . , - -d id you gt mother and f a t h e r when you v * r i • hoy about 
the gtltafe ahout the sisse of t h i s hoy speak Choctaw or 

Knglish'* A. — Spoke Choctaw. 
0,,--Tf t h i s man tfyouhonatubhe had an "English nsme you 

. . d idn ' t know i t a t t ha t t i r e ? A.--lfo a i r . 
Q»—If he had «n "English naae would she c a l l hire Eng l i sh 

M m o r Choctaw? A.—Called him Oh ct&w, she e o u l d e n ' t 
speak E n g l i s h . 

Q« —And if she had known to have an I n g l sh name and a 
Choctaw name she woul'': ha re c e l l e d him the Choctaw name? 

A,—Yes s i r . 
Q,--I3o you know what the customs ware in those days f o r f u l l 

b lood Choc taws who tad names t h a t were hard to s p e l l to 
trnftexxx t i k e Knglish names o r n o t , t e l l the c o u r t 
what you know about Hum. t ak ing d i f f e r e n t names' A. - -

Of course they d i d n ' t make i p r a c t i c e of t h a t , h u t 
then in w r i t i n g some people would s p e l l i t d i f f e r e n t , 
and t h a t mile** t h a t d i f f e r e n c e . 

Kr* Cornish: 

I h*re heen l i s t e n i n g t&r some time f o r something 
to show what Mr. Barley i s peeking to ge t ou t . As the 
me t e r s t ands now there I f no p o s s i b l e relevancy of 
t h i s t es t imony. 

JWQK ADAKS: 

1 suppose he is t r y i n g to show t h a t t h i s s a n s Engl i sh 
name was Lewis. 

Mr, Har ley : 

T'y purpose in in t roduc ing t h i s ffitnesa is t h a t 
the d e s c r i p t i o n of this mm "Eyouhonatuhhea i s the same 

60 t h e d e s c r i p t i o n of P e t e r Kre'bs of a man c a l l e d Lewis, 
and he ssy?; t h a t t h i s men was c a l l e d Lewis fyouhonatubhee 

and my purpose i s to g e t that be fo re the Court so t ha t 
t:'*3y can determine whether he i s the same man d e s e r i h -
as Marcus Lewi®, t h a t "both d i sappeared a t shout the 

same time, showing t h a t h® h :d an Ind ian name m& an 'Eng­
l i s h narae. 

Mr. Cornish : 

To show t h a t the men who signed t h a t paper had a re a s i 
eslstance** 

Mr. Hur ley : 

yes s i r . 

Mr. C o r n i s h : 

That would no t he in o rder u n t i l t h a t was c o n t r o v e r t e d , 
T d o n ' t t h i n k t h a t the charge has he an made t h a t t h a t 

man had no e x i s t e n c e . U n t i l t h a t i s m^Ae t h a t tes t imony 
r-ould not he in o rder . 

Mr. b a r l e y . 



That Dan Lewis was a l so the husband of the a p p l i c a n t 
in th 3f c a s e . 

Smxm AD M!S: 

You have got an iff i d a v i t signed by Marcus Lewis, and 
you are now t ry ing to show t h a t he had ajptfsrxx.'-x Choctaw 
name. 

Mr, H'arley; 

Yea s i r . For the info m a t ion of the Court I w i l l 
ask if Choctaws having hard names sometimes talcs Eng l i sh 

names'' Answer tha t? A.--Well Choctaw names are hard 
to s p e l l , I man c a n ' t t e l l t /hether ho s p e l l s I t r l - h t 
or no t so they g i f t them Eng l i sh names in. s p e l l i n g these 
names. 

JuDGE fOOfill 

I s t h a t the genera l custom or j u s t occas iona l ly* 
A.--'Te w i l l s ay some ne ighbor come to me and want me to 

w r i t e a l e t t e r , and T would wr i t e the- l e t t e r in "English 
a and come to the name 1 coulden' t s p e l l i t , and I say 

I c a n ' t s p e l l t h a t name, end. I pu t i t down and t e l l 
them t h a t in the l e t t e r I t e l l mm how to back i t , and 
then you can get the m a i l in t h a t name. 

! r « Har lay : 

Q,,--Can you g ive the name, of any person who chaarged h i s 
nam® f o r t h e purpose of g e t t i n g i t so i t could be spelled'* 

.A.--I guess 1 could, 
Q,.-~JCnow a man named Jim Darne l l? A.--Yes s i e , 
Q..—He a Choctaw9 A,--Yes a i r , 
Q.--H&3 he any o ther name tha t you know of4? A.—"Pot now, 

bu t be fo r e the war b roke out Jim Darne l l used to go 
by the nane of Jim Twan, and s ince the; war he goes by th® 

name of Jim D a r n e l l , 
Q,—How t h a t happen? A . - - I was a3£±-xks«*3dfe3a«gc»o»xo: a t 

home t h r e e yea r s ago, and w were s i t t i n g t h e r e t a l k i n g 
old aunt came down to see me, and we got t o t a l k i n g 
ribQttt Jim D a r n e l l , and I said he was g e t t i n g j?etty o ld , 
and then say aunt spoke up and s a i d who is t h i s Jim 
D a r n e l l and some l ady that knew s a i d t h a t i s Jim Twan, 
t h a t i s the name h e used to go b y , and she sa id she 

never would have knowned him by t h a t nan©, 
Q ! # - - f i l l you t r y to s p e l l t h i s name, t r y to s p e l l i t b e s t 

you can? A,--Eyouhonatvbbee. 
Q,.~-vou s t a t e d a while ago t h a t you *rer« informed t h s t 

t h i s man d ied in Minis*?ippi, how do you ge t t h a t in fo r ­
mation* A.--X got. t h a t information from mother . The 

Choc taws were emigra t ing from M i s s i s s i p p i , coming out 
here to ge t land in t h e Chickasaw Nat ion. 

Mr. Corn ish : 

we have n o t objec ted where m might have, b u t the 
w i t n e s s e s own s t a t e m n t s is t h a t h i s mother i s l i v i n g , 

and he s e e k s to r e f l e c t s t a t emen t s made by h i s own mother, 
I d o n ' t see how under any c i r c u s s ances i t could be 
c ompe t en t . 



Mr. Har ley : 

Q,.—Did you have any d i r e c t information from M i s s i s s i p p i ? 
A,--Yes s i r . 

JUDGE ADAFS: 

0,.~~Trie d to find out if t h i s man was dead. A . - - I heard 

he wenr hack to M i s s i s s i p p i and d i e d . 

C ROS S-FYAMIMATION, 

Mr. Co m i sh . 
Q,.~-When did. you f i r s t see t h i s man Eyouhonatubbee? A.— 
A . - - I t was ah out seven ty-f ive or s e v e n t y - s i x , 
©..--That i s when you f i r s t saw him, when d id you l a s t s«e 

him0 A . - - long about then . 
Q,~-You mean to say you saw him only a shor t while? A.- -

Weil you see lyouhonstubbe c aae out here in t h i r t y - t h r e e 
emigra ted wi th the Choc taws . 

0 . - -T ?/ant to kstw when you f i r s t saw ham'5 A . - -Seven ty - f ive 
or s e v e n t y - s i x . 

0,»~-Whert did you l a s t see him A,--About the same y e a r . 
Q. — Th.en you saw bJm j u s t in one year? A.--Yes s i r . 
Q,.--How man:/' t imes did you see him* A,--Twice. 
Q.«--In the year 1875 you f i r s t saw him and l a s t saw him 

in t h e saem year 'and saw him twice*? A.--Yes s i r . 
©,,--You d i d n ' t know anything as to # i e t h e r he had a family 

c r not? A.--Wo s i r . 
0»--T)on't know whether he had c h i l d r e n or not ? A.--Mot a t 

t h a t t ime. 
0..--C&ffle in to the country and went bac'c0 A,—-fit s i r d r i f t e d 

in h e r e and went back. 
0,.--You don ' t know t h a t t h i s man you are speaking ah out 

i s the same man t h a t Mr. Erehs i s t a l k i n g about0 A , - -
ffo s i r . 

Q(.--"Don't "enow t h a t he ever went by any "English rtifflttt A.— 
¥0 s i r . 
Witness excused, 

Mr. Fa r l ey : 

The test imony of these t h r e e wi tnesses would p r o p e r l y 
be long in Hi® case of r e s ton E a r l y , a t a l , "because 
the re ©re where the ques t i ons of marr iage come. This 

. 'part icular evidence is to show t h a t they complied 
with the Choctaw laws, t h i s p a r t i c u l a r evidence *r« th ink 

should he t r a c r i b e d in t h a t one c a s e . 

JOSEPH W, SKWAKDS, be ing c a l l e d as 
a w i tnes s on beha l f of p l a i n t i f f s , t e s t i f i e d m f o l l o w s . 

B TRFC T FY A¥ IF Jff IOBT. 

Mr, Harley: 

©. . - -State your name0 A.--Joseph W. Edwards, 
Q,-~You a married man** A.--Yes s i r . 
Q. -~Fta te the name of your w i f e 9 A. - -Ophel ia S. Edwards, 
Q,.--"What was h e r nwne hef ore you marr ied h e r Ophelia Lewis. 
Q,.—what r e l a t i o n if any was she to 7,ora p . Lewis? A.— 

Her daughter . 



0.,--0,,--'Where ware you atid your wife marr ied F r , 'Edward's 
the f i r s t tima^ A, - -Car r ied in Arkansas. 

Q,,--At t h a t time you were no t irmrri^d in accEord uncs with the 
Choctaw lawf? A. - - 'Mo s i r , 

0..~-Wera you and your wife subsequent ly » * r r i « t ? A.--Yes 
a i r , 

Q.--You ram-smber whan tha t was"? A.--1899, August 3rd . 
Q,,--Where were you marr ied t h a t time? A.—'Down at l i t l e 

. tcwn Kosoma,, Cedar County, 
Q,~-T?id you ga t a c e r t i f i e a t a from the Choctaw a u t h o r i t i e s 

showing the. t you were marr ied under the Choctw laws? 
A.--Yes s i r , 
0,.--Where i s t h a t c e r t i f i c a t e ? A .—Dawes Cojamisslon. 
0,.--"vou af terwards f i ed your a p p l i c a t i o n to he admitted as 

an i n t e rmar r i ed c i t i s e n ? A,--Yes s i r , 
©;.--And with t h a t you .filed your marr iage c e r t i f i c a t e ? A.— 

Y®s s i r , 
Q,.~-Tt |g now in the custody of the Dawes Commie-ion or 

Secretary*:' A.--Yes s i r . 
. ©,.—You are s t i l l l i v i n g w i th your wi fe , Ophel ia S, 'Edwards? 

A,—Yes s i r , 
0 , — Xn your second marr iage you complied f u l l with the 

Choctaw laws? A.-Yes S i r , 

fTROBS--F!TAMT»TTO¥, 

Mr. Corn i sh : 

©.--When were you married first** A , - -Seven ty - f ive , 
0,.--Then you l i r e d with yourwife from your f i r s t mar r i age 

in s e v e n t y - f i r s wp to n i n e t y - n i n e and then vou procured a 
Oh t a i n s l i e en a «f A.--Yes s i r , 

©.--That was a f t e r your wife had been admitted ~hy the Uni t ­
ed S t a t e s Cour t 9 ,?, — Yes n l r . 

^#«»#.fh*fi were you I t r i l g when you. made t h i s a p p l i c a t i o n 
in ninety-six** A,--Arkansae, 

q.-«Ho*A' such land did you own? A.--'Right or nine hundred 
a c r e s . 

0,--l fhfsre was t h a t s i tua ed? A. — Frank l in County, Arkansas, 
Q*«--"When did y o u s e l l out arid move to tk T e r r i t o r y ? A.--Mov­

ed to the T e r r i t o r y in n i n e t y - e i g h t , 1 b e l i e v e . 
©.--Then at the time t h i s a p p l i c a t i o n was f i l e d you were a 

r e s i d e n t of the S ta tu of Arkansas and County of f r a n k l i n , 
and owned e i g h t or nine hu dred ac r e s of land? A.--Yes 

• s i r , 
©•--You voted t he re? A,--Yes s i r . 
©..--Held off ice there"? A.--Yes s i r , 
0 .—Chi ldren a t tended publ ic schools? A.--Yes s i r . 
© . - -pa id taxes? A.--Yes s i r , 
©•--You youse l f an app l i c an t . 

Mr. Hurley: 

Applicant by i n t e r m a r r i a g e . He made h i s .apj/lic at ion 
in n i n e t y s s i k and was denied by the u n i t e d S t a t e s Court 
on account of h i s f a i l u r e to comply with the Choctaw 
laws , he subsequent ly went h afore the Choctaw a u t h o r i t i e s 
and procured a l i c e n s e and remarried.. 

mm mmmt 
His wife, admitted h i s wife as an Indian "before and re-



i e c t e d h tn on the ground t h a t he had no t compiled with the 
Choctaw l a w s . 

Mr. Harley: 

Yes s i r . 
w i tness excused. 

VWHBW09 1AKLY, be ing c a l l e d as & wi tness 
on beha l f of the p l a i n t i f f s , t e s t i f i e d *a fo l lows: 

Mr. !farle;r: 

Q, . - - s t* te yoyr name"? A, - -Pres ton Ea r ly . 
Jfr, Tfarlny: 

T th in i ' wr« 'Warty d i d n ' t ts&e out, i second l i c e n s e , 
so Ml w i l l excuse h i n . 

CROSS yxAI!IWATIOK'. 

r , C o m l s h : 

C,--Toy. d i d n ' t procure a l i c e n s e under the Choctaw laws 
when you marr ied your wife*' A,-~N"o s i r , 

V i t na s s exc us i d» 

WWLtM H, 9 tmn« fcftlaj c a l l e d as wi tness on 
beha l f of the p l a i n t i f f s , look the s t and . 

Bmm T EX AJi mA? ION. 

Mr. Har l ay : 

0 . - - S t a t e your name? A.--Wil l iam H. Guyer, 
C,,--You are one of Kh.e a p p l i c a n t s in t h i s case? A,— Yes 

s i r . 
0 . - - H a r r i e d man1? „4.--Yes s i r , 
Q,--what is your w i f e ' s naae^ A. — gora. Guyer. 
^ . - - I h a t was he r n a a 1B fo re you mar r ied h e r ? A,-~Zora A. 

Lewis, 
0.--"5ho was h e r mother* A. - -Sarah . Lew i s . 
%*—^ho was h e r f a t h e r ? A.— I c a n ' t g i v e you h i s g iven 

name, k in s i r name was Adams. 
Q,.-"Your w i f e ' s father**1 A , - -wis name was Edward K. Lewis, 
Q.--YOU •$& your wife marr ied twice 0 A.~-~"Vea s i r . 
Q«--Where were you marr ied f i r s t tSjaef A.—-Uniyed S t a t e s 

Cleric 's o f f i c e here at South Me Ale s t a r . 
0 : ,--"Cidn't ms.rry at that '.ima according to the Choctaw laws? 
A,--Wo s i r , 
0 , . - -Af ter a rds marry he r in accordance -with the Choctaw 

laws'* A.--Yes s i r . 
Q.--X50 you remember shout when t h a t was Mr, Guyer* A,--

Ahout the l a s t days of August, T b e l i e v e , 
Q,.--*hat year** A,— N i n e t y - n i n e . 
(J , --Get -.-our l i c e n s e and comply wi th the other requirements 

of the Choctaw law with, r e fe rence to marrying Choctaw 
women? A.--Yes s i r . 

Q.,--Bid you r ece ive & c e r t i f i c a t e from the Choctaw au tho r ! -



t i e s 0 A.—Yes s i r , 
QJ(i~-T?'hat d u y0U , j 0 w i t j i your c e r t i f i c a t e * ' A,—Turned i t 

over to the Dawes Commission. 
Q..--?Icw in the cus tody of the Commission o r the Secerat&ry or 

some o f f i c e r of the I n t e r i o r Department"5* A.--Yes s i r . 
Q,--you af terwards made a p p l i c a t i o n to the Dawes Commission 

as an l a t e m a r r i e d c i t i z e n a f t e r you marr ied the second 
t irae • A» - - Y§ s n i r • 

Q.—your c e r t i f i c a t e i s a t taohed to those papers* A,--Yes 
s i r . 

©..--Living wi th y*«r p re sen t wit r* A.--Yes s i r , 

$mm*mMiMte ION. 

Mr. Cornish: 

Q,.--In what y e a r were you f i r s t mar r ied 9 A,— "f i rs t mar r i ed 
in n i n e ty- e igh t , 

Q.# — D i d n ' t get v» Choctaw l i c e n s e then* i*»--~Ho s i r . 
<T>.—Why n o t , you Igsew your wife was a "bioctaw* A,--Wife 

was not e n r o l l e d than , 
Q,,--After Jte r marr iage under the United Spates law, h e r 

a p p l i c a t i o n was disposed of, h e r a p p l i c a t i o n was g ran t ed 
to enrol lment , and in pursuance of t h a t y08 appl ied 
to the Choctaw a u t h o r i t i e s f o r a l i c e n s e ? A, — Yes a i r . 

F r . Har ley: 

Were you an. app l i can t in n i n e t y - s i x * A.— Hi s i r . 

} r . Cornish: 

Q.« — Then your claim was not be fore the Dawes Commission in 
n ine t y - p jbc ? /•. - - We • i r . 

Witn e ps exc used. 

IMffli B . PATIOS, being c a l l e d as • wi t ­
ness on beha l f of the defendants , t e s t i f i e d as fo l lows: 

j3 T nw, T ^rAim?ATIOW. 

Mr. Cornish: 

Q„— Tfcat i s your f u l l name*? A.--.Jesse B. i l a t h i s . 
Q,-«?h^re do you l i v e * A.—"Mine mi l e s Fo r theas t of Shawnee, 

Ok 1 ah om a T e r r i t o /*y, 
0,. — Hfev old are yo a t A.—Pif ty-s^ ven. 
Q.«—What i s your n a t i o n a l i t y , white man or Indian* A.— 

Supposed to be i white man. 
Q,- -Fot a c i t i z n of the Choctaw Nation? A. — No s i r . 
C..-~Did tyou know a man by the time of Jam.es Madison Lewis* 
A, — Yes s i r . 
P..—1te*rt did you p i r s t ge t acquainted wi th him. * A.—In 

Arkansas . 
0..—What County* A . - -Sebas t a in County. 
p..— Tn about what yt*>r? A.--Seventy* or seven ty-one . 
0.--How long did ycu continue to be acquainted with him, 

how long did you cont inue to know him* A.--Well about 
seven y e a r s . 

Q..—what became of him. a t fhe end of tha t t ime* A. — Fe d i ed . 
0..—You knew him about sryen years'* 4,**T«i s i r , perhaps 

a l i t t l e l onge r , t ha t is perhaps about the t ime. We 
was j u s t on the l i n e of Arkansas and the T e r r i tory. 

http://Jam.es


Q.--what younger members of t h e family b e s i d e s James Kadis on 
Lewis*? A,--Three hoys . 

Q,.--Warns them? A.--Edward -&--<& Thomas, I d o n ' t know t h a t 
I nan g ITO the middle names and Dave, then he had ano the r ! 

th*y ca l l ed h i s wheat , T d o n ' t know i'/hethar tha t was h i s 
nana o r no t , 

0 , . - -I w i l l &ak y#« if during a l l those yea r s in which you 
knew .tames Kadis on Lewis and h i s fami ly , from the tima 

of yfttr f i r s t acquaintance with then old man up to h i s 
dea th , did you ever h e a r my c laim upon h i s p a r t tha t he 
was a Choctaw Indian? A.)) To s i r . 

Q.. — .Tus t where did he l i v e in s e b a s t a i n County a l l t ha t 
time'? A .—fea r ly r i g h t due South of P o r t Smith, about 
ten or eleven m i l e s , 

Q,*~!f«ir what pos t office*? A , - - I t was c a l l e d Taoket t C i t y , 
Gi,—-V^aat did ha and h i s family do for a l iv ing ' , , A,--Fanned. 
0,,— Lid ha mm land? A,—Y»l s i r , T think s o , 
0.,--Tt i s your unders tanding t h a t he l i ved on land which he 

owned*9 4,»«*Y»* s i r , 
0,—Was he a c i t i z e n of the S t a t e of Arkansas, and did he 

o therwise e x e r c i s e the r i g h t s and. p r i v i l e g e s or* a c i t i z e n 
of t h e Sta te of Arkansas*3 A . - - I th ink ha d i d , 

o,~~T)id r c u h&ve nay d i f f e r e n c e s with thera° A.—k'o s i r . 
0,~-X w i l l ask you i f you knew anything about t h i s f ami ly 

f u r t h e r back than your acquain tance with the old man 
in the e a r l y seventies*5 A, — Ho s i r . 

0.--"Don't kno who h i s mother was*? A,— Fo s i r , 
0.— Hi* f a t h e r ? A.—^o s i r . 
q . - - " n o r any thing about h i s ances tors ' 5 A. — Y9 s i r , 
Q,--Know nothing about h i s having Choctaw blood or not hav-

ing Choctaw blood? A,— He s i r , 
0:, — There is with the papers a i aff idavit.3 t h a t pu rpo r t s to 

"be yTi a f f i d a v i t g Jgned b,y you, in which i s conta ined the 
s t a t emen t : "Ths a p p l i c a n t s , TLiward V. Lewis and o t h e r s 
are t h e Children of Tames M, Lewis, and I grand son of 

Sussanna Ting, who was a Choctaw Indian by blood »• 'Did 
you make t ha t statement** A.--Wever d i d , 

0 , --Did yon know a woman named Susanna King9 A.—Wo s i r . 
6,. — Bid ;vou hea r of a woman named Susanna Ting* A . - - T o t 

u n t i l r e c e n t l y . 
Q.--T unders tand you t o say and from the informat ion you 

have you could not have made* t h a t statement f A.-- Yes 
s i f . 

C,— T w i l l ask you £ you "were broqght b,v these people 
tUd t h e i r r e p r e s e n t a t i v e s and requested to mk s s t a t e ­
ment on t h e i r beha l f f £.~-~l m&d an a f f i d a v i t as to 
the i ' ' i d en t i f y , 

0 , , - -S ta te to the Court what they requested you t o do9 A.~-
Wim*|#d to know if 1 could make an a f f i d a v i t as to whether 

they were James F , Lewis ' s c h i l d r e n , 
0 . -" -^ is t r ep ly did you make to t ha t request*' A . - - I t o ld them 

t h a t I could i d e n t i f y them as be ing h i s ch ild r n. 
0 . —Then I understand vou to s-mr t h a t you to ld them that 

you kn«w them to be the sons of the old mm Lewis you 
had known*5. A.— Knew the m t o "be around the fami ly , and 

he recognized them as h i s c h i l d r e n , you inirht cons ide r 
t h a t I knew them back in M i s s i s s i p p i , bu t I knew them 

a f t e r they cane h e r e , 
ft*••Wife*!** did t h i s c o n v e r s a t i o n take p l a c e ? A, — Shawnee, 

Ok 1 ahoma Territory. 
Q l#--That was t he re r e p r e s e n t i n g these c la imants In the 

c a p a c i t y of attorney** A.--"Feller nsaed Arnold. 



Q.--Remember h i s f i r s t name* A.—T dorn t ba l l eve I could 
c a l l i t . 

Q,,~-T w i l l asi: you i f i t was ,T, ?,, Arnold or Janes B« 
Arnold9 A . - - 1 c o u l d e n ' t c a l l him b - t h a t nssme, 

Q(.—fhfct was h i s appearance as to r ace , what kind i f i man 
wU he? A,— He looked to me l i k e he might h w e cons ide r ­

ab le A r i o a n b lood , he e l ' s toed to be a Choctaw. 
.q#».-j w i l l (W8k you who did the w r i t i n g ? A..—As I under-

itKEUi t h a t Notary go and you fcell them. ™/hat you 
c o u l d i 

Q . - - S t a t e now who prepared the af" i d a v t t ? A.— This man 
Arnold, 

ft.—H|i read i t ? T T think he read i t . Perhaps T read 
i t myse'f, 1 would not b e p o s i t i v e , I was s i t t i n e by him 
when ha was making I t ou t , 

Q;--Was the s ta tement w r i t t e n out e n t i r e l y or was some of 
i t in t y p e w r i t i n g A . - - P a r t of i t t a g in t y p e w r i t i n g , Hi 
the form, I th ink t h a t he wrote stitti of i t h imse l f , 

C..--T w i l l fe«k you if the s ta tement which you signed c o n t a i n ­
ed the s ta tement t h a t you knew Susan Ting Mid t h a t she 
was % Choctaw Indian'-' A.~-5fo s i r . 

Q. — I t i t h id con ta ined t h a t statement yould you have 
signed it*5 A.-->xo s i r 

J T O 1 fOOTE: 

•-T unders tand you to say t h a t t h a t s ta tement was not 
in there*' A,—¥0 s i r , "if i t was he d i d n ' t road i t to 
me. 

Mr, Corn i sh : 

As b e a r i n g on h i s tes t imony and f o r the purpose of 
i d e n t i f y i n g the s ta tement and showing what the con ten t ion 
of the "Nations i s m wish to make reS rence t h i s 

MffidftTit e$ i t a p p e a n in the r aoo rd , the same , the 
eame pu rpo r t i ng to hwfe heeas sworn to before W« w. I T S S , 

The Ccv.rt w i l l observe that the form i s wade with a 
t ypewr i t e r and t ha t the p o s i t i v e s ta tements are made with 

a pen, t h a t the a t stem an ts are made with a pen, wheread 
the ba lance la in t y p e w r i t i n g . 

Mr 
C .ROSS-1YAM T-f AT 1017. 

Mr. H&rley: 

C.--YQU did make an a f f i d a v i t in t h i s case before W« ¥ . 
I v e s , ft "notary P u b l i c , did yo^t A.— T cannot be 

p o s i t i v e who the Notary was , I don ' t remember h i s name. 
Q:#--vou ni&de i t in Sh«*a«ef A,--Yes s i r I made Mi riff i d a v i t 

•ves s i r . 
Q.»--Arad t h i s i s da ted 18th day of August, n i n e t y - s i x , do 

you remember t h a t you mad- an a f f i d a v i t about t h a t time? 
A.--Tea a i r . 
Q.—You can re yd" A. — l thinx 1 do . 
4 . - " T 0 u c an r® a d "* A. - - v e s s i r . 
q.--Would not s ign m a f f idav i t wi thout reading i t over** A.— 

"'0 s i r , 
q„-.~YOu j»em<axber t h a t y u read o t e r the a f f i d a v i t ? I d o n ' t 

th ink T did, 
Q. - - I understood yen to say while ago tha t you read i t 

oyer, did you raad over what you signed4* A,—Yes s i r . 
§:..--T)o you ree?sb**r when you read over the a f f i d a v i t t h a t 

you sighed, whether there was some typewr i t i ng in i t 



l i k e t h i s , ani whether t h e b l anks were f i l l e d out*5 A.-~ 
THt forms were a l l w r i t t e n out on & t y p e w r i t e r end i t 
had s eve ra l ba lnks la h e r e . Blanks not a l l f i l l e d ou t , 

Q , - - I t i t had not been f i l l e d out t t t h a t t i n t i t would no t 
h t r t made sense would i t , "Beads a f f i d a v i t 1 ' . 

Q,.-- f yen wo til d Xt tTt out ± t e t h t t i t would not make sen set 
A..--HC t l r « 
Qj<t--Do you th ink a l l of t h t t was wr i t t en wi th § pen or 

was pa r t of w r l t t t S with a type-writer*-' A, ---Part of 
- i t was w r i t t e n with I pen, 

Q»-~dould you t e l l the Court how much if i t t /..--"I know 
I never knew Mrt, King, 

Q,,~~?ake t h a t and t e l l how much of i t h a s been f i l l e d , in? 
(Htadi a f f i d a v i t to w i t n e s s ) * A. — The a f f i d a v i t tha t 

I made, t h e r e was no th ing in regard to the grand son of 
Sutm Ying in i t a t a l l , 

Cu-" , rou a l t sure t h a t when you signed i t it, d i d n ' t con ta in 
tha t s ta tement t ha t he was the gratia son of Susan 
icings A.--Yes s i r . 

Q..~-"0o you remsmber who was p r e sen t when you signed t h i s 
a f f i d a v i t ? A.--T remember y r , P res ?,arly, JE& Lewi*, 
(Jttilge Me Yibben and t h i s f e l l e r Arnold and another , 

Q ;#--T&sen ,t i t ^rood Arnold* A,—Yes s i r , 
Q,.~~f!h.o was the one who saw you wi th re fe rence to g e t t i n g 

t h i s a f f i d a v i t ? .A,--Woodson, or something l i k e t h a t . 
Q,.--Yc yc" knov whether t h i s i s the n o t a r y ' shhand w r i t i n g 

or not*> A.- -This roan Woodson wrote i t , 
Q,--Woods on Arnold*5 A.--Yes s i r , 
Q,,--T'e© p a r t t h a t he wrote with a pen you seen? A,--Yes s i r 
Q,- -That a l l appears to be one hand w r i t i n g d o s e n ' t it** A,~ 

| b e l i e v e I t i s . 
© . - - ' n d t h i s *and the grand son of Susanna X'ing", you are 

conf ident t h a t t h t t was no t in the a f f i d a v i t because *, 
you d i d n ' t hsve t h t t knowledge a t the time" A,--Yes s i r . 

Qu*"»Ca® yen t e l l yon p o s i t i v e whether t h i s wr i t i ng was 
done by the He t t ry or Arnold** A,--Ye did some of the 
-vrting, bu t I c a n ' t say who done, i t b e e a u e t h e r e 

i s some tha t T d i d n ' t seen . 
0 , , - - I mea'i the p a r t t ha t you th ine was there alien you signed 

i t * e.--Yoodson Arnold. 
Q...--That i s your s i g n a t u r e 0 A, — looks l i k e ray s i g n a t u r e . 

JUDGI mAV&nt 

Q i.--Look nt i t c a r e f u l l y and s t a t e to the cour t if you 
b t l t v r t i t i s yew s igna tu fe^ A , - - I t i s my s i g n a t u r e . 

jsf! JT « **&i> i§ J k w S • 

0,--T)id you w r i t e that"* A,—Yes a i r , the way 1 s p e l l *y 
name, 

0,.--While ago I unders tand you to nay t h t t you knew old 
raan Yewis f o r about seven y e a r s in Arkansas? A,—Yes s i r . 

Q.»-YDo you re ember when he e s t there? I . — I d o n ' t '.know, 
Q,..~~?o r e f r e sh your me»©ry, I • • i l l ask you i f i t wesont 

seventy-one? A,--Yea a i r , I think i t was, 
Q,.--T w i l l m'K. you if he d i d n ' t reach the coun t ry in seven ty-

cr seventy-one? A, - -1 would not be -posi t ive , 
Q.,— T w i l l ask you if i t i s e n ' t a f a c t t h t t he died t he re 

in seventy f i v e , S d o n ' t thin t h t t i t i s , pe» d ied 
n e a r the Canadian P iver . 

Q8.-"~fie d.ied in se- tn t jHf ive? A.--T d o n ' t t h i n k i t was t h a t 
soon. 



Q,,»-Are you Is ah l a to say t h a t he d i d n ' t d ie in seventy- f iv®"'' 
A..—IJo s i r . 
Q.~~If he did d ie in seven ty~f ive , you would no t have Imown 

him seven years'* A.--Wo s i r . T d o n ' t t h in he died 
in s e v e n t y - f i v e . 

Mr. Cornish: 

Q..--T w i l l ask YOU if you are able to s t a t e p o s i t i v e l y 
•that tha t s igna ture to the paper which has been exh ib i t ed 
to tyou is in f a c t your s i g n a t u r e ? A. — I t looks very much 

0 . - - J u s t s ign your nane th ' t rff ( f i t n e s s s igns ngme on 
piece of paper* 

Mr. Corniiln: 

I o f fer t h i s paper as i pa r t of the tes t imony of 
t h i s w i t n e s s , and ask that i t be marked E x h i b i t _̂_ 

The m i was signed in the presence of the Cour t . 

Mr. H&rley: 

Q..--I w i l l ask you Imatkxxx if you eve r said to anybody, 
t h a t you v ould be w i l l i n g to give two or three hundred 
d o l l a r s to anybody to k ge t t h i s case defeated*5 A,— Wo 

s i r . 
Q,,~~£fever made t ha t s ta tement to anybody? A,-~}To s i r , 

ner&r d i d . 
Witness excused. 

JACOB s . BRIDES, being c a l l e d as a 
w i t n e s s on b e h a l f of the defendants , t e s t i f i e d as fo l lows 

13 7.mz T SXMI9 AT IOTT. 

Mr. Cornish: 

0 . - - S t a t e your f u l l name? A.- Jacob 8, Bender, 
Q.- "Hia t i s your tge? A, - - F o r t y - s i x . 
Q,,--Where do y©« live*5 A.**-T?p n e a r Shawnee, Oklahoma T e r l -

t o r y . 
0.--How long have you l ived in tha t country? A,—Eleven 

y e a r s . 
Q,.--Where d id you l i v e p r i o r to your removal to Oklahoma? -
A.--Creek If&t ion. 
0.--Di'-i you ever l i v e in Ark MIS a s , A,--Yes s i r . 
Q, --Mi at County*' A. - - seb as t a i n Counter, 
Q..-- i w i l l ask you i f whi le l i v i n g in ^-ebastain County 

Arkansas you became acquain ted with a man named james 
Madison lewis? A.—Yes s i r . 

Q.--Wh&t year? A.--Somewhere n e a r 1870. 
Q . - -£ id he have a family? A.—T'res s i r . 
Q.--Mention the xnambs r§ of h i s tttiiXy as you rem.ember i t ? 
A.-eHe had a w i f e , 
Q,--What was h e r nase? A.—Zora, I t h i n k , 
Q,,—Know the sons? A,--"d Lewis, Tom. l e w i s , Dave .Lewia, 

Wheat Lewis, I b e l i e v e they c a l l e d him Whea1,, I d o n ' t 
know -Ah e the r he had any o the r nme b e s i d e s t h a t o r no t . 

Q.—How long d id t h i s family of people con t inue to l i v e 
in t h a t County? A.--Three or foiir y e a r s , probably f i v e . 

Q,--About when did the old man d ie? A. — I t was i n , probably 



s e v e n t y - s i x , iHMmhtrt &bout then. 

Q.--There d i d you l i v e with re fe rence to them? A . - - I l i l t 4 
a l so in Arkansas . 

0,,~-HoW f a r from tham9 A,--"R%hty or n i n e t y m i l e s , 
Q,,— What « # m t y d id you l i v e in 9 A. — Sebas ta in County. 
0,. — And they l i vad in ^ s b a s t a i n County0 A . - - ¥ e n he d i e d . 
0,.— How f a r did you l i v e from t h a i when you both l i v e d in 

Sebas ta in 8 (Matty? A,—Four c r f i v e m i l e s . 
Q,.~-Did the old man own land? A. — 1 t h i n k ha owned land 

over there h i s hoys l i v e d wi th him a t t h a t time, soma 
of them did 1 donH know whether a l l of them did or n o t . 

0,,—Prom the time of your f i r s t acqua in tance with, the s ta tes 
family ay to the o ld man.*? dea th , did .you ever heard u-tij 
claim by than or on t h e i r b e h a l f t h a t they were Choctaw 

I n d i a n s , Ho s i r , newer d i d , 
C4--I)id you pe r sona l l y knew the h i s t o r y of t h i s family 

before t̂ « ? c ase to Arkansas? A.--Ho s i r . 
Q.-'-'Did vou know h i s f a t h e r and mother? A.—f@ s i r . 
0.--'"Do you know anything about hi© or h i s m c e s t e y A. - -

We s i r , 
0.— Bid you know n woman in M i s s i s s i p p i or anywhere e l s e 

named-Susanna King? A.**-5b s i r , 
G,.--?>'rr, ^ e n d e r the re i s in t h i s c a s e , f i l e d by the a p p l i ­

can t s what pu rpor t s to be an a f f i d a v i t s igned and sworn 
to by you on the 18th day of August, 1895, in which i s 
c o n t a l e d t h i s s t a t e n e n t : wJaco' S» Bender, being f i r s t 
duly swQra s t a t e s t h a t he i s person-ail:; acquainted wi th 
Mward M, Lewis, and knows him to be the person he rap re 

s e n t s himself to b e " , W$m then fol lows t h i s s ta tement : 
" t h a t app l i can t s are the sons of James M. Lewis and the 

grand son of Susanna Tring? who was a Choctaw Indian by 
b lood" "id you make the s ta tement he was the grand son 
of Susanna ""tag* 4.— ^o s i r , 

Q,—Could you have made t ha t s ta tement and have made a t -ue 
p t t t f B t a t ? A.-~Yo s i r , 

0 , , - -Md n o t have any Information or knowledge of h e r a t 
t h a t time? b'm*rg9fT9t saw the woman, 

0.,—-Will ask you* if t hese app l i can t s or t h e i r a t t o r n e y s 
came and ta lked to wou about g iv ing some s o r t of a 

s t a tement f o r them? A,— Fc answer, 
0,.— Did t h e y ask you to ffigri an a f f i d a v i t for them? A.- -

Yes I guess they d i d , 
©,.—Just r e l a t e to the Court -fhat t a l k you had wi th them, 

with re fe rence to what you knew about i t ? A.--Wanted 
me to id•mt i fy t h i s Ldward M, Lewis as the son of James 

¥. Lewis. 
Q,~-What r e p l y did you make*' A . - - I t o l d him t h a t he was 

the son of t h a t man. 
Q.-~You to ld them you could make a i t a tesnt tha t so f a r as 

you knew he was the s$g of the man you had known in Be-
b as t a i n County, Arkansas"5 ':.»-wes s i r , James F . Lewis. 

C . - ^ h e r e mm t h i s -affidavit made? Shawnee, 
0,--',Sho was present** A,—Why t h e r e was a good many, a l l 

the a p p l i c a n t s . 
Q.--Q, . - - tno seamed to be there as t h w l r lawyer or l e g a l 

r e p r e s e n t a t i v e 9 A,--Think he c a l M h imse l f Arnold, 
Q„,-~remember h i s f i r s t name*3 A.--T 'think they c a l l e d him 

J o e , 1 d o n ' t remember. 
Q.~- lha t n a t i o n a l i t y was he , what kind of i man was he? 
A.- ~T)&rk c omplec ted w an. 
%#*«HBit was he as to r a c e , what race did he be long t#? A . - -



I heard he was a nagro , T have heard, i t t a lked up 
t h e r e t h a t he was. 

Q,,—The s ta tement t h a t he had t h e r e was t h a t a l l w r i t t e n out 
or w?*a p a r t of i t with s typewr i t e r ' ' A , - - P a r t with a 
t ypewr i t e r^ . --Was t h a t read to ycu or did you k read i t 
you r se l f , how ?/as the con ten t s of t h a t p laced be fore you? 

A,--.Arnold re d i t , 
Q,--T;id ha or did h i not read to you the s t a t emen t t h a t 
t h i s mm warn the gr*nd son of Su**nn« ?:,Iing, and t h a t she was 

a Choctaw Tndlsn by blood? A»-*H« did n o t . 
Q,,--If he had what would ha re been your a c t i o n 0 A.--T 

could n o t hare signed i t . 

CHOSS-T^AMIMTTOTT. 

Mr. Harl&y. 

Q,.--You can r e sd 9 A.— ves s i r , 
© . - - I s t h a t v o u r s i g n a t u r e " (Herds paper to wJ&n'ewO* 
A.--T th ink i t i s . 
Q,-~^ron know ifeether i t i s ©r no t , d o n ' t yen? A , - - J th ink 

i t i s b e s t of Y knowledge, 
0 . - -wou ld you suty i t was y o u r s 9 A . - -Bes t of my knowledge. 
Q,.--T!id you put yottf s i gna tu re the re wi thou t reading what 

was in t h e r e 9 ' A.—I t o l d him to read i t . 
©..--would you XKX s ign an a f f i d a v i t wi thout reading i t 0 A,-~ 

T hare done i t . 
0,.—YOu s t a t e to the cour t t h a t you h a r e signed t h i s af f idav­

i t w i th out re ad ing i t* A . —Ye s § :• r . 

JUDGE FHOTF; 
©.--He read i t to you9 . — v e s s i r . 

Mr« b a r l e y : 

CL-~Who did the w r i t i n g 9 A.--Arnold. 

Mr. Cor - l ch : 

Q..--I w i l l ask you if you signed t h a t in the b e l i e f t h a t 
ha h.:.d c o r r e c t l y read i t to you9 

Mr. Ha**ley: 

We ob jec t , t h a t i s a l e ading q u e s t i o n . 
W i tn e s s e xc u s e d. 

HSTTX3S MATCT5A KICKS, b- ing c al ldd as • 
w i tness on beha l f of t h s defendants , took t h e s t and , 

B nm T macaus xov. 
Mr. Cornish: 

Q,,-~\wh&t i s your f u l l name, Mrs. txicks9 *,--TTettie M a t i l d a 
Hicks . 

0.. - •Hie re do you l i v e 9 *, - - t w e l v e m i l e s West of :hecotah» 
0..--H"sband l i v i n g 9 A.--wo s i r , dead. 
©'.--"What i s h i s name? /..--Thomas R, 'Pricks. 
©'.--were you l i v i n g a t Checotah, e igh t yea r s ago 9

 3£KXX A.--
Ho s i r , T was e n ' t l i v i n g where I now l i v e . 

©.--were you l i v i n g in t ha t neighorhood9 A.--Yes s i r . 



Q,,--T w i l l ask j'ou If you teaew in h i s l i f e time a man 
named jamas Madison Lewief A.—"?•• s i r . 

0,.~~TYiat was the name of h i s wifef ^-.--'"ora P. Lewis. 
0.**--1*hat was the n;m@ of h i s sons? A,--Ed Lev/is, Tom Lewis 

and another one, 
Q,„--Yhen did you f i r s t get acquaint ad wi th t h i s old man 

and h i s family ' ' A.--Or i t e t while ago, must have 
"been somwheres along about 1070. 

Q«--"'-%ere v;ere you 1 I T Sag a t the time*3 -A. - -Sebas t ian County 
Arkansas, 

Q#„_TTO«T long Aid you contue to know the old man? A.- -
AbotY four or f i r e y e a r s . Soxaewhers along t h e r e . 

Q.--T w i l l ask you If from th« t i n e of your f i r s t acqua in t ­
ance with t h i s old ma and h i s fami ly , up to the old 
mans dea th , d id y©U hee r him aleim t h a t he was a Choctaw 

Indian? K0
m*W9 s i r , l » T s r ta lked wi th then on t h e i r 

b lood , 3f«Tar heard t h a t they was u n t i l t h e i r c a s e , T 
seen i t in the papers , when, they a l t e r e d t h e i r c as®, 

Q,.--Was t h a t h fo re or a f t e r the old man •tvth? t , '~~After. 
Q,.--Did you have my acquaintance with t h i s miyia and h i s 

family p r i o r to 1070? A.--H0 s i r . 
C»--f i l you have any knowledge about them p r i o r to when 

you met thera in Set)** t a i n County* A,—No s i r . 
Q.--Ynow h i s f a t h e r or mother'5 A,-~Yo s i r . 
6#~*i|*v« no pe r sona l knowledge about t h e i r family h i s t o r y ? 
*»••¥© s i r . 
0,.--Tfnow e worn.an named Susanna KIM* A.—l^o s i r . 
0 . - - T h e r e i s wi th the papers in t h i s a: a & paper which pur­

p o r t s tc be your a f f i d a v i t , in which appears t h i s s t a t e ­
ment: " F e t t l e P i cks , be ing f i r s t du ly sworn s t a t e s t ha t 

shs i s p e r s o n a l l y acquqinted with .lames Madison LKJDOC 
and zora P. Lewis, and known them to be man and w i f e , 

and also knew hri. tfc be the son of SHS anna King, a f u l l 
b l o ' d Choctaw woman." "Did you make t h a t statement*? 

A.--YO s i r , 
0 , . - -Wil l ask "ou i f these people cane to you and t a lked to 

you about t h e i r c i t i z e n s h i p case? I t s i r . 
Q,,-~what t a l k d id they have with yOtff A . - -P resen t a t 

Shawnee when they was p u t t i n g down t h e i r names, and 
then they asked me if J would « i tness the papers as to 
th«m be ing the sens of lames M, Lewis, and I put my 
name down t h e r e . 

Q,.--?iK?y asked you to wi tness tha t they wejB the same per­
sons t h a t you knew in Sebas ta in County, Ark•»«**! A,— 

v e s r i r . 
Q.--Vou intended to do t ha t and no th ing more** A.~-?Tc s i r , 

T did not in tend my n a i e to . i t n e s s anything more t h in 
t ha t because T did not know t h a t . 

Q.--Was tha t s ta tement read Ower to you? A. --No s i r . 
1 d i d n ' t pay gj muc a t t e n t i o n to i t a t the t ime, 
b i g A crowd there and a l l t a l k i n g , and had to prove 

t h a t they were same Lewis, 
Q^-'-Lid. you unders tand t ha t you were tak ing an oath? A.— 

Yes s i r , f b u t I d i d n ' t A understand tha t I was a 
wi tness to anythirg e l s e , 

£),,-~You understood tha t you were to wi tness that these people 
were the same people you "anew down there? A.--Yes s i r* 

Q.--Lo you know whether these people ever claimed to h w e 
iHy Indian blood cr not? A, — Yo s i r , I do not know, 

Q . - - v o u r hush and, he i s dead"' A,--Yes s i r , 
Q.--There i s a l so a paper which p u r p o r t s to be s igned "by 

your hush and, was your husband p r e s e n t tha t day9 A.— 
Yo s i r . 



A . - - I signed, t h a t paper in Checotah, I . ? . , and the time 
T i lgn td ' in 8hiw®eef Oklahoma, I j u s t put my name 
down as F e t t l e Hi4k* I d i d n ' t say whether I was Miss o r 
n o t , and t h e papers w»r§ "brought ack and n r . Xftrly "brought 
them, to our house , and my husband and. 7 t « t he fo re a 

•wotary Pub l i c and signed than aga in . 
<3t.--!Did your husband know any mors about these people than 

you did so f e r e s you kn w*5 A.--?7ever remember hea r ing 
him say whether t"!-ey were Indians or no t . 

4,**Yott were not married whe1 you f i r s t knew them9 A.-~ 
?To s i r . 

P .•i»lBp re W9 7-our husband r a i s e d ? A.--Brought from 
Tennessee to Arkansas when he ?;as a smal l boy, 

©.."•"•"Where did he f i r s t get acquainted with t h i s f a m i l y ' 

Mr. Her ley : 

That i s hea r say , 

!*r» C o n i i s h : 

I though in j u s t i c e *. 0 the dea t h i s s ta tement ought to 
be male . 

CHoes-WMKiirATOT. 
Mr. TTarley: 

0.--H0W old am you"9 A, - -Por ty-one xaosxx yea r s o ld , 
Q,,-*-How old were you utim yOU f i r s t knew old man Lewis'* A , - -

T c a n ' t h a r d l y t e l l you, T w a s e n ' t grown. 
0,,*"-Wasen't grown9 A»"»*JflP s i r , T was e n ' t h a r d l y grown. 
Q,.--*F©r^ y0n over f i f t e e n ? A : - - I dOfttt know whether T was 

or n o t , 
Q(.-«.T»on»t remember whether you were oyer or under f i f t e e n ? 
A.--Tfo s i r , W Quite • whi le ago. 
0,--Fcw was i t tha t you to ld the Court that i t was seventy 

or seventy-one ^iftt*-? T sa id seventy , 
Q..--How can yeta reiMrtfeer t h a t itieti yoti don ' t remember how 

old you were? A.--T can count I t up . 
0 , - - ^ « l l how old were you? A.- -Put me back q u i t e a small 

g i r l was en* t q u i t e f i f t e e n yefrfl o l d . 
Q.—T ^ i s h you would Mtfttt to the c o u r t how old you were 

when you f i r s t knew t h e s e Lewis, you was j u s t s i x o r seven 
yea2*B old wasen ' t you1* A,--Romawheres along t h e r e . 

Q...--How can you remember tha t i t was in seven ty , seventy-
two or seven ty - f ive t h a t you f i r s t knew them, if you were 

only seven years old then*' A.--T said t ha t wa along 
about the time I kno<"ed them, "$n& I was a n ' t grown when 

t i t ty mov^d away, 
Q.~~You wasen ' t f i f t e e n when they moved away from there"1' 
A,--Ho s i r , 
©..--How can you remember th at you knew than f i r s t in 1870, 

when you was Sfftly s i x or seven y e a r s old, why d i d n ' t 
you f i x t h e yea r 18 71 , how did you happen to f a l l on 

the y « s r 18 7®, who suggested i t to you'' A.--Uobody. 
Q,."-You remember much e l s e t h a t happened along about 18709 

A.,--Tfo s i r , 
Q,.--Anything p a r t i c u l a r to f i x in your mind when you. f i r s t 

k ew old man Lewis9 A.-~7?o s i r 
Q.--YOU x cannot t e l l why you f i x the y e a r 1S70. Wi l l 



i t wasen ' t s e v e n t y - f i v e 9 A,— Caa*'t aay t h a t . 
0.--C«.n» t say at a l l f A,--wo answer, 
0,—vou can read0 A, )Yai s i r , 
0.—Ton s i g n i f f i d a v i t s and swaar t o papers wi thou t 

ra id ing them and knowing what you »ra s ig ing" A,-»Wall 
s i r , T d i d n ' t r e a l i s e th I T was s ign ing t h e papers 

tha t they here got h e r e , 
.5,«*«*You faew t h a t you wara swearing and. under o s h t when you 

signed t h a t paper" A.--Yes s i r , 
0,--And ye t you s t a t e to the Court t h a t you signed i t 

wi thout reading i t * A,»**lfe a i r , 
g#--T.rave you done i t o f t en 9 A.--FO sir . , f i r s t eda* X was 
w.- f^d^l^y^i^^ggi .a fehow you BWora to t h i s without knowing 

what you wore swe r ing t o 9 How do«s i t happen tha t 
you m o m to t h i s a f f i d a v i t without kno?; ing what it, 
contains d*- A,—"hey wanted » • to wi tness the papers 

t h a t they were the same Ltvif tha t I had known, and t h a t 
i s ft* f a r as I intended to witness the a f f i d a v i t . 

0,.—Tf you signed t h i s paper the Wotary Public swore 
t h a t the m a t t e r s and th ings wo • t r u e 9 A,—Taa s i r , 

q#-"-voi,j t a l l thn Court tha t you signed t h a t without read ing 
til1 A«»-Y8f s i r , 

Q#—what excuse do yoaglVa, what exp lana t ion do you g i v e 9 

A. - -Can ' t t e l l you, 
Q,--Any exp lana t ion to o f fe r 9 A.--Fc s i r . 
Qi,--Who f i r s t t a lked to you ahout earning ha re as* a wi tness 

f o r the f a t l i f t s who f i r s t t a lked to you? A.—Can't 
rata ember h i s name, he t o l d me h i s UMBO, 

0»-~T.1*hat did he t a l l ."-on he wanted9 A,— Ifaittad • 8 aaa w i t ­
ness ther«; on beha l f i f the i<Tattons, 
0 .~-Pid h« have a copy of t h i s i f f i d a v i t 9 A.--?7o answer. 
Q,—Sid you, t a l l him what yau had sworn to 9 A» — Taa s i r . 

Ha asked me i f I had wi tnessed a pajpar s t a t i n g t h a t the 
Lewis ' s was the same Lewis ' , » d a f te rwards if T had wi 

nessed t paper whan these ying paople were in ther« , and 
T «aid t ha t if t h a t was in the re T d o n ' t remember i t . 

0,--Th&t i s a l l w r i t t e n with a jitm** H<»-Ya« s i r . 
Q, - - Ts th a t y a w s ign at ure f A, • * Yat s i r , 
Q . - - f h a t i s ••rour s i g n a t u r e 0 A.- - V «s BIV, 
Q,--vou swnra to t h a t before J , B« ?>?o r r ow, IFotaiy Publ ic a t 

Ch a© a t ah 9 A , - - -^a - g$ r . 
Q..--T w i l l read t h i s ofer and. kdva you t e l l the r o u r t i f 

you swore to t h i s a f f i d a v i t * "Beadf a f f i d a v i t , Did 
you s ign t h a t a f f i d a v i t 9 * , - - T did and t ha t* a i n ' t 
b u t one thing in t h a t a f f i d a v i t T d o n ' t know, That 
Susanna King j <f o n ' t know, bu t the r e s t of t h a t c a l l i n g 

the a l i a I knew tha t and 1 knew Mr, Lewis and a l so the 
old lady, and t h a t Is what they wanted » i t w i t n e s s , and 
t h e r e i s something t h e r e , where i t comes in Kb out Susanna 
icing, T d o n ' t ram^mber t h a t , of course a f t e r I r*aad i t 

over , as to t e l l i n g you T d i d n ' t read i t ov^r, T read i t 
ovar, bu t I d o n ' t remember wi tnes s ing t h a t , T d o n ' t 

know them puopla , but the r e s t of theia people I know. 
0,, — That i e .all r i g h t with the except ion of Susanna King9 

A.—"V«a s i r . 
Q,-~This on® you swore to ov«r at Chacotah*5 A.—Yoa s i r . 
ft.--Swore to the o the r on« over a t Shawns®? A.—Yes s i r . 

Mr, Cornish: 

If the Court p l e a s e she has not sa id anything ahout 



p l a i n t i f f a f f i d a v i t in Shawnee, 

JUDGE A33J8C8: 

Q TTs has examined h e r on t h a t p o i n t . 

JUDGE ^OQTF: 

-Thas® i f f id w i t f w t r i offer-ad by you aa true i f f M e r i t s 
i r t you f ry ing to d i s c r e d i t them. 

¥r. Harlyv: 

lo • ir. Pro-'in;'- that they exacted them, 

JUDGE FOOWJ 
Toti asi®* h e r lf" she executed these a f f i d a v i t w i th ­

er ut knowing' ? h i t I t c on111 • ed. 

JUDGE m m ® ; 

0.--KO-- f a r did. you l i v e f r o m Shawns® at the time you made 
tha t -sff idavl t in Shawnee? A.— I d o n ' t know J u s t how 
f a r i t i s . I l ived in two mi les of where T l i v e now. 

0 # - - / .bout how f a r is it*5 A. — S t r a i g h t across this country 
about, e i g h t y - f i v e m i l e s , 

Q,,~-*K w did j Ota happen te go up there*'' A#*»*»0p t h e r e v i s i t ­
ing My b r o t h e r in lew. 

% # *-Bida t t go on purpose to male® m affidavit*!' A.--1TO s i r . 
Q,.--Who i s your b r o t h e r in %.tmf A, — Jacob Bander 
Q,.--*?h.ll« ycu wara there you learned t h e s e aff id ©v i t s 

wei'e be ing taken and t a u t i s how your a f f i d a v i t happened 
to bs tftlcen^5 A»**Tfl s i r , 

Witness excused. 

FIRAK F. SJUttTi be ing c a l l e d a w i t n e s s 
on beha l f of the defendants , took the s tand . 

BfmiCT "PT.AFIFITIOF, 

Mr. Cornish; 

$ # —Sta te your f u l l nanaf A.—Fii**j» ¥!« E ^ r l y . 
0,.--Fo-\- eld i n you F r , Ear ly? A.--About f i f t y - s i x or 

f i f ty-Sf-vsn, some where a along t h e r e , 
0,.--1Si3r-a d yeta l i v e 0 A..—Cherokee n a t i o n . 
Q;.~-Are yota a wh i t s nag or Indian by bloodf A.—fhi ta man. 
0,, — T w i l l a a k ysu i f you ware acquainted with I man named 

J&mes Slldisen lawla in h i s l i f e time? /•. - - ""as a i r . 
Q,.—Whar« d i " you f i r s t Imo h l» f A.—-Sebastian County> 

Arkansas , 
Q.-~In what 3rear? A. - - f i r s t ge t acquainted with him in 

seventy-one or seventy- seven ty -one . 
c,#—JTOW long did you continue to know hip? .A. — up to 

&bout the JTMeT sf*v«nty-five, 1 b e l i e v e . 
Q . - ' ^ h a t r e l a t i o n s h ip did you b e a r to the family? A . - -

Son in law of h i s . 
($,*—Yo« marr ied one of the s i s t e r s of Edward K. Lewis?* 
A.—ves s i r . 
Q.— In afeat yaar did you marry he r? A.- -Seventy- two. 
0,. — In what year did tha old man d i e ? A, "*>§«•• ar of s even ty -



f i v e i s ay r e c o l l e c t i o n . 
Q,.*"~Did he ems l a i d in gebas ta in County, Arkansas? A,— 

Yes i r , he haft a> p lace there, , 
p . — I h e r e was h i s p l ace located.'5 A.--On the l i n e , Choctaw 

l i b a of Sahaat ian County, 
{J*#«**Hh%t c "mnaub i t y or post office*? / . - - E n t e r p r i s e , "between 

Y n f s r p r i s e tmd. Eaclcatt C i t y , 
o.—^rom the time of your f i r s t acqaimt^nce iritll the old. 

man up to h i s death , did you aver h e a r him c la im to he 
a Choctaw Ind ian "by 'blood** ,--Ho s i r . 

%,—Rave you hea rd him make any .statement with r e f e r ence to 
.Choctaw c i t i z e n s ip*5 A . - - 1 think 1 h a r e . 

Cu — Repeat to the cour t what a ta tenants you ha f t heard h&a 
make*? A . - - I t a l k i n g in the family f I have heard htm 
ma>3ca remark, the earn a as a good many more alonp; a t tha t 
t ime, hut t h a t he \ ould no t claim c i t i z e n s h i p when he was 
not m I nd i an . T heard him say t h a t , 

P . - -The o ld man sa id t h a t lie was not an Indian and did no t 
have any Indian bloodf A.--Yes s i r . 

0,#--vcu a ay th :•" eld man 4 fed. in s s Y e n t y f i v e or six'"'1 A.~~ 
Tre s S i r, 

0 , - -Hor long a f t e r t h a t time was i t that the 'boys Bet up 
a c i t i z e n s h i p c l a im, i n about what yea r , f i x i t as 

w-.-^r a* you can? A.--T guess i t was s e v e n t y - s i x or seventy-
HfreS| i t might h a r t keen as l a t a s e v e n t y - e i g h t , I 

do n± r e c o l l e c t how long t h a t was. 
Q»—'ffeat sons did the old man have? .A.--There i s I d , Tom, 

Dave, three marr ied sons . 
n ,~ - ?ha t s ta tements h«r« you hea rd them make rrith B f arenca 

to t h e i r c i t i z e n s h i p claim and with r e f e r ence to the 
manner in which She conceived i t ? j!,.»«"1ltiei! I f i r s t 
lamw anything about the c i t i z e n s h i p c l a im, I d i d n ' t know 
anyth ing of I t u n t i l i t was p r e t t y wel l f ixed up, b u t 
the;- t o l d me about i t , 

JUDGE ABAFf-: 

O.-^dio to ld ycu*> A.-~Hhoda Qowert, 

Mr. Cornish: 

Q,--^o-T was aha r e l a t e d to old nan tawlaf A.—Daughter. 
Q.,—What did She t e l l gou? A,~-n&id tha t they had w i t n e s s e e s 

t o a w • a r th a t th ej * ee re Tn d i an s . 
%»»**&id she say what" wl tnaasas they had? A.--One f e l l e r , 

T d o n ' t remember h i s name, hi,'-; name was Lewi** T may have 
paen him once. I heard, him c a l l e d d i f f e r e n t na»e»» 

(|»»»4fave ,-on heard XA Lewis make lay s ta tement? A.--Ho s i r , 
q.—^ftar any s ta tement from Dave Lewis'? A..--Yes s i r . 
r.«-Yrb*rt i id Dare say. ; 

Mr. Harl«y: 

Bewe Lewis i s not an app l i can t in t h i s cast*. 

Mr. COrnish: 

He i s the son of old Jama a Kadis on Le* i s , He was a 
p a r t y to tha o r i g i n a l p roceed ing , 

Mr. HarLsy: 

TTs was not a p a r t y to t h i s u i t , i t would not ba r e l e v a n t 
in t h i s case and would not b*i competent . 



IT, Ifensfie] 

Vb txjp#»t to show that lit was married into the family, 
and we expect to »hm» the statements of various members 
of the fttnily t ha t then* was a f r^utulent c i t i z ensh ip 
claim puy on foot by th is family, ? t r t of the f w i l y 
froi'f! wiiom he heant them are probably dead ' lit soma 

of th«m are l iv ing and applicants here and others whose 
statements hM wil raake, provin?" th« fraudulcnoy of th i s 

clajbra, and we think i t pe family competent foi*.-.h$M* a 
mber of the family to state what thai* persons s&M to 

"him when they f i r s t launched the claim, 

Mr. Cornish: 

She court wi l l renamber that in this pa r t i cu l a r case 
they are relying upon a f a f f idavi t that was taken a t that 
time which was taken in tha t pra te ding, ana which 
t h i s man V&B a par ty to and the evide ce raken in that 
proceeding, 

Mr. Harley: 

He not only married into the f «nily, hut he asperated 
from the. woman ha did Marry, and there is an i l l 

feel ing exist ing between him and the othr memberB of the 
family, and he now scales to t e s t i f y about what a man 
sa i l that is dead, lH cannot br ing him, here to refute 
the statements. Any statement ha may choose to s t a t e 

wi l l be perfectly competent as to mv of th i other, 

i t t n footiii 

W» omi hear him subject to object ions. 

nmt mm®-. 

'fliis witness have any conversation with any of these 
a : pi le a n t s . 

Mr. Comish: 

Yes s i r , Rh.oda Cowart, 
Mr, Harley: 

She has been dead for twenty years , 

Mr. Cornish: 

Are not tha descendants of t h i s man Dave Lewis p a r t i e s 
to th is su i t . 

Mr. Her ley: 

'Mot that I know of. Halt are a number of children of 
James Madison Lewis, 

Mr. Comish: 

I wish the court to bea r in mind tha t the* main evidence 
which they rely upon at t h i s time is the evidence of 
t h i s man Lewis In a proceeding to which th i s man was a 



p a r t y. T t h i n k t h a t any c o n t r a d i c t o r y s ta tement 
which he .made to t h i s man would ba competent . 

JUDGE FOOTK: 

I do not th ink , s t r i c t l y speaking thut i t is competent , 
b u t m ha re been allowing i t a l l to go in sub jec t to ob-
j ec t ions. 

mxm JKMMS: 

T d o n ' t th ink til at i t i s competent . Tf you can show, 
you s t a t ed t h a t you could show t h a t t he re was a consp i racy 
on the p a r t of a l l of t hese people to put through a 
fr&u&t&ent c laim and t h a t t h i s w i tness would t e s t i f y 
as to tha t enders t ending between t h e p a r t i e s , 

Mr. Mansf ie ld: 

Ha could only t e s t i f y by what took plans feettwaea 
then at t h a t time, ? o r instejEMsa he w i l l t e s t i f y ytimrnkx 

mKxXk&XWBBg, what they were t e s t i f y i n g &bout as to vh e ther 
t h i s man had an jrl% n nam® r not., Ra sal1, t h a t they 
c ould h i r e t h a t fe l low and ge t h iia to make an a f f i d a v i t , 
and thereby ge t admittedj t ha t he heard thata o one u l t ing 

in the fami ly about i t , 

Mr. E a r l ay: 

If any of these a p p l i c a n t s , t h a t would be competent , 

Mr, Fan a f i e l d : 

There i e not a ease tha t does n t r a f t upon hearsay 
and in view of what i s gone in and t ha t aftidavit i s 

simply a r e f l e c t i o n of th« s t a t emen t s of i&^joiMXtxx a 
dead man, I t h ink t h i s should be allowed to go in . 

Mr. Harlay; 

tf t h a t "be t r i te c e r t a i n l y they can connect some of 
t h i s isann b r o t h e r s nd s:st«»ro, 

Mr* Corn i sh : 

I t w i l l "be developed t h a t the descendants of t h i s 
l a Dave t,e>wi« are p a r t i e s to t h i s s u i t , 

JU7XJK IBMUS: 

Sea " h a t ha knows, 

Mr. .Cornish: 

Q,t—-Just s t a t e to the Court vliest t a l k you he-d. wi th Dare 
I«wli ebcut t h i s mftt tar and o t h e r masters of the fami ly 

about t h i s case*9 A . - -A l l the t a l k t h a t I Tmm of was 
to g e t up evidence tc prove t h a t they were Choctaws* 

Q;.-~'who t s lkad to ;rou ebout g e t t i n g up evidence? A,—Dave 
Lewis Shoda Cowart and o t h e r s , 

n , - - ' " h a t other ' ' A*— Camvt remember, *»* the family I 
guess ta lked sbo-t i t , T d o n ' t remember any of them. 



Q.--YOU wer« at t h a t ':ixm the husband of one of the g i r l s ? 
.A,—Tea ssir, 
Q.—Wh*t was t h e i r ob jec t in t a l k i n g to you? A.—Put t ing 

in to pay these? w i t n e a s t s , g e t t i n g ev idence , 
, Q.--Tn what y e a r l i d t h a t occur* A. - -1 th ink i t was in 

s e v e n t y - s i x o^ seventy-seven , T th ink a.s m i l l as T can 
r e c o l l e c t . 

Q,,~-•''*"ith re fe rence tn t h e i r w i t n e s s e s , what wi tness did they 
say they had9 A,--Lewis and I heard ftfltrvsril someone 

e l s e , T dont t know h i s r i g h t same), fh ty wart- te pay him 
id much c o t t o n . 

Q.,--HOW much cotton*? A.--About threw hundred d o l l a r s 
was whet he wanted, he was paid ahout Ehat much. 

Q.--? rhat st*rement did "ou malt* to them with re fe rence to 
t h a t p r o p o s i t i o n did you g© in with tfetM*! A.—«o a i r , 
T did n o t go in with then, 

Q,-~what did you say to them? A.- -^aid T was not going 
in to ft frmA» 

Q,---"Ho "ou IttOw how von*- metthera of th.is fami ly you had t h i s 
t a l k with* A,-—'Han't say t h a t , 

©#--Pv r ,r "ha t p e r i o l of time d i d t h i s t a l k occur7 A»**YWaf 
or twoj hid pome* t a l k oat way o r the e t h e r with a l l 
of the family, h u t then I d o n ' t r e c o l l e c t . 

0 ;»--you say tha t you h a r e t a l ked ahout t h i s ma t t e r wi th 
n e a r l y a l l ©f the meahars of the f a t l l y f A«—Y«s s i r , 

Q..--T w i l l ask yen if you ta lked with Kdward Iff* Lewlat 
A«~-Yt« s i r* 
o , - - " 7 i l l ask you if you ta lked with Jawen ? , yawin? A . - -

Yea s i r , ta lked + o the «te 1« family, a l l 'he grown ones, 
(^••Ifitte r e f e r ence to the m a t t e r of the c i t i z e n s ip claim? 
.A.--Ts : s i r . Tcan ' t ran i l l m y t h lag t h t was sa id about i t 

httt we t a l k e d . T don ' t r e c o l l e c t the t a l k tha t I had, 
0,.— Where ware the Lewis 's l i v i n r at that time? A.—Some 

of th»;m w»r« l i v i n g dewa hy ma on the l i n e cf the Choc­
taw n a t i o n in Arkansas, and seme of them wore l i v i n g 

\% m *»£ 
:-i *•••• J W » 

p., •»-Those t h a t were l i r i a g in the Choctaw Hat ion, on whose 
p laee were they l i v i n g ? A.--T hsard t h a t they taken a 
l e a s e from Wade 7TcI r inncy(???), 

Q.--TT0V?- f a r did yen l i r e from thea t A.-- ^ v e n t y - f ive or 
s i x t y m i l e s . 

Q,«<»whare did you l i v e ? Arkansas. 

Mr, f t e r l ty ; 

T demit think t h a t i s competent ev idence , 

JUOT AT>AT̂ : 

T don»t see t h a t i t amounts to anything one way or 
the o tha r . 

Mr, Cornish; 

©.--w^re was the old man l i v i n g when he d i ed 9 A,--Arkansas 
be fo r e he d i e d , he died en the road between up h e r s and 

the n a t i o n and dews t h e r e , on the ,?ita King P r a i r i e in 
the Choctaw n a t i o n , 15lad on the road* 

c msn^mmiSAS TOW. 

Mr. Har ley : 



0,,~-irnat l i t he a t i ( of th.e daughter of Tames Madison Lewis 
t h a t vou married*3 A.- S%?ah ,T» 

r> ( --yrfep*r« yon Married to he r ? A, - -Sebas t i an County, Arkansas. 
p.--How long dicl ycu l i r e wi th har h*f** A.--About sfiYan 

yes r s . 
Q,,--Ts she dead? A,--Ves s i r , 
0.---^ead ?rheo y t « ijuit 1 I T lag with h'?r° A,--Wo s i r , 
Q,.~-Pepe r a t ed f o r he r? A.--Yes s i r , 
Q#«.«<if)i«rt where yen 1 I T lag when jmn separate*! from her* A.--

Codorado. 
a ,-- i rhen did you go to ""dorado wife h e r " A.--0879. 
o,-- :=iie !?c with rou° *«***Y*i s i r , 
0.,--"voi,i separa ted trtm he r out (-here* l#"*Tll s i r , 
Q,--TTO^T long were you slaglw when - o u mafTie<|* A:--Three 

y e a r s , 
Q ••'Whew did you marry* A.~-Yh«rode« Nation, 
0 , - " v o u r . a r r i s d a Cherokee woman*5 A,~-Y«s s i r , 
Q»»*TPU ^rs; a Brother *f P ress Ear ly one of tae a p p l i ­

can t s in t h i s case ' ' a«»»Yes s i r . 
o , - - v o i i r f i r s t wife was a s i s t e r of P re s s i a r l y * s wife? 
1 . m - v » e a 4m -' * I • • *• » 
p.--You. two b r o t h e r s Har r ied s i s t e r®* A,—Yes elx% 
Q t-~vou a&Te not been on geod terms wi th Press Rar ly s ince 

you separa ted from your wife h a r t you* A,~~d?c a i r , 
Q .--*?rhsre were yea lit" tag when t h i s c i t i z e n s h i p e l a t e was 

s t B rtwdf A . - - A rit ans as» 
Qli»«'When did i t s t a r t * A,--About saventy-seven or s r r s n t y -

s i x , 
^••HOw did they s t a r t i t * a»*»»<let som« witaefftj I d o n ' t 

know whe they /rot, claimed to fee Hhoc awe, 
0 , - - ' d o n ' t JMaw when fh^5- s t a r t e d he proceedings'* JU—rfifi t 

yea r o:r katw of i t was 8erea#y*»sl3c, 
(Jt«f»«f»h*t '-as when the;? commenced to SB a"c shout it*> A.-~ 

TeB s i r , 
Q , - - r , c n ' t k&aw when they s t a r t ad i t * 1.--YG s i r , d o n ' t 

loaow the d a t e , 
n ,—vovr O&erelcee wife i s aew I t ? lag* &#*»»Yei s i r . 

JTTDGF AP AYB: 

o , - - ^ h a t yea>r did you sepa ra t a f ron y e a r wife? A»~-
1879," 

q„--F«ss she l i v i n g in. ninety-six*? A.--I think so , 
0,,--7s she I p a r t y . t t h i s p roceeding . 

Mr. war ley: 

Cm i 11 sd f re in t h a 0 r i g laa 1 ep pi io at on fe «c a us s ah e was 
l i v i n g in d o l o r edo, 
Wltaess excused. 

SUPYY A. YAPTY, being c a l l e d as I 
Witness on beha l f of the defendants , t e s t if lad as fol lows: 

q, ,V*statt v o w f u l l oaste* A. — Susan A. P a r l y . 
0.»»»|f®w old are y®Hf *,— Pom in 18;->4, geing on seventy-

years o ld . 
.»~"!beroks-e Indian, 

ftV*'*ihr ©!«#* A,—Y»f s i r . 



Qv-HSltiX#M of the Cherokee 1f:3rion^ A.--Yes s i r , one 
f o u r th 0 h • r oka ft, 

Q,-~1,T:r""e . f Hiram H, f a r l y ? A»--YiS s i r , 
Q.~-vow fenftW the fami ly of Lew i x ' s * A,—Yes s i r , 
§« - - Bat* t h t Lawia t ha t you know, the o lde r mwmhtrs of the 

family 9 A#»-J«K«« P. Lewlig ?0» Lawlg, M Lewis, Dave 
Lewis, Ophol ia Lawlf, Hophia Ltwia and ffarah L*\?is. 

0..—;iftLwr* d id you f i r s t ge t acqu t i n t e d with t h i s fsraily9 

A.--T th ink seven ty-seven , l i v e r between us . 
Q,,-~Tou l i ved on the Charokes s ide* A.--Yes s i r , and they 

l ived on the Choctaw s i d e . 
Q; - -?ha t v-as in seven, t y - a even*' A,— T th ink SO, 
JL* - i h a t members of the family waa i t (hat l i v e d across 

the JHver from yottf A^-'-tJave Law i f was t h e f t , b u t I 
d o n ' t know how many of them had a farm put in t * r® to 
g e t h e r , Took a leas®, 

0.--Prcm whom did they take the l e a s e " A.—John __ $ 
Q,--Ttk« a l ease and l i v e that* ft avofeer of years"'? fA.--

Y»i s i r , fou r yea r s the l ea se c a l l e d f o r , 
0,—you wars wel l acq'-minted with Dave Lawli* A,--Yes s i r 

'Tom Ltwifl and the old lady, I knew a l l the f ' f r l s w e l l . 
P..--7 w i l l ask you to r- l a t a to th j Oouft what t r a n s p i r e d 

when you ware v i s i t i n g at Dave Lewis, what e secured 
and what he sal:1 t o you*' 

Mr, F a r l e y : 

Yt want to i n t e rpose fehaj aame ohi ac t ion as s t a t e d 
ii w h i l e tiitT o , 

JUDO- ADA S: 

Proceed. 

A»*-Ha was Mrs, Lewis ' s aan » Had a the p laaa under 
one fence and t m n i n g rows hetwan each o t h e r s c rop , 

and d i d n ' t hava to hava so many r a i l s , and liters was a 
s i g h t of t imber down t h e r e i t waa in savanty-"eight, t h a t 
they had the log r o l l i n g , «d asked ray huabatat, named 
Jack Hal lay and th«3 aska him to the ion: r o l l i n g , and 
they a aid cone aloiag too AtJUt Su#| and 1 at id I c a n ' t 
r o l l longs and sa id coma along any ay. 

%•<--IfhiO'h of these Lawla were p r e s e n t at thy4: log r o l l i n g ? 
A, - " i c an ' t t e l i , 
o^-- ,"«re tha re o ther members of th« Lawla family there? A** 

I d o n ' t know, and a f t e r d inne r waa a i t t i n g a round ta i k i n g 
shout having so many logs to r o l l , sad T sale' i t i s 
aha? *©rk t i n t i t , oxid. he said you s«e those "b s les of 
eot ta 'a oyer feara aid T said yes , and ha s s l d thosa c o t t o n 
h a l e s and S$ae mora l i k s them w i l l prove na to he a 

Choctaw, and i sa id if ya« iter® i Ghaetaw *:hy did you 
cone down end l e a s e land and he saM ' o r reasons h e a t 
known to myself, and 1 sa id are you a Choctaw, T j u s t 
thought h« was j o k i n g , ha was aXwayi j o k i n g , and he 
s a ' d T w i l l prove i t , and he laughed and tfcera was no 
fflorj said, shout i t . 

^.--How long a f t e r t h a t was i t t h a t you understood that 
there was a claim on foo t ? /.,--Wasen»t very long. 

Q,,—How long d id you know than be fo re tha t t ime. A.- -
That was a t the log r o l l i n g , T think I t was In saventy-

seven, T knew them in seventy-adbooc e i g h t , mid in seven ty-
n i n e or e igh t they l e f t t h a t p a r t of the coun t ry . 



o . - -Befo re th i s log r o l l i n g did you ever h a a r th«a c la im to 
ha Choctaw Indians? A.--Mo s i r t h a t i s the reason t h a t 

I though JCSXDCX they were j o k i n g , and i t was no t long 
a f t e r t h a t tn&t I heard tha s u i t was i n s t i t u t e d . 

OnOBS-KXAVXlATIoy, 

Kr. Har ley : 

0 , - -7ou ar« t»w ife of Hiram H, 'Parly*? xxiaoc A.—Yes s i r , 
Q,,--How many times have you bwen na ri*d? A,~"Yiv,: t imes, 
A, - -Hi y o ur f if Ik? A, - - Ye s » i r. 
Q.--How long have you **>en married*-* A.~~Wighty. 
o . - - y o u d i d n ' t f a l l in law with him whi le he was l i v i n g * i t h 

old man Lewis' daughter ' ' A.--Wasfen't Qfir l i iere . Knew 
the b a l a n c e of thorn, "but, d i d n ' t know him. 

$.«""*Whin did you get acquainted with him'' A*--Eighty-ona. 
Q.--Whs re*? A,--At iay house . 
0,--TTow d i d he happen to a om« to your house*' A«"-Hif1il 

him to -work f o r m * h i was a t h i s b r o t h e r s , 
0 . , - - Y O U f « « l vary k ind ly toward h i s f i r s t l i f e ' s people? 
A, —Wo th ing ay a in s t th -m „ 
0,,--TTe and h i s f i r s t wijf* aajp^aratad? A„-~7*s s i r in Colo­

rado, 
0.--YOU f e e l j u s t as k ind ly toward feha 'balance of th* 

family? A.--No s i r , g o t nothing in t h i war ! aga ins t 
them, 

$wm ADAWSJ 

Q.--You say t h i s man n w s , you thought he was jok ing* A.--
f%9 s i r h^ was a g r e a t hand to ,}ok#, and i t was a s H 
long u n t i l ha i n s t i t u t e d the s u i t , 

Q,«--€r*ati th"; impression t h a t he was jyklng*? A.~~Ho answer. 
0#„. .w a s j j^ 1 i rinfr;ing manf A»—H© a i r p e r f e c t l y sober . 
0,,--Fan tha t had good sanse* A,--Yes air* 
0 , . - -ua r J ly t h a t a man who had co t ton p i l e d up in fcha yard 

to "but witn»a»iS with if he was a man of any a ansa would 
t e l l you about it4? A : - - I d i d n ' t ask him to %mX% mi , 

Mr, TTarley: 

m.t Q.--That was th* f i r s t time you war* at h i s house'? 
yo s i r , 

0 .--You had be«n there before*? A«—Ya» s i r v i s i t ed . , j u s t 
tb. a r if a r b e t w a an us , 

Wi tn e s a axo u sad, 

Mr, Cornish: 

That is a l l we har* to o f fe r , 

JJJDG¥, ADAMS: 

As f a r as t h a t old 1 a l i a s tes t imony i s concerned, i 
d o n ' t know ho my a s s o c i a t e s f e e l about i t , b u t i t made 
no impress ion upon my mind. I t i s no competent, I t 
d o n ' t conn a c t anybody she says h e r s e l f . I t i s e n ' t rsaslon* 
ah la to suppose tha t a man who h«d a l o t of c o t t o n 
pi led up in the yard f o r the purpose of "bringing 
wi tness would he t a i l i n g o thers t h a t ha had i t f o r 

the purpose of b r i b i n g w i t n e s s e s , I d o n ' t t h ink you 
connect them. I should say that it, ought to "be s t r i c k e n 
from the recojv * j 



Htr« Coraiah; 

T thljik t h a t t h e record w i l l Shaw t h a t ft.a dse>» 
o andante e£ t i l l* man a w p a r t i e s s to t h i s c a s e . 

JTRSSU! B. W/*WI8| m » o » l l M , 

JtWDGflFS inr.A^rte?: 

A *.i»Whlle vols were on t h e s t srtd whiU s M?O you wer<s asked 
about t h i s a f f i d a v i t t h a t was taken before jfr, $?ss t a Rotary 

1C u 
;1 Sh 0 

.:!.<9 

ix ~rr, Arnold wo? p r e s s n t , T,h« 
tedn on the l a t h day1 of Augttfftj 
:• my o the r riff id air i t in t h i s 
U*'»TJt) sir* oase about tlhat l 

0»--'n 'v ! you mike an sfffS tha Kar r iaga of rj.a rga 
if* W&ebban iad f?arah Jane Lewis, d id you make m o t h e r 

a f f i d a v i t rib out the time that you sfjoke of? A,"-T would 
RO1 ha p o s i t i v e 3 >sms l i k e r': aye was some t h i n s tha t 
£jhf*v {^ent*sd fo rou/^h t out 

o,--T!jr' you make tha t aff idavit She sane day or act? A.~~ 
They Wfff*« fchsrs two days «"orkinf- a t 'this m a t t e r , I would 

n o 1 be p o s i t i v e that I made t h i s affidavit*, i t was t a l ked 
of fhey* Th&y WQT* married In mv house in Colorado. 

D « W h 19 "h nm: lt-«»Ba rah Jans, 
•tr "» n *»1 v 

had 
be«ii dlvo fused from TT» TT# 

(J»*»*ghs m a i r isd a g;! iaa A . - *Ts s r* i r* 

.TITOS ^JOT!*: 

T f ind in lookin& or* v 0OT 
- A - * * • " , . 1 - j * . * • * . f 

A'V .« a # ^ s » n f H i l t - - m i 

"fiaite of H'SOTT*® W MclCihben and ! 
1 b a s s w r i t t e n © ar*3 A„-"'Sarah Jen' 

©t-»*Xt looks life* Lewls^ &«**""f?a** 1 
4 f t i 

den nam 
l i k e l y tha t X mad<: the a f f i d a v i t . be©®: 

ma r r is ; 8 t 

, purports to 

h l ine Levis 1 

\VA TjSWiH.il I t 

bh sy was 
now 

Q . „ „ r r tsh-st your s igna tu re? (TTands a f f i d a v i l to witnea*!* 
A»- - I t is ray hand • - r i t i n g . 

Witness excused* 

rr. Cornish: 

This tes t imony p s r t i c u l a j 
the f a c t s as to the msthsds 

en t ion us to o a i i m g : 
ployed by t h s s s people xdx 

*nd t h e i r r s p r s s e a t a t i v s s as thews f a s t s hear upon t i t a i r 
c r e d i b i l i t y as wi tnesses in t h e i r Pisa feshalf( x as the 

0 c;;^ f o r thai Kat SMM« 

Hr. l a r l e y : 

I ^;ovid l i k e to in t roduce one w i tne s s tssisrrsw feat 
is • l i t t l e nick today, 

mrw mjmt 
^!- - " i l l ffstenrsin© t h a t ^han ysu Bftks 'the appl io a t i on . 
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